

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Perceived Diabetes Susceptibility Among African American Female College Students

Khaliah India Wilson Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education and Human Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Khaliah I. Wilson

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Lori Dewald, Committee Chairperson, Health Education and Promotion Faculty Dr. Cheri Langley, Committee Member, Health Education and Promotion Faculty Dr. Theresa Gibble, University Reviewer, Health Education and Promotion Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

Perceived Diabetes Susceptibility Among African American Female College Students

by

Khaliah I. Wilson

MS. Ed, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, 2007

BS, Norfolk State University, 2005

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Health Promotion and Education

Walden University

November 2022

Abstract

Type 2 diabetes is a leading cause of death among African American women ages 20-44 years, and African American female college students are at high risk. Research shows that college students tend to underestimate their susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes, despite their existing risk factors. There is a gap in knowledge concerning African American female college students and their perception of diabetes susceptibility, despite their increased risk. The purpose of this quantitative nonexperimental, correlational study was to identify the factors associated with perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students. The theoretical framework was the health belief model. A convenience sample of 116 African American female college students, 18–24 years of age and without Type 2 diabetes, were recruited to complete a self-report survey. Analysis featuring a simple linear regression and an independent sample t-test showed that participants had a low Type 2 diabetes risk perception and moderate Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior. Perceived peer susceptibility, self-efficacy, and actual Type 2 diabetes risk were the factors significantly related to perceived personal susceptibility. Self-efficacy was the only factor that had a significant relationship with health behavior. This study can potentially effect positive social change by informing the development of health education programming that promotes awareness of Type 2 diabetes risk factors and susceptibility. Greater awareness of risk factors and susceptibility may encourage healthier behaviors among African American female college students.

Perceived Diabetes Susceptibility Among African American Female College Students

by

Khaliah I. Wilson

MS. Ed, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, 2007

BS, Norfolk State University, 2005

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Health Promotion and Education

Walden University

November 2022

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my loving husband, Josh, and my children, Joshua and Sheba, who have supported me during this journey in more ways than I could mention. I thank them for their patience and continued love and encouragement. They have inspired me every day in this process, and it was because of their love that I was able to push myself to complete this study. They gave me the space to write, but at the same time never left my side. Knowing that they were in my corner every step of the way was the fuel that I needed to keep going.

I conducted this study thinking of my daughter, Sheba, and my niece, Aliyah. As they continue through adolescence and into emerging adulthood, I want them to know and understand the health risks that face them as African American females, future college students, and future adults. We have type 2 diabetes and other chronic conditions in our family history, but it does not have to be our outcome. I hope that this study influences them and other young African American women to make healthy choices so that they may live a life of quality and quantity and influence their families and communities to do the same.

Acknowledgments

I thank God for ordering my path to and through this dissertation process. I thank God for providing the insight, inspiration, ideas, and confidence to complete this large task. I could not have done this without your spiritual guidance.

Thank you, Dr. Lori Dewald, for your guidance throughout this process. I am thankful that you were my chair and that we have established a professional relationship. I look forward to working with you beyond the dissertation. Thank you, Dr. Cheri Langley, for serving on my committee. Your words of encouragement, "you got this!," meant so much to me. I also thank Dr. Theresa Gibble, my university research reviewer, for your prompt assistance and professionalism. To my colleagues at Norfolk State University, I cannot express the level of appreciation that I have for you all. To have such a distinguished group of people in my corner supporting me means so much.

Mommy, I am so thankful for all the sacrifices you made so that I could get a good education. Thank you for offering comfort during times of need and words of wisdom when I had no clue. Your love and support mean more to me than I could ever express. Thank you! To my sister, Asia, and my brother, Kas, I am so blessed with such wisdom from the both of you. You two have always took care of your baby sister. That love and care continues to give me the strength to continue my journey. I would not be here without your prayers and sometimes telling me what to do. You both are loved and appreciated. Georgette, you are loved and appreciated for your continuous support.

Now, to my girlfriends who always have my back and keep me laughing. Thank you all for your love and support and for speaking Dr. Wilson into existence.

List of Tablesv
List of Figures
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Background3
Problem Statement5
Purpose of the Study7
Research Questions and Hypotheses7
Theoretical Framework10
Nature of the Study
Definitions14
Assumptions17
Scope and Delimitations17
Limitations18
Significance19
Summary
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Introduction22
Literature Search Strategy24
Theoretical Foundation
Literature Review Related to Key Variables and/or Concepts
Diabetes

Table of Contents

Diabetes Susceptibility in Different Populations	41
Perception of Type 2 Diabetes Susceptibility	50
Summary and Conclusions	59
Chapter 3: Research Method	62
Introduction	62
Research Design and Rationale	62
Methodology	63
Population	
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	64
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	65
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	66
Data Analysis Plan	78
Threats to Validity	86
Ethical Procedures	
Summary	89
Chapter 4: Results	91
Introduction	91
Pilot Study	95
Pilot Study Results	
Data Collection	97
Descriptive Characteristics of Sample	
Results 102	

Descriptive Statistics	102
Assumptions	112
Statistical Analysis and Findings	128
Summary	135
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	138
Introduction	138
Interpretation of the Findings	140
Peer Susceptibility and Personal Susceptibility	140
Self- Efficacy and Personal Susceptibility	141
Actual Type 2 Diabetes Risk and Personal Susceptibility	142
Family History and Personal Susceptibility	144
Peer Susceptibility and Health Behavior	145
Self-Efficacy and Health Behavior	145
Actual Type 2 Diabetes Risk and Health Behavior	146
Family History and Health Behavior	147
Health Belief Model	148
Limitations of the Study	153
Recommendations	155
Implications	157
Conclusion	158
References	160
Appendix A: Final Study Invitation to Participate	190

Appendix B: American Diabetes Association Diabetes Risk Test	191
Appendix C: Survey Instrument	192
Appendix D: Pilot Invitation to Participate	197
Appendix E: Pilot Survey	198

List of Tables

Table 1. Pilot Survey Reliability	. 96
Table 2. Pilot Survey Reliability of Subscales	. 97
Table 3. Sample Population Race and Ethnicity	100
Table 4. Sample Population Residence	101
Table 5. Sample Population Diabetes History	101
Table 6. Descriptive Statistics for Independent and Dependent Variables	103
Table 7. Descriptive Statistics for Family History	103
Table 8. Self-Efficacy for Controlling Type 2 Diabetes Risk	105
Table 9. Perception of Peer Susceptibility to Type 2 Diabetes	106
Table 10. Perception of Personal Susceptibility to Type 2 Diabetes	108
Table 11. RQ1 Levene's Test for Equality of Variances	113
Table 12. RQ.2 Levene's Test for Equality of Variances	115
Table 13. RQ.3 Levene's Test for Equality of Variances	117
Table 14. RQ.4 Shapiro-Wilk Test for Normality	119
Table 15. RQ.4 Levene's Test for Equality of Variances	120
Table 16. RQ.5 Levene's Test for Equality of Variances	121
Table 17. RQ.6 Levene's Test for Equality of Variances	123
Table 18. RQ.7 Levene's Test for Equality of Variances	125
Table 19. RQ.8 Shapiro-Wilk Test for Normality	127
Table 20. RQ.8 Levene's Test for Equality of Variances	127

List of Figures

Figure 1. The Health Belief Model
Figure 2. Daily Survey Completion
Figure 3. Sample Population Age
Figure 4. Sample Population Academic Classification
Figure 5. Family History of Type 2 Diabetes 111
Figure 6. Actual Type 2 Diabetes Risk
Figure 7. Scatterplot of Personal Susceptibility by Peer Susceptibility
Figure 8. RQ.1 Normal Probability Plot of Regression Standardized Residual 114
Figure 9. Scatterplot of Personal Susceptibility by Self-Efficacy 115
Figure 10. RQ.2 Normal Probability Plot of Regression Standardized Residual 116
Figure 11. Scatterplot of Personal Susceptibility by Actual Type 2 Diabetes Risk 117
Figure 12. RQ.3 Normal Probability Plot of Regression Standardized Residuals 118
Figure 13. RQ.4 Boxplot Check for Outliers
Figure 14. Scatterplot of Perceived Peer Susceptibility by Health Behavior 121
Figure 15. RQ.5 Normal Probability Plot of Regression Standardized Residuals 122
Figure 16. Scatterplot of Self-Efficacy by Health Behavior
Figure 17. RQ.6 Normal Probability Plot of Regression Standardized Residuals 124
Figure 18. Scatterplot of Actual Type 2 Diabetes Risk by Health Behavior 125
Figure 19. RQ.7 Normal Probability Plot of Regression Standardized Residuals 126
Figure 20. RQ. 8 Boxplot Check for Outliers

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Diabetes is one of the top leading causes of death and disability in the United States (Ahmad & Anderson, 2021). It is the fourth leading cause of death among African American women overall; among African American women ages 20-44, it is the fifth leading cause of death (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2019a). Type 2 diabetes is the most prevalent form of diabetes and typically affects middle to older adults (American Heart Association [AHA], 2015a). However, there has been a rise of Type 2 diabetes in youth, specifically those 10-19 years old (CDC, 2019b). These trends have also been shown in racial and ethnic populations, with African American youth having the second highest prevalence (CDC, 2019b).

Specific data concerning rates of Type 2 diabetes among U.S. college students is lacking, although there is evidence of the prevalence of this type of diabetes in youth 18-19 years of age, which is within the traditional undergraduate college student age range of 18 to 24 years (National Center for Education Statistics, 2018). African American female college students, although they are not considered youth, are still impacted by these trends and as they emerge into adulthood. They are also impacted by the prevalence of Type 2 diabetes in Black/African American women, as Black women disproportionately experience higher Type 2 diabetes rates and associated risk factors than other women (Bancks et al., 2017; Bower et al., 2019). Black women have greater odds of developing Type 2 diabetes from young adulthood to middle adulthood than White women (Bancks et al., 2017). As of 2018, the rates for Type 2 diabetes among African American women were 1.7 times higher than White women (HHS, Office of Minority Health, 2019). African American women also experience a higher incidence of prediabetes and Type 2 diabetes after having gestational (during pregnancy) diabetes, although they are equally as likely to develop gestational diabetes as others (Bower et al., 2019).

This aim of this study was to identify the factors that are associated with perceived personal susceptibility and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students. It is important to understand the factors associated with this population's perceived Type 2 diabetes risk and the factors that prompt action against the threat of diabetes. College and university health education programming plays a crucial role in providing relevant, gender- and race-specific Type 2 diabetes education for students (Mongiello et al., 2016; Reyes-Velazquez & Sealey-Potts, 2015). The results of this study can inform the development and targeting of programs aimed at enhancing personal susceptibility and health behavior related to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students. Historically Black colleges and universities (HBCUs) have been appropriate settings to encourage better lifestyle choices for students at risk of poor health behaviors (Jones et al., 2019). They are equipped to create a shift in culture that can influence personal health behavior as these young adults emerge into full adulthood, thus creating positive social change.

In this chapter, I will explore the background of the study by discussing the impacts of Type 2 diabetes on African American female college students and the importance of perceived personal susceptibility in health behavior. The problem and purpose of the study will be addressed, and the four predictor variables and two outcome

variables used in the study will be identified. Also, I will present the eight research questions (RQs) and hypotheses, which center on the relationship between the predictor and outcome variables. Next, I will discuss the theoretical framework and the nature of the study. The chapter also includes definitions of key terms and discussion of the significance of the study.

Background

As African American female college students are at risk for diabetes, it is important to understand how they perceive their risk. Despite the growing rates of diabetes in youth, college students of any ethnicity tend to underestimate their risk of Type 2 diabetes (Mongiello et al., 2016a; Sealey-Potts & Reyes-Velazquez, 2014), even when risk factors such as obesity are present (Gross et al., 2015). Some students of all ethnic groups were found to have no knowledge that they are at increased risk based on their race / ethnicity (Mongiello et al., 2016b). In terms of underestimating risks, college students are more likely to perceive their peers as being at risk for developing Type 2 diabetes than they are to perceive their own personal risk (Reyes-Velazquez & Sealey-Potts, 2015). Females are more likely than males to perceive higher personal risk and lower risks among their peers (Reyes-Velazquez, Sealey-Potts, 2015). Understanding how this population perceives peer Type 2 diabetes risk is important as females are more likely to have a greater perceived personal risk when they have a friend with diabetes (Montgomery et al., 2003).

The health belief model (HBM) suggests that for a person to take action against the threat of a disease they must feel they are susceptible and that they have the ability to act (Skinner et al., 2015). When a vulnerable population such as college students underestimate their risk for Type 2 diabetes, they are more likely to engage in behaviors that will increase their risk, putting them at an even greater odds for developing the disease. The risk factors for Type 2 diabetes include lifestyle choices such as poor diet and inactivity. There are also biological risk factors such as obesity, low HDL cholesterol, high blood pressure, abnormal blood glucose, and prediabetes (AHA, 2015a; National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive Kidney Diseases [NIDDK], 2016). Both lifestyle and biological risk factors are preventable, whereas age and family history are Type 2 diabetes risk factors that cannot be changed (AHA, 2015a).

African American female college students are at greater risk for Type 2 diabetes due to modifiable risk factors associated with the disease. There is a gap in the literature concerning African American female undergraduate college students and their perception of diabetes susceptibility, despite their increased risk for Type 2 diabetes. This study is needed as several studies of college students show that Black/African American young adult women of college age have more risk factors associated with Type 2 diabetes than other racial and ethnic groups (Andes et al., 2020; Lee et al., 2021; Sa et al., 2016). According to Andes et al. (2020), one in four young adults have prediabetes, and those with a higher BMI have a higher prevalence of prediabetes. In this same study, Black young adults were found to have a higher hemoglobin A1C (blood glucose) than other groups. In a 2016 study of college students at an HBCU, researchers found that African American female college students had higher rates of obesity (measured by BMI), physical inactivity, and family history of obesity than African American male college students (Sa et al., 2016), putting them at greater risk for Type 2 diabetes. Although Lee et al. (2021), found that Black female college students have a more accurate perception of weight status than their male counterparts, they also have greater odds of weight gain. This shows that risk perception does not translate into action for this population, as Black females showed lower participation in physical activity (Lee et al., 2021). Other research studies that have shown positive associations between Type 2 diabetes and anthropometric measurements (BMI, waist-to-hip ratio, and hip circumference) have also found that Black women had higher values of BMI and fasting blood glucose, leading to higher incidences of Type 2 diabetes than other groups of women (Hardy et al., 2019; Luo et al., 2019). This evidence provides support for further investigation of African American female college students' perceptions of their risk susceptibility for Type 2 diabetes.

Problem Statement

Young adult African American females of college age are at risk for Type 2 diabetes given that the rates of this disease are increasing among the African American youth population (CDC, 2019b). Although there are several studies of diabetes in college students, there is a gap in the literature, as some of the studies are not inclusive of different ethnic and cultural groups (Kowall et al., 2017) or do not consider sex- or gender-related differences in diabetes risk perception (Reyez-Velazquez & Sealey-Potts, 2015). In reviewing the literature, I found no recent studies that center on the risk of Type 2 diabetes solely among African American female college students. I addressed the gap in this study by targeting African American female undergraduate college students attending an HBCU. I examined their perceived personal Type 2 diabetes susceptibility, personal health behaviors, and the factors associated with their perception and behaviors.

African American females were the target as they are an ethnic minority group that is disproportionately affected by Type 2 diabetes. The disease is the fourth leading cause of death for all Black women in the United States and the fifth leading cause of death for Black women ages 20-44 (CDC, 2019a; Williams, 2002). Black women are also one of the groups of women who have higher rates of death due to diabetes than White women (Williams, 2002). Additionally, college students are particularly at risk of Type 2 diabetes due to unhealthy lifestyle habits such as inactivity, improper nutrition, and inconsistent sleeping patterns (Mongiello et al., 2016b). They also have been shown to have limited knowledge about the risk factors for diabetes (Mongiello et al., 2016b). Specifically, African American college students have been found less likely than other groups to participate in diabetes preventive behaviors such as fruit and vegetable consumption (Amuta & Barry, 2015). Although having a family history of Type 2 diabetes is associated with the utilization of nutritional information when buying foods, African American college students were found less likely to utilize this information than other groups (Amuta & Barry, 2015). Education is necessary to promote the prevention of diabetes on college campuses (Amuta & Barry, 2015; Mongiello et al., 2016b), especially among African Americans. As this research indicates, further examination of African American female college students' knowledge and behavior related to Type 2 diabetes is merited.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the perception of personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students in relation to their perceived peer susceptibility, family history, actual Type 2 diabetes risk, and self-efficacy. The predictor variables are perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes, family history of diabetes, actual Type 2 diabetes risk, and self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk. The outcome variables were perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and type 2 diabetes-related health behavior.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ1: Is there a relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students?

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

 $H_{\rm A}$ 1: There is a statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

RQ2: Is there a relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students?

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

 H_A 2: There is a statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

RQ3: Is there a relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students?

 H_03 : There is no statistically significant relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

 H_A 3: There is a statistically significant relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

RQ4: Is there a statistically significant difference in perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes?

 H_0 4: There is no statistically significant difference in perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes.

 H_A 4: There is a statistically significant difference in perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes.

RQ5: Is there a relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students?

 H_05 : There is no statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

 $H_{A}5$: There is a statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

RQ6: Is there a relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students?

 H_06 : There is no statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

 H_A6 : There is a statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

RQ7: Is there a relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students?

 H_07 : There is no statistically significant relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

 H_A 7: There is a statistically significant relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

RQ8: Is there a difference in Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes?

 H_0 8: There is no statistically significant difference in Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes.

 H_A8 : There is a statistically significant difference in Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes.

Theoretical Framework

The HBM was the theoretical framework for this study. The authors, Godfrey Hochbaum, S. Stephen Kegels, Howard Leventhal, and Irwin M. Rosenstock, were a group of social psychologists in the U.S. Public Health Service in the 1950s (Rosenstock, 1974; Skinner et al., 2015). They were conducting research to solve a public health problem associated with the lack of engagement in health screening and prevention programs. The purpose of the HBM is to identify factors that predict participation in preventive behavior (Becker et al., 1974). In the initial study, Hochbaum (1958) attempted to understand the factors associated with participation in X-ray screenings for tuberculosis. Out of that study emerged the premise of the HBM, which suggests that an individual is more likely to act against a health threat if they perceive they are at risk (Hochbaum, 1958; Rosenstock, 1974; Skinner et al., 2015). The major constructs of the model include perceived susceptibility, perceived severity of the threat, perceived benefits of taking action, perceived barriers in the way of taking action, cues to action, and self-efficacy (Rosenstock, 1974; Skinner et al., 2015). The model also suggests that these perceptions are modified by demographic, structural, and sociopsychological factors (Becker et al., 1974). Self-efficacy was not originally apart of the HBM; however Rosenstock et al. (1988) found that the model could be enhanced with the construct selfefficacy, which was from social learning theory. The idea was that for an individual to act against a threat, they must believe they are capable of taking action (Rosenstock et al., 1988). An illustration of the HBM, as applied to this study, is shown in Figure 1. I adapted the model from Becker et al. (1974) and incorporated Rosenstock et al.'s (1988) concept of self-efficacy.

Figure 1

The Health Belief Model



Note. Adapted from "A New Approach to Explaining Sick-Role Behavior in Low Income Populations," by M. H. Becker, R. H. Drachman, and J. P. Kirscht, 1974, *American Journal of Public Health*, 64(3), p. 206

(https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1775416/pdf/amjph00803-0007.pdf). In the public domain.

The HBM was an appropriate theory, I concluded, for studying the perceived threat and susceptibility of Type 2 diabetes based on perceived peer susceptibility, family history, actual risk, and self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk. The HBM constructs that I explored in this study were perceived susceptibility, cues to action (measured by family history, perception of peer susceptibility, and actual risk), and selfefficacy. A more detailed explanation of each of the theoretical constructs appears in Chapter 2.

Nature of the Study

I used a quantitative, nonexperimental, correlational research design. By using this research design, a researcher is able to identify a relationship between predictor (independent) and outcome (dependent) variables (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). In this study, I sought to identify the association between the predictor variables (perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes, family history of diabetes, actual Type 2 diabetes risk, and self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk) and outcomes variables (perceived personal susceptibility of Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior).

The data I collected were from a nonprobability homogenous convenience sample of African American female undergraduate college students attending an HBCU. Participants completed a self-report paper survey. I performed quantitative data analysis using three different types of analyses. In the first analysis, I described the sample population by age, academic classification, race / ethnicity, and residence. The descriptive statistics included the mean, standard deviation, standard error, frequency, and minimum and maximum of the independent and dependent variables. In the second analysis, I used a simple linear regression to test for a relationship between self-efficacy and perception of personal susceptibility, perception of peer susceptibility and perception of personal susceptibility, and actual diabetes risk and perception of personal susceptibility. In the third analysis, I performed an independent sample t-test to assess whether there was a difference in the perception of personal susceptibility of Type 2 diabetes between those with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes. Also, I used a simple linear regression to test for a relationship between self-efficacy and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior, perception of peer susceptibility and Type 2 diabetesrelated health behavior, and actual Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health risk behavior. I performed another independent sample t-test to determine whether a difference existed in Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior between those with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes.

Definitions

Definitions for the study variables and other terms used in the study are as follows:

Actual Type 2 diabetes risk: Participants' actual Type 2 diabetes risk based on existing risk factors as outlined in the ADA Diabetes Risk Test (ADA, 2019).

African American/Black: Persons with origins in African ancestry (American Psychological Association, 2020).

Emerging adults/young adults: A stage of development between adolescence and adulthood, typically ages 18-25, where there is a greater degree of independence without the responsibilities of typical adulthood (Arnett, 2000). It is a time of exploration and possibilities for future life (Arnett, 2000).

Family history of diabetes: The presence of diabetes in family members who share the same genetic and environmental factors; clinicians use family history to identify disease susceptibility in individuals (Yoon et al., 2002).

Health disparity: Differences in health among those with socioeconomic and environmental disadvantages due to differences in race/ethnicity, religious affiliation, sex/gender, age, physical and mental disabilities, sexual orientation, and geographic location (Healthy People 2020, 2014).

Historically Black college/university (HBCU): An institution of higher education established prior to 1964 in an effort to provide access to higher education for African Americans during segregation, greatly contributing to their improvement in socioeconomic status (National Center for Education Statistics, n.d.). Although originally designed for African Americans, they currently educate students of all races (National Center for Education Statistics, n.d.).

Metabolic syndrome: The presence of a group of health conditions (abdominal obesity, high blood pressure, hyperglycemia, low HDL cholesterol, and high triglycerides) that increase the likelihood of developing Type 2 diabetes or cardiovascular disease (Zimmet et al., 2005).

Outcome variable: A variable that is influenced by a predictor variable (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). The outcome variables tested in this study were perception of personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior.

Perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes: Participants' opinion or belief of how likely their peers are to develop Type 2 diabetes compared to themselves (Skinner et al., 2015).

Perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes: Participants' opinion or belief about their risk for Type 2 diabetes (Skinner et al., 2015).

Predictor variable: A variable that is used in survey methods to predict specific outcomes that may occur when this variable is present (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). The predictor variables tested in this study were perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes, family history of diabetes, actual type 2 diabetes risk, and self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes risk.

Self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk: Feelings of self-control over health habits that will decrease the risk of Type 2 diabetes (see Bandura, 2004).

Type 2 diabetes: A disease that occurs when the body does not make enough insulin or use it well enough to control the levels of sugar (glucose) in the blood, resulting in hyperglycemia, or high blood sugar (NIDDK, 2017).

Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior: Participants' engagement in risky health behaviors such as the lack of proper nutrition, physical activity, and health care that increase the risk of type 2 diabetes (ADA, 2017; Siegel et al., 2018). A more detailed analysis of how the study variables were coded and measured is described in the Methodology section of Chapter 3.

Assumptions

The assumptions in this study were undergirded by the postpositivist approach that I followed. According to Creswell and Creswell (2017), a postpositivist approach is one that assumes that "causes (probably) determine effects or outcomes" (p. 6). These assumptions typically depend on an existing theory. In this study, I assumed that the predictor variables (perceived peer susceptibility, actual Type 2 diabetes risk, family history, and self-efficacy) were associated with the outcome variables (perception of personal susceptibility, Type 2 diabetes-related health risk behavior), per the HBM (Rosenstock, 1974; Skinner et al., 2015). As a result, the assumption was that participants' perceived susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes would determine their actions against the threat of Type 2 diabetes (see Skinner et al., 2015). Related assumptions were that participants were knowledgeable of Type 2 diabetes and of all predictor and outcome variables. Other assumptions were that participants would be comfortable enough to answer survey questions correctly and honestly. To bolster participants' knowledge, I provided operational definitions of Type 2 diabetes and other key words in the preface to the survey. To address comfortability, I did not collect any personal identifiers so that the responses could not be traced back to any participant. The informed consent document specified confidentiality and anonymity of completed surveys.

Scope and Delimitations

Limitations that are purposely placed within the research design are called delimitations. According to Rudestam and Newton (2014), delimitations are controlled by the researcher and typically "restrict the populations to which the results of the study can be generalized" (p. 122). The delimitations in this study are reflected in the homogenous population of African American female undergraduate college students ages 18-24. The sample was a convenience sample from a HBCU. I chose this population because it is underrepresented in the Type 2 diabetes literature concerning perception of susceptibility and behavior. African American women are a population at high risk of many chronic conditions (Asiedu et al., 2017), and college students, particularly African American college students, often have unhealthy nutrition and physical activity behaviors (Amuta & Barry, 2015; Mongiello et al., 2016b).

Limitations

Study limitations are those existing challenges and barriers within a study that are not under the control of the researcher (Rudestam & Newton, 2014). There are several limitations, challenges and barriers that exist with this study. One limitation is the use of a convenience sample from one HBCU. The use of a convenience sample means that the results cannot be generalized to all African American female undergraduate college students (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Another limitation is the use of self-report data. In addition, the survey instrument did not include questions regarding Type 2 diabetes knowledge. Participants could have over- or underexaggerated their perception of risk due to their limited knowledge of Type 2 diabetes and associated risk factors. Additionally, I did not consider socioeconomic status, which could potentially have an impact on family history, diabetes-related risk behavior, and perceived risk, especially in females (van Zon et al., 2017). Obtaining permission from the university to conduct the study was a potential barrier. Furthermore, the COVID-19 social distancing guidelines in place at the time of data collection may have impeded access to the study population. Some students were not on campus at the time of data collection, but at home. They could have had limited access to electronic devices, internet, campus email, and on-campus advertisements, creating a challenge for recruiting enough participants for the study. The small sample size might have been the result of this limitation, which could have decreased the statistical power and potential significance of the study (Creswell & Creswell, 2017; Serdar et al., 2021).

Significance

Findings from this study add to the existing scholarly research literature on college students' perceived Type 2 diabetes risk and personal Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior. This study focused on a population of African American female college students to provide insight into their perceived peer Type 2 diabetes susceptibility and how that perception, along with family history and self-efficacy of controlling diabetes risk, is associated with their perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health risk behaviors. Diabetes prevention is possible among the target population through early detection and awareness of risk factors (Antwi et al, 2020). In addition, knowledge of Type 2 diabetes, and susceptibility among peers, could help students to increase their perceived personal susceptibility and possibly change their risky health behavior (Paige et al., 2018). The insights from this study may inform the development of health education programming that emphasizes individual and peer diabetes susceptibility, as well as modifiable and nonmodifiable risk factors of Type 2 diabetes that are relevant to the African American female college student. Participation in

this type of programming among the target population may promote early Type 2 diabetes screening and detection (Paige et al., 2018) and a cultural behavior change that can improve the health outcomes of individuals, therefore mobilizing social change.

Summary

In this chapter, I presented an overview of the prevalence of Type 2 diabetes in the United States and the rise of Type 2 diabetes in youth, particularly African American youth. I also presented literature regarding the risk of Type 2 diabetes among the targeted population of African American female undergraduate college students. This population is underrepresented in the literature concerning diabetes perception and susceptibility among college students, despite their increased risk for Type 2 diabetes (CDC, 2019b; Sa et al., 2016). The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the perception of personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students in relation to their perceived peer susceptibility, family history, actual type 2 diabetes risk, and self-efficacy. The HBM was the theoretical framework; I explored the constructs perceived susceptibility, cues to action, and self-efficacy as study variables.

The results of this study may contribute to positive social change by informing the development and tailoring of intervention programs like the CDC's National Diabetes Prevention Program, to address the factors associated with Type 2 diabetes risk perception and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among the population of interest (Gruss et al., 2019). The study may promote awareness of Type 2 diabetes risk factors and increase perceived Type 2 diabetes susceptibility leading to early Type 2 diabetes

screening and detection (Paige et al., 2018). Another implication of this study is that it may motivate college campuses to create culturally specific opportunities for students to increase Type 2 diabetes-related knowledge, engage in healthier behavior, and improve self-efficacy (San Diego & Merz, 2020). African American female college students may also create a cultural change in health care standards. They can use the knowledge learned to bring their type 2 diabetes risk to the attention of their health care providers, mobilizing them to enhance screening during routine visits (Gruss et al., 2019; Saylor et al., 2018). This change in knowledge and behavior may improve the health outcomes of individuals. In Chapter 2, I will review the current literature relevant to Type 2 diabetes, risk factors for Type 2 diabetes, and the associated behaviors of susceptible populations. I will also provide an explanation of the HBM and its constructs as they relate to this study.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

Young adult African American females of college age are at risk for Type 2 diabetes. One factor is that African American women are disproportionately impacted by Type 2 diabetes. It is the fourth leading cause of death for African American women overall and the fifth leading cause of death in the population who are aged 20-44 (CDC, 2019a). Bancks et al. (2017) found that Black women have greater odds of developing Type 2 diabetes from young adulthood to middle adulthood than White women. Another factor is age. There are increasing rates of Type 2 diabetes among the African American youth population, and, among all U.S. youth, African Americans have the highest incidence of the disease (CDC, 2019b).

College students tend to underestimate their risk of Type 2 diabetes (Mongiello et al., 2016a; Sealey-Potts & Reyes-Velazquez, 2014), even as serious risk factors are present (Gross et al., 2015). College students are at risk due to unhealthy lifestyle habits, including having improper or inconsistent sleeping patterns (Mongiello, 2016b) and not reading nutritional information (Amuta & Barry, 2015). Although female college students are more likely to perceive a higher personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes than their peers, they typically do not engage in healthier behavior (Reyes-Velazquez & Sealey-Potts, 2015). As for African American female college students in particular, studies have shown that they have higher rates of Type 2 diabetes risk factors, such as high blood sugar, obesity, physical inactivity, and family history of obesity, than African American males (Andes et al., 2020; Sa et al., 2016). These risk factors support further investigation of issues related to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the perception of personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students in relation to their perceived peer susceptibility, family history, actual Type 2 diabetes risk, and self-efficacy. There is little known about perceived diabetes susceptibility among African American female college students (Corliss et al., 2016). There is a need for further research to establish a greater understanding of their knowledge of risk and perceived personal and peer susceptibility and their associated health behaviors. This knowledge is important because African American females and college students are susceptible to type 2 diabetes.

In this literature review, I analyze studies relating to Type 2 diabetes prevalence in the United States among African Americans and among young adults and college students. I also present literature about the risk factors associated with Type 2 diabetes, including family history, diet, physical activity, obesity, metabolic syndrome (MetS), and prediabetes. Additionally, I analyze knowledge and perceptions of Type 2 diabetes risks and self-efficacy as they pertain to personal and peer susceptibility among college students and associated health behaviors. Furthermore, I include an overview of the HBM, focusing on studies in which the model underpinned the researchers' exploration of diabetes perception.
Literature Search Strategy

In searching the literature, I sought articles on the relationship between perception of peer Type 2 diabetes risk, personal risk perception of Type 2 diabetes, and personal diabetes risk behavior. The keywords I used in the initial library search were *diabetes*, college or university or undergraduate students, women or female or woman, risk perception, risk behavior, susceptibility or vulnerability, peer susceptibility or risk, African Americans, Blacks, and health belief. I searched other keywords combinations such as *family history of diabetes*, *obesity* and *Type 2 diabetes*, *prediabetes*, *metabolic* syndrome and Type 2 diabetes, self-efficacy of controlling diabetes risk, peer influence, and peer support to identify research articles for the other study variables. I accessed databases such as CINAHL Plus, MEDLINE with Full Text, Embase, ProQuest Health and Medical Collection, PsycInfo, ProQuest Nursing and Allied Health Source, and EBSCOhost through the Walden University Library. In the search parameters, I included the years 2015–2022. I found earlier articles by scanning references from the literature. Full-text, peer-reviewed articles, and textbooks were the resources that I used in the literature review.

Theoretical Foundation

Health behavior theories consist of interrelated constructs that are used to explain or predict behaviors and identify ways to change behavior (Glanz et al., 2015). The HBM is the health behavior model that I used as the theoretical framework for this study. A group of social psychologists (Godfrey Hochbaum, S. Stephen Kegels, Howard Leventhal, and Irwin M. Rosenstock) in the U.S. Public Health Service developed this model in the 1950s (Rosenstock, 1974; Skinner et al., 2015). As part of their research on the lack of engagement in health screening and prevention programs, they created the HBM to identify factors that predict participation in preventive behavior (Becker et al., 1974). In the initial study, Hochbaum (1958), attempted to understand the factors associated with participation in X-ray screenings for tuberculosis. Out of that study emerged the premise of the HBM, which suggests that an individual is more likely to act against a health threat if they perceive they are at risk (Hochbaum, 1958; Rosenstock, 1974; Skinner et al., 2015). It suggests that perceived susceptibility and perceived threat of a health problem are precursors for action against the threat of that health problem (Skinner et al., 2015). The HBM is made up of six constructs, which include perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, perceived benefits, perceived barriers, cues to action, and self-efficacy (Skinner et al., 2015).

The HBM was appropriate for this study because it has been utilized as a framework for several other studies that assessed individual perception of Type 2 diabetes to predict or identify behaviors related to the disease (e.g., Ard et al., 2020; Ledford et al., 2019; Merzah, 2016; Mongiello et al., 2016b; Paige et al., 2018). Mongiello et al. (2016a) studied a sample of college students with multiple Type 2 diabetes risk factors to assess their personal perception about their risk for the disease. Ledford et al. (2019) applied the HBM to compare patients' personal perception of Type 2 diabetes among patients from different geographic locations and of different race / ethnicities. Merzah (2016) determined college students' status in regard to each of the HBM constructs, their Type 2 diabetes knowledge, and related health factors. Paige et al.

(2018) explored the perceived threat of Type 2 diabetes among adult rural residents who did not have the disease and how that construct of the HBM is determined by Type 2 diabetes knowledge and participation in healthy behaviors. In another study, the HBM was used to (a) assess the influence of knowledge and understanding of family history of Type 2 diabetes on positive health behavior changes and (b) to identify barriers to lifestyle changes (Ard et al., 2020).

The HBM constructs related to the current study were perceived susceptibility, cues to action, and self-efficacy (Skinner et al., 2015). In this study, I addressed the perception of personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students in relation to their perceived peer susceptibility, family history, actual Type 2 diabetes risk, and self-efficacy. I assessed these constructs through questions on a survey that I developed for this study. I tested the study hypotheses to clarify the influence of perceived susceptibility, cues to action, and self-efficacy of Type 2 diabetes on health behavior.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables and/or Concepts

Diabetes

Diabetes is one of the top leading causes of death in the United States (CDC, 2020a). In 2018, 34 million Americans (10% of the U.S. population) had diabetes. Of those cases, 92% were from Type 2 diabetes (CDC, 2020b), making it the most common form of diabetes (NIDDK, 2017). Type 2 diabetes typically impacts middle to older adults over the age of 45 (CDC, 2020b), and it has been historically known as adult-onset diabetes. However, recent trends have shown that Type 2 diabetes is not only a problem

in the adult population, but it has become an issue for youth and young adults, as the incidence of early-onset Type 2 diabetes in these populations have been on the rise (Mayer-Davis et al., 2017). Data from the Search for Diabetes in Youth study shows a 4.8% annual increase in the incidence of Type 2 diabetes among youth ages 10-19 years from 2002–2015. These trends were observed across all ages and ethnic groups, but the rate of increase was higher in African Americans and other ethnic minority youth than it was in White youth (Divers et al., 2020). This finding indicates that there are also racial / ethnic health disparities in the incidence of Type 2 diabetes among the youth and young adult population. Such disparities highlight the importance of targeting minority groups such as African Americans in Type 2 diabetes-related research.

Overview of Diabetes and Associated Complications

Insulin and glucose (sugar) play major roles in the onset of diabetes. Glucose is the body's main source of energy and insulin is a hormone made by the pancreas which serves as the gateway for glucose to enter the body's cells to be used for energy (NIDDK, 2017). With type 2 diabetes the body either does not make enough insulin or does not use insulin well enough to get glucose into the cells. Therefore, glucose stays in the blood at a high level (NIDDK, 2017), causing hyperglycemia. This can cause chronic conditions such as heart disease and other life-threatening complications as it impacts major body organs and interferes with normal body processes (AHA, 2015b), making this disease of great concern. Complications from type 2 diabetes can cause conditions of the eyes, kidneys, lower extremities, and the heart. Retinopathy, chronic kidney disease, and neuropathy are serious disorders that affect these organs and can lead to more serious debilitating conditions like permanent nerve damage, limb amputations and blindness. These conditions can make activities of daily living difficult and can even cause death (International Diabetes Federation, 2020).

Heart disease is one comorbidity that can develop because of hyperglycemia and other heart-related conditions such as high cholesterol, which are also risk factors for type 2 diabetes (International Diabetes Federation, 2020). Heart disease is also the top leading cause of death in the United States (CDC, 2020a). To show this relationship, Effoe et al. (2017) studied the association between ideal cardiovascular health measures of blood glucose, physical activity, diet, smoking, and BMI with the incidence of type 2 diabetes in a cohort of Black participants from the Jackson Heart Study. Researchers found a 37% reduction in type 2 diabetes risk among those who participated in at least 3 of the healthy cardiovascular behaviors, and a 17% reduction in risk for each additional healthy behavior (Effoe et al., 2017). This shows that the risks for type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease are related, and the reduction in risk for cardiovascular disease can also decrease the risk for type 2 diabetes, or vice versa.

Other diabetes-related complications are of a great concern, especially among African Americans as they not only experience type 2 diabetes at higher rates (CDC, 2020b), they are also more likely to experience diabetes-related complications than other groups. African Americans suffered diabetes-related complications such as end stage renal (kidney) disease, visual impairments (Haw et al., 2021; United States Diabetes Surveillance System, n.d.), lower extremity amputations, and death at higher rates than Whites and other racial / ethnic groups (Haw et al., 2021). A study by Clements et al. (2019), has shown evidence of this trend of higher diabetes-related comorbidities and death among African Americans when compared to Whites. They looked at the influence of race and other demographics on mortality and the combination of diabetes and chronic co-morbidities that are also leading causes of death. Using a cohort of diabetes patients with Medicare, results revealed that Blacks were at an increased risk of death and had greater odds of having multiple chronic conditions than their White counterparts (Clements et al., 2019). The racial / ethnic disparities associated with type 2 diabetes complications provide evidence that the African American population should be targeted in this diabetes-related study.

Diabetes Risk Factors

There are modifiable and non-modifiable risk factors that increase the likelihood of developing type 2 diabetes. Modifiable risk factors are those that are based on individual lifestyle choices and can be changed or controlled. Lifestyle choices such as poor diet and inactivity are modifiable risk factors that lead to serious biological risk factors for type 2 diabetes such as obesity, MetS (low HDL cholesterol, hypertension, abnormal blood glucose), and pre-diabetes (AHA, 2015a; NIDDK, 2016). Nonmodifiable risk factors are those that cannot be controlled or changed. They include family history of type 2 diabetes, age, and race/ethnicity (AHA, 2015a). Both modifiable and non-modifiable factors are important to consider for prevention of type 2 diabetes and looking at how the knowledge of these risk factors, and personal risks are associated with the perception of diabetes susceptibility. These health risks can also help to understand some of the age-related and racial/ethnic health disparities that exists among type 2 diabetes incidence and prevalence.

In a young adult population of Native Americans, ages 19-29, risk factors for type 2 diabetes looked slightly different than the general population. Parental history of type 2 diabetes, obesity, alcohol drinking, and fasting blood glucose were shown to be significant risk factors in the development of pre-diabetes and diabetes (Yan et al., 2016). Yet, among African Americans, a study showed that family history is not a significant independent risk factor unless there are 3 or more members of the family that have type 2 diabetes (Kral et al., 2019). This suggests there are other more important factors that may contribute to the disease within this population (Kral et al., 2019).

Other important risk factors were seen in a cohort of men and women ages 18-30 years old who were subjects in the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults study and were followed for a period of 30 years. The existence of modifiable biological risk factors for type 2 diabetes such as Body Mass Index (BMI; used to measure overweight/ obesity) and fasting blood glucose in young adulthood were shown to be important risk factors. They contributed to the racial disparities that existed in type 2 diabetes incidence between Black and White men and women in middle adulthood. These disparities were associated with differences in the biological risk factors among the racial groups. They were prominent because there were no significant differences found between races when modifiable neighborhood, psychosocial, socioeconomic, and behavioral risk factors were considered. Both Black men and women had greater odds of developing type 2 diabetes from young adulthood to middle adulthood than their White counterparts, but Black women had even greater odds over their White counterparts than Black men (Bancks et al., 2017). The exploration of risk perception is appropriate due to the increased risk factors that exist among Black women.

Dietary Behaviors. Poor dietary behaviors are another risk factor associated with an increased risk of type 2 diabetes and other chronic diseases. Dietary guidelines from the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) include overall healthy eating patterns that incorporate a variety of nutrient dense foods, eating within certain calorie limits, increased fruit and vegetable intake, healthier beverages, and low intake of saturated fats, sodium, sugar, and processed foods. These guidelines are given as a method to improve diet quality and combat cardiometabolic diseases such as type 2 diabetes, associated complications, and death (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services [HHS] & USDA, 2015). Improvements in diet quality are specifically related to a decrease in type 2 diabetes risk, while decreases in dietary quality increase the risk (Ley et al., 2016). Demonstrating the importance of guidelines for diet quality, Micha et al. (2017) conducted a study that examined data from a nationally representative population sample in the United States. The data revealed that type 2 diabetes-related deaths were associated with poor diet such as high intake of processed meat, high intake of beverages sweetened with added sugar, and a low intake of whole grains (Micha et al., 2017). These are all dietary habits that fall outside of the USDA dietary guidelines. The researchers also found that 64.2% of cardiometabolic deaths among younger adults ages 25-34 years, and 51% among Blacks, were associated with a suboptimal intake of 10 dietary factors. Noting health disparities that also exist among youth and minorities for type 2 diabetes

risks and complications. Suboptimal intake was measured by too little intake of fruits, vegetables, nuts/seeds, whole grains, polyunsaturated fats, Omega-3 fats, and too much intake of unprocessed red meats, processed meats, sugar sweetened beverages, and sodium (Micha et al., 2017).

Food insecurity and problematic eating are two diet related behaviors that lead to suboptimal intake of nutritious foods, increasing the likelihood of chronic disease such as type 2 diabetes. Food insecurity is measured by limited access to healthy foods due to a lack of money or other resources. This limited access causes unhealthy eating patterns, including reduced food intake (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2017). As of 2016, 12.3% of households in the United States experienced food insecurity, with Blacks having the highest rates compared to other racial/ethnic groups (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2017). The concern with food insecurity is its association with chronic disease. Researchers examined data from the National Health Interview Survey, 2011-2015 to find a relationship between food insecurity and the 10 CDC targeted chronic diseases, which includes diabetes. The study cohort were adults ages 19-64 with incomes at or below 200% of the federal poverty line. They found that adults who live in a food insecure household were more likely to have a chronic disease, and the more food insecure a household, there is an increase in the likelihood of chronic disease. Interestingly they also found that food insecurity had a significant relationship with all 10 chronic diseases, while income had a significant relationship with only three of the chronic diseases, denoting that food insecurity has a stronger relationship to chronic disease than income (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2017). Similarly, another study addressed food insecurity as a

poor dietary factor, showing that those with food insecurity were at greater odds of developing pre-diabetes (Murillo et al., 2017), which is a risk factor for type 2 diabetes.

Problematic eating behavior and attitudes toward food is identified as a problematic relationship to eating and food. In a study by Yoon et al. (2018), a problematic relationship to eating and food was measured by behaviors and attitudes such as food anxiety, avoiding weight gain, episodic overeating, overeating followed by a sense of a loss of control, being upset for overeating, being upset for losing control, shape, and weight concerns, and spending a lot of time dieting to lose weight. All behaviors, except for shape and weight concerns, were positively associated with BMI. Those who exhibited other problematic relationship to eating and food behaviors had a higher BMI than those who did not (Yoon et al., 2018). Problematic eating has also been associated with risk for MetS and type 2 diabetes, as those with problematic eating behavior are at a greater risk for both conditions (Yoon et al., 2019). Behaviors such as problematic eating and food insecurity are risky as they lead to poor dietary quality and increase the chances of developing type 2 diabetes and other associated risk factors such as obesity, MetS, and pre-diabetes. College students are a population that may be at risk of food insecurity and problematic eating, therefore health behavior is a factor that is being considered in this study.

Physical Activity. A sedentary lifestyle involves little to no physical activity (inactivity). There are specific physical activity guidelines for Americans that recommend at least 150 – 300 minutes of moderate cardiovascular exercise each week, and least 2 days each week of muscular strength activities for all major muscle groups

(HHS, 2018). These recommendations are important as several studies show that inactivity, or sedentary behavior is associated with an increased risk of type 2 diabetes and other chronic conditions (Larsen et al., 2015; van der Velde et al., 2018). Although research has shown this relationship, 80% of adults do not adhere to the recommended guidelines for cardiovascular and muscular strength activity (HHS, 2018), and over 80% of adolescents are not performing the recommended amount of daily cardiovascular activity (HHS, n.d.). This could explain the increases in type 2 diabetes rates among youth. Not meeting the recommended physical activity guidelines is not only associated with an increased risk of type 2 diabetes but is also related to higher medical costs for the disease. The 2012/2013 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System data showed that as of 2012, the medical costs associated with type 2 diabetes was almost four times higher in those that did not meet the physical activity guidelines than those that did (Shah et al., 2017).

Physical activity guidelines can be accomplished through leisure activities such as planned exercise or by other lifestyle factors such as occupation, and active modes of transportation. For instance, there are some people who work in manual labor jobs, rather than jobs where they are primarily seated at a desk, and there are some people who walk or bike as their mode of transportation, rather than driving.

Using a sample of adults 20 and older from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), Divney et al. (2019) examined the association of diabetes prevalence with the different types of physical activity (leisure-time, occupationbased, transportation-based) and total physical activity, as well as the differences in variables among racial/ethnic groups (Hispanic, Black, White). The researchers found that when adjusting for socio-demographics, the performance of physical activity guidelines by any type of physical activity was associated with low rates of diabetes. However, there were racial/ethnic disparities shown as Whites achieved physical activity guidelines across all types at higher rates than other groups, except for transportation. Blacks achieved guidelines at lower rates than both Whites and Hispanics. Those not meeting the physical activity guidelines had a higher prevalence of diabetes, and those rates were greatest among Blacks (Divney et al., 2019).

The results of a similar study showed that less than 100 minutes per week of leisure time activity increased the risk of type 2 diabetes by 28%, and as leisure-time activity increased, diabetes risk decreased. The relationship between occupational physical activity and type 2 diabetes was also inverse, but it was different from the previous study in that, the relationship was weak, and the domestic type of physical activity was associated with an increase in the risk of type 2 diabetes (Mutie et al., 2020). The lack of physical activity and the increased risk of type 2 diabetes among Blacks highlight the importance of determining factors that influence risk perception and healthy type 2 diabetes related behavior.

Obesity/Overweight. Overweight and obesity are measured as a calculation of weight and height that is higher than normal and are typically defined by BMI. A BMI of 25.0 – 29.9 is categorized as overweight, and a BMI of greater than 30 is categorized as obesity (CDC, 2020c). The prevalence of obesity has been on the rise in recent years. Data from the NHANES 2017-2018 study showed that 42% of adults and 40% of young

adults ages 20-39 in the United States were obese. Almost 12% higher than in 1999-2000 (Hales et al., 2020). This increase in obesity rates poses a great problem as overweight and obesity are known risk factors for type 2 diabetes. Higher BMI and fat mass cause insulin resistance (Malone & Hansen, 2019). Between 2013 and 2016, 89% of those diagnosed with type 2 diabetes were also overweight or obese (CDC, 2020b). When examining trends in diabetes prevalence across BMI categories, increases in diabetes rates were only among obese categories (Menke et al., 2015). This implies that increases in type 2 diabetes prevalence could be a result of increases in obesity prevalence (Bhupathiraju & Hu, 2016).

Prediabetes and Metabolic Syndrome. Prediabetes and MetS are risk factors for type 2 diabetes (do Vale Moreira et al., 2016; Glauber et al., 2018; Marott et al., 2016; Moore et al., 2017; Yokota et al., 2017). Pre-diabetes occurs when blood sugar levels in the body are higher than what is considered normal, but not as high as blood sugar levels for type 2 diabetes (CDC, 2020d). This condition is diagnosed by a measurement of the amount or percentage of sugar in the blood according to values such as the hemoglobin A1C (5.7-6.4%), fasting blood sugar (100-125mg/dL), or glucose tolerance (140-199mg/dL) (CDC, 2019c). Pre-diabetes has become a growing problem in the United States as rates have increased from 29% to 36% from 2002-2010. As of 2012, the prevalence of pre-diabetes was about 37%, with the highest rates in White and Black Americans (Menke et al., 2015).

Pre-diabetes is a condition that is likely to develop into type 2 diabetes unless certain lifestyle and biological changes, such as diet and weight loss, are made to

decrease the risk (CDC, 2020d). Studies have shown the risk of diabetes development in those with pre-diabetes (Glauber et al., 2018; Yokota et al., 2017). In a study of a population of U.S. adults 18 years of age and older, Glauber et al. (2018) created an algorithm for estimating 2-year susceptibility to diabetes development among those with pre-diabetes at different levels of risk. Results showed that those with high risk had an 18% probability. Those with a moderate risk had an 8.2% probability, and those with a low risk had a 1.6% probability of diabetes development (Glauber et al., 2018). Yokota et al. (2017), in a similar study, analyzed how pre-diabetes naturally developed into diabetes, the risk factors associated with the conversion, and the relationship with weight reduction. In a retrospective longitudinal study on the general population in Japan, the researchers observed that within 4.7 years, 11.9% of those with pre-diabetes developed diabetes, and the associated risk factors were family history, being male, higher blood pressure, and higher blood sugar. It was also noted that weight reduction was associated with lower diabetes incidence (Yokota et al., 2017). These studies show that pre-diabetes is associated with the risk of diabetes development.

MetS is the existence of a group of biological conditions such as abdominal obesity, high blood pressure, hyperglycemia, low HDL cholesterol and high triglycerides. A person with 3 or more of these conditions may be diagnosed with MetS and have an increased likelihood of developing type 2 diabetes or cardiovascular disease (Moore et al., 2017; Zimmet et al., 2005). As of 2012, the prevalence of MetS in the United States was 34.2%, with the highest rates among Blacks and those with low socioeconomic status (Moore et al., 2017). Studies have shown increased type 2 diabetes incidence and/ or

prevalence in populations with MetS (do Vale Moreira et al., 2020; Marott et al., 2016). In a recent study of a sample population of Brazilian men and women ages 25 years and older, do Vale Moreira et al. (2020), compared the prevalence of MetS in those with prediabetes, type 2 diabetes, and cardiovascular disease risk. The researchers found that the prevalence of MetS among the population was 36%. Among those with MetS, more than half had pre-diabetes, about 76% had type 2 diabetes, and 57% were at risk for cardiovascular disease (do Vale Moreira et al., 2020), showing that MetS is highly associated with these conditions. As do Vale Moreira et al. (2020), researched the risk of type 2 diabetes in those with MetS as a whole, Morott et al. (2016), studied the association between individual components of the MetS with type 2 diabetes risk, and the influence of genetics. They found that with every 1cm increase in waist circumference, there is a 5% higher risk and a 5% causal genetic risk of type 2 diabetes. The other MetS factor that was found to have an observational and genetic risk was glucose level. For every 1mmol/L increase in glucose, it was associated with a 32% higher risk and an 82% causal genetic risk of type 2 diabetes (Marrot et al., 2016). This shows that genetics or family history is an important factor to consider when associating pre-diabetes and MetS with type 2 diabetes.

Family History. Type 2 diabetes is a chronic disease that occurs in families; therefore, family history is considered a very important risk factor (ADA, n.d.-b). Those who have a positive family history among immediate family members such as mother, father, or sibling, are at a higher risk for type 2 diabetes than those without a family history, especially if there is a history in both parents (The InterAct Consortium, 2013). This is due to shared genes, lifestyle behaviors, and environments (ADA, n.d.-b). Although the risk for diabetes is increased with any family history, the more family members someone has with type 2 diabetes, the higher the risk (Kral et al., 2019; The InterAct Consortium, 2013). Kral et al., (2019) compared family history risk among African Americans and European Americans. They found that any family history of type 2 diabetes among European Americans put them at an increased risk. However, in African Americans, it was found that family history was only a significant risk factor when 3 or more family members had type 2 diabetes (Kral et al., 2019). Not only is family history associated with an increased risk of type 2 diabetes, but it is also associated with an increased risk of mortality (4%), independent of other factors such as BMI, lifestyle, and other biological risk factors (Leong, 2016).

The knowledge of family history of type 2 diabetes is significant as it can help people to be more aware of their susceptibility and transfer that awareness into the practice of preventive health behaviors. Several studies show that those with a family history of type 2 diabetes have a more realistic perception of their personal risk (Amuta, Crosslin, et al., 2016; Merzah, 2016; Skøt et al., 2018), while other studies show the association between known family history and health behavior (Ard et al., 2020; Choi et al., 2019). Using the HBM as the framework for their qualitative study, Ard et al. (2020) discovered that family history influenced the practice of preventive health behaviors such as weight management, healthy diet, and cardiovascular activities among a sample of African American women ages 18 years and older. Similarly, in a sample of Korean men and women ages 40-69 years, those with a family history of diabetes were more likely to practice healthy behaviors such as regular exercise and healthy diet but did not have normal body composition (Choi et al., 2019). The association between family history and healthy behaviors were strengthened among different characteristics of family history, such as the family member with diabetes was a sibling, age at onset was younger than 50 years old, and an increased number of affected family members (Choi et al., 2019). Amuta et al. (2017) analyzed similar familial characteristics among affected family members to determine an association between family history and preventive health behaviors in a population of college students. After controlling for demographics, the results were similar to Choi et al. (2019). They observed that an increased number of family members with type 2 diabetes, a closer genetic relationship (first-degree relative), and having a family member with severe diabetes were significantly associated with physical activity and eating vegetables (Amuta et al., 2017).

Although the previous studies found a positive association between family history and preventive health behaviors, there are other studies that conflict this notion (Amuta & Barry, 2015; Seaborn et al., 2016). Seaborn et al. (2016) found that that knowledge of family history of type 2 diabetes did not increase the likelihood of engaging in preventive health behaviors in a population of African Americans ages 18-79 years. A similar result occurred among a population of college students who although researchers found an association between type 2 diabetes family history and being conscious of calorie intake, there was no significant relationship found between family history and eating healthy foods such as fruits and vegetables (Amuta & Barry, 2015). As a result of these conflicting studies, more education may need to happen regarding the impact of family history on personal susceptibility and methods for prevention, especially diet.

Diabetes Susceptibility in Different Populations

There are populations or groups of people that are more susceptible to health conditions than others due to disadvantages among social, economic, and environmental factors, resulting in differences in health. These differences are commonly called health disparities (Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2020). Health disparities among persons of different race / ethnicity, age, and socioeconomic status are prevalent in the United States. Health disparities exist with populations such as African Americans, African American women, and college students. Disparities exist in the risk and development of chronic conditions such as type 2 diabetes among these populations when compared to other groups.

African Americans

African Americans are a minority population in the United States that experiences many health disparities, including having higher susceptibility, incidence, and prevalence of type 2 diabetes (CDC, 2020b). As of 2018, African Americans were 1.6 times more likely to have type 2 diabetes than Whites (HHS, Office of Minority Health, 2019). This is due to the presence of a disproportionate prevalence of diabetes risk factors in this population. One such risk factors is obesity. Between 2017 and 2018, the prevalence of obesity among the African American population was about 50%, which was higher than any other racial/ethnic group (Hales et al., 2020). Several researchers have examined this health disparity by analyzing differences in the prevalence and incidence of type 2 diabetes among different racial/ ethnic groups (Kulick et al., 2016; Piccolo et al., 2016; Zhu et al., 2019). Among a cohort of 11-20year-old participants, Zamora-Kapoor et al. (2018), measured the association between traditional type 2 diabetes risk factors and the prevalence of pre-diabetes and diabetes among different racial/ethnic groups. The results showed that White participants had the highest rates of physical activity and healthy BMI, while Black participants had higher rates of obesity, television time, parental type 2 diabetes history, and the second highest prevalence of fast-food consumption of all groups. At the last wave of the study, they were also found to have the highest rate of pre-diabetes and diabetes development (Zamora-Kapoor et al., 2018). Even though lifestyle behaviors are contributing factors in the development of type 2 diabetes, there are additional factors such as socioeconomics and racial disparities that impact the prevalence in African Americans, and the health disparities that exist among different groups.

While assessing how factors such as socioeconomic, lifestyle, environment, psychosocial, biophysiological and genetics contribute to the racial and ethnic disparities associated with type 2 diabetes, Piccolo et al. (2016), found that lifestyle factors predicted type 2 diabetes more than any other domain. However, racial/ethnic disparities were best predicted by socioeconomic factors. Similarly, Gebreab et al. (2016), examined the association of type 2 diabetes with neighborhood physical and social environments, favorable grocery food stores, and lifestyle factors (diet, physical activity) in African Americans. While individual lifestyle factors were significant, those who had and developed type 2 diabetes were more likely to live in neighborhoods saturated with unfavorable grocery food stores and low social cohesion, even independent of individual lifestyle factors (Gereab et al., 2016). This discovery is like another study previously mentioned, where researchers concluded that there were more important factors , such as the built (physical) environment, that contribute to type 2 diabetes outside of genetics or family history (Kral et al., 2019).

An additional study found that ethnic minorities experience diabetes at higher rates, but with much lower BMI measurements than Whites (Zhu et al., 2019). Supporting this finding, Blacks and Hispanics were shown to be at a higher risk for developing type 2 diabetes based on sociodemographic and cardiovascular risk factors, even though the rates of traditional risk factors such as BMI and smoking were higher in Whites (Kulick et al., 2016). On the contrary, Bancks et al. (2017), suggest that biological factors such as BMI contributed to racial disparities, but factors such as socioeconomic conditions were not significant (Bancks et al., 2017). These studies show that African Americans have higher rates of type 2 diabetes, as well as higher rates of risky lifestyle factors (Bancks et al., 2017; Kulick et al., 2016; Zhu et al., 2019), however the discrepancies among studies show factors such as neighborhood environment, social cohesion, accessibility, and socioeconomic status, in addition to lifestyle factors contribute to African American's increased susceptibility to type 2 diabetes.

African American (Black) Women. African American women also experience health disparities in terms of race/ethnicity and gender. They are susceptible to chronic disease at higher rates than African American men and other groups of women (Hales et al., 2020; Hardy, 2019; Luo et al., 2019). They have a higher prevalence and incidence rate for chronic diseases such as type 2 diabetes. As of 2018, the rates for type 2 diabetes among African American women were 1.7 times higher than White women (HHS, Office of Minority Health, 2019). However, African American women are just as likely to develop gestational diabetes during pregnancy as White women (Bower et al., 2019). They are also more likely to be screened for type 2 diabetes than other groups but experience higher rates of pre-diabetes and diabetes development after having gestational diabetes (Bower et al, 2019).

There are lifestyle factors such as inactivity, and biological risk factors such as obesity that contribute to their increased risk (Armstrong et al., 2018; Hales et al., 2020; Luo et al., 2019). African American women have been shown to have lower rates of physical activity than men and other women (Armstrong et al., 2018; Williams et al., 2018). Examining the NHANES 2007-2016 data, Armstrong et al. (2018) discovered that Black females ages 18-24 years were less likely than any other groups of males or females to participate in any physical activity. They also reported the shortest duration of physical activity compared to other groups of males and females (Armstrong et al., 2018). Similar trends were shown in a study examining the physical activity behavior in Blacks using data from four different U.S. national health surveys. Black men met physical activity guidelines at higher rates than Black women. Although both men and women had declines in physical activity as they aged, the declines were higher in women (Williams et al., 2018). Results also showed that as Black women increased in weight (normal,

obese, severely obese), there were significant declines in meeting physical activity guidelines (34%, 29%, 24%, respectively) (Williams et al., 2018).

Black women experience obesity at higher rates than Black men and women of other racial/ ethnic groups (Hales et al., 2020). Utilizing data from the Women's Health Initiative study, Luo et al. (2019), explored this difference by examining the variance in diabetes risk among women of different race / ethnicity according to anthropometric factors such as BMI, waist circumference, and waist-to-hip ratio. Although the researchers found a positive association with anthropometric measurements and diabetes risk among all groups, Black women had a higher incidence of diabetes. They also had higher anthropometric measurements such as total fat mass, BMI, waist circumference, and leg fat than other women. Data also showed that they did have lower trunk to leg fat ratios than other groups, which the researchers concluded could be a better biomarker for assessing diabetes risk among Black women (Luo et al., 2019). Likewise, Hardy et al. (2019), conducted a study to determine the strongest anthropometric values associated with type 2 diabetes incidence among White and Black adults. Just as in the Luo et al. (2019) study, Hardy et al. (2019), discovered that Black women had higher anthropometric measurements than White women and had the highest type 2 diabetes incidence after an 11-year follow-up. They also developed type 2 diabetes faster than Black and White males, and White females (Hardy, 2019). While Hardy et al. (2019), found that waist to hip ratio was the best anthropometric predictor of incident diabetes among Black women, Luo et al. (2019), discovered that waist circumference was the better predictor. As BMI is traditionally used for diabetes risk assessment, both studies

challenge its effectiveness in being the best predictor of type 2 diabetes incidence, especially for Black women.

Other life factors such as stress from racism and discrimination put African American women at higher risk for type 2 diabetes (Bacon et al., 2017; Dormire, 2016; Shin et al., 2017). Analyzing a convenience sample of postmenopausal women, the researcher hypothesized that the stress faced by Black women due to discrimination would lead to differences in glucose metabolism than other women of different racial/groups (Dormire, 2016). Findings showed that Black women perceived that they experienced higher levels of discrimination than White women, had higher levels of stress, and higher levels of fasting blood glucose, putting them at an increased risk for pre-diabetes and type 2 diabetes (Dormire, 2016). Like results were found in a research study of minority women (African American and Latina) where researchers examined the association between racial discrimination and stress with cardiometabolic risk factors such as BMI and % body fat. The study results showed a positive relationship between racial discrimination and stress; stress and blood pressure; and both racial discrimination and stress with % body fat (Shin et al., 2017). When compared with Latina women, African American women reported higher levels of racial discrimination and systolic blood pressure (Shin et al., 2017). The association of stress with type 2 diabetes was even shown among a cohort of Black women from the Black Women's Health Study. Although a little over half of the cases of type 2 diabetes incidence was explained by BMI, those who reported having experienced a higher exposure to racism over a lifetime had a higher incidence of type 2 diabetes than those who reported not being exposed to

racism (Bacon et al., 2017). In addition to traditional lifestyle and biological factors, the experiences of stress and racism should be considered in the treatment and prevention of type 2 diabetes among African American women.

College Students

College students engage in many risky health behaviors, especially traditional college students who are considered emerging adults. Emerging adulthood is a period in life that marks important lifestyle changes and health habits (Arnett, 2000) that can be likely to sustain after college, and into full adulthood. Many of these changes result in unhealthy behaviors such as unhealthy eating patterns, and biological factors such as overweight/obesity, that are considered risks for cardiometabolic diseases like type 2 diabetes and heart disease. As a result, college students are a critical population to explore regarding susceptibility to type 2 diabetes.

The American College Health Association (ACHA) (2020) explored lifestyle behaviors and biological factors of undergraduate college students in the National College Health Assessment (NCHA) III. Survey data showed that 36.4% of college students in the United States were overweight or obese (ACHA, 2020). These rates are reflective of the obesity rates in the general U.S. population for ages 20-39 (Hales et al., 2020). College students also reported behaviors such as diet and food insecurity in the NCHA III survey. About 31% reported eating the recommended vegetable intake, and only 18.3% reported eating the recommended fruit intake within the last 7 days. Consistent with these results, Granillo et al. (2015), reported that even college student vegetarians are not eating the recommended fruit and vegetable intake. A diet consisting of high calorie intake has been associated with a decreased level of insulin sensitivity and higher beta cell functioning in overweight or obese young adults, increasing the risk of pre-diabetes and diabetes, especially among African Americans (Cha et al., 2018).

The NCHA III survey also found that food insecurity was prevalent among this population as 43.5% stated that they had low to very low food security (ACHA, 2020), which is much higher than the U.S. household food insecurity rate for the general population (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2016). Studies have shown that food insecurity is a growing problem among U.S. college students and is associated with adverse health outcomes (Bruening et al., 2018; Payne-Sturges et al., 2018; Zein et al., 2019). In a study of 237 undergraduate college students, Payne-Sturges et al. (2018), discovered that 15% of the participants were food insecure and 16% were at risk. A similar study showed that 19% of college students from 8 different Universities in the United States were food insecure, and 25% were at risk (Zein et al., 2019). Knol et al. (2017), showed much higher rates of food insecurity among students who lived off campus as 37.6% had low and very low food security. Although rates may vary between studies, they show that students who were found to be food insecure, and at risk for food insecurity reported higher rates of fair and poor health, lower energy (Knol et al., 2017; Payne-Sturges et al., 2018), higher perceived stress, and higher rates of disordered eating than students who were food secure (Bruening et al., 2018; Zein et al., 2019). Food insecurity was also inversely associated with healthy campus physical activity (Bruening et al., 2018). Additionally, food insecure students were more likely to be African American (PayneSturges et al., 2018; Zein et al., 2019), which displays a health disparity consistent with U.S. household food insecurity data (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2016).

College students face risks for MetS, which is another important risk factor for type 2 diabetes. In a sample of undergraduate young adult college students, Hsiao et al. (2015) discovered that 44% of the population had 2 or more risk factors for MetS, 12.5% had 3 or more, and 1.3% met the criteria. Comparably, Olfert et al. (2018), reported a 15% prevalence of MetS in a population of 18-24-year old's attending West Virginia University. However, among a cohort of seemingly healthy non-obese college students, Williams et al. (2019) found much higher rates and differences among males and females. The researchers reported that 71% of females and 80.9% of males met one or more MetS criteria, and 7% of females and 14.9% of males met three or more (Williams et al., 2019). Amongst the studies, the most prevalent MetS risk factors were low HDL (Williams et al., 2018; Hsiao et al., 2015), high fasting blood glucose (Olfert et al., 2018), and elevated blood pressure among males (Williams et al., 2018).

Considering college students' susceptibility to type 2 diabetes based on lifestyle and biological factors, not all are being informed of their actual risks by their health care providers, even when known risk factors, such as overweight or obesity are present (Saylor et al., 2018). Although these risk factors are present, only 2% of the college population in the NCHA III study had a diabetes or pre-diabetes diagnosis (ACHA, 2020), but only 69% of those diagnosed have visited their health care provider within the last year (ACHA, 2020). Those who do not seek out health care are at a higher risk for diabetes complications.

Perception of Type 2 Diabetes Susceptibility

The perception of type 2 diabetes susceptibility is dependent upon several factors such as knowledge of diabetes and associated risks, personal health behavior, and family history (Yang et al., 2018). The perception of peer risk of type 2 diabetes could also impact someone's personal susceptibility, as people's thoughts and behaviors are oftentimes influenced by their peers (Amuta et al., 2017). Knowledge of type 2 diabetes is important for recognizing early warning signs and symptoms. Early diagnosis is key in disease control and prevention of diabetic complications and death (ADA, n.d.-a). Health behavior theories such as the HBM suggest that understanding associated risk factors can influence personal perceived susceptibility, therefore influencing behavior that is likely to prevent disease onset (Skinner et al., 2015). The uptake of healthier behaviors can result in decreased personal susceptibility (Yang et al., 2018).

Perceived Personal Susceptibility to Type 2 Diabetes

According to the HBM, perceived susceptibility and perceived threat of a disease can cause individuals to make behavior changes to reduce the threat (Skinner et al., 2015). In a qualitative inquiry, O'Brien et al. (2016), explored the diabetes risk perception of adults with pre-diabetes, and their preference for the type of treatment associated with risk reduction. They discovered that most of the participants overestimated their susceptibility to diabetes as they figured that a diagnosis of prediabetes would automatically develop into diabetes (O'Brien et al., 2016). The researchers also found that there was a lack of knowledge about available treatments that would reduce their risk, and once participants were made aware of those treatments, they were motivated to take action (O'Brien et al., 2016). On the contrary, in a population of African American female college students ages 18-26 years, most of the participants were aware that diabetes was a severe threat, but there was no significant association between threat appraisal and increases in physical activity or healthy diet (Corliss et al., 2016). Contrasting the results of other studies, those with a healthier diet perceived diabetes to be more of a threat than those who had more risky dietary behaviors such as the consumption of a high number of sodas per week (Corliss et al., 2016). The studies show that there are conflicts regarding the perception of disease susceptibility and the likelihood of participation in preventive health behaviors.

Self-Efficacy. The HBM construct self-efficacy is the perception of control that someone has over a disease (Skinner et al., 2015). Typically, those that have a sense of control are more likely to change their behavior and engage in preventive health actions (Skubisz, 2014). In addition to the HBM, the Risk Perception Attitude (RPA) Framework is another health behavior theory that considers the role of risk perception and selfefficacy in protective health actions. The RPA theory states that those with a high-risk perception and a high self-efficacy will be motivated as they believe they are capable of acting against the threat. However, those with a low-risk perception and a low selfefficacy will not engage in any preventive behaviors because they do not believe they are at risk or capable of making any changes (Skubisz, 2014).

Corliss et al. (2016) as a part of their study on the protection motivational factors of diabetes, focused on self-efficacy in a population of African American female college students. In their research inquiry, they asked if there was an association between coping

appraisal and diabetes self-efficacy. They found that self-efficacy was significantly associated with the perception that healthy eating and physical activity are useful in the prevention of type 2 diabetes (Corliss et al., 2016), increasing likelihood that they will participate in those actions. This was also the result of a study that investigated the factors that determined diabetes prevention behaviors such as physical activity. This study conducted by Mirzaei-Alavijeh et al. (2019), on a population of Iranian men and women, showed that self-efficacy, perceived susceptibility, and other socio-cognitive factors related to the performance of diabetes prevention were responsible for 40% of the variation in those behaviors, and self-efficacy was one of the most significant factors (Mirzaei-Alavijeh et al., 2019). However, in another study, self-efficacy and other Social Cognitive Theory constructs only contributed to 16% of the variance in preventive health screening behavior among a population of diabetics (Cooper et al., 2016). Self-efficacy was also significant in a qualitative study of Aboriginal people in Australia. Seear et al. (2019) wanted to know how this population made behavioral changes to improve their health and decrease their risk of diabetes or complications from diabetes. The researchers discovered that participants were motivated to make healthy behavior changes by their perception of the risk of diabetes-related health consequences, self-efficacy, and belief that behavior change can prevent consequences (Seear et al., 2019).

Self-efficacy has been a significant determining factor for healthy behavior, even when risk perception was not. This was shown in the results of a study where researchers were trying to find if the different constructs of the Health Action Process Model explained participation in healthy diets among a sample of Iranian adults with type 2 diabetes (Rohani et al., 2018). Although risk perception was not associated with an intent to participate in healthy behavior, it was found that different levels of self-efficacy (action, maintenance, recovery) did predict healthy dietary behavior (Rohani et al., 2018). There are instances where researchers have found, unlike other studies, that risk perception nor self-efficacy were found to be predictors of diabetes knowledge or diet and exercise behaviors (Simonds et al., 2017). Although some of the studies on the association of self-efficacy and participation in healthy behavior are conflicting, it is still a worthy concept to explore in diabetes studies and programming.

Perceived and Actual Risk. It is ideal for those with an actual risk of disease to perceive its severity and their susceptibility so that it increases their threat appraisal and preventive behavior (Skinner et al., 2015). However, studies suggest that those with an actual risk of type 2 diabetes may not always correctly perceive their risk (Heidemann, 2019; Joiner et al., 2022; Yang et al., 2018), thereby decreasing the likelihood that they will act against the threat. For example, Joiner et al. (2022) studied the difference in diabetes risk perception between a population of U.S. adults of different race / ethnicity who were over the age of 20 with undiagnosed pre-diabetes. There results showed that almost 72% of participants did not perceive any diabetes risk, and Blacks were more likely to perceive no risk than Whites (Joiner et al., 2022).

Heidemann et al. (2019) studied the relationship between perceived risk and actual risk of type 2 diabetes, and the contributing factors among the German adult population. There was inconsistency with the perception of risk versus the actual risk. Among participants that were at high risk for type 2 diabetes, only 33% perceived that they had almost no risk, and 53% perceived that they were in good health (Heidemann, 2019). Another example is found in the study by Yang et al. (2018) as they also researched the relationship between perceived risk and actual risk of type 2 diabetes but among different race / ethnicity. Like the previous study, it was found that participants underestimated their risk, as there were 39% that had actual risk, but only 28% perceived they were high risk. Also, among those with no risk, 26% perceived that they were at risk (Yang et al, 2018). In the Heidemann et al. (2019) study, the factors significantly associated with an increased perception of risk were lower age, family history, and being informed of risk by the doctor. The factors significantly associated with a decreased perception of risk was having no opinion on disease severity (Heidemann, 2019). Similarly, Yang et al. (2018) found that family history was also a factor that participants perceived was a risk for type 2 diabetes, in addition to being overweight, and poor diet.

Differences in perception of type 2 diabetes susceptibility can also differ among different races and ethnicities. Yang et al. (2018) found that Black and Hispanics reported higher rates of type 2 diabetes perception than other races / ethnicities and that perception was associated with poor diet. This perception was accurate as the rates of diabetes, prediabetes, and family history were the highest among Blacks, and the rates of physical activity were lowest among this ethnic group, showing that they had an actual risk (Yang et al., 2018). Other differences in risk perception have been shown among different races/ethnicities living in different geographic locations inside (Georgia) and outside (Nevada) of an area called the diabetes belt, due to the high rate and susceptibility to diabetes (Ledford et al., 2019). Among a population of type 2 diabetes patients, racial and

ethnic differences showed that Whites perceived a longer course of disease than Asians and Black Americans. Additionally, patients that lived within the diabetes belt perceived a lesser disease severity than those that lived outside of the diabetes belt (Ledford et al., 2019), even though they were at a higher risk. Contrary to the previous studies mentioned, Owei et al. (2019), conducted a 5.5-year longitudinal study that looked at the normal course of pre-diabetes in a population of Black and White adults ages 18-65 with a parental history of diabetes, but not personally diagnosed with diabetes. They compared pre and post biometric measures to identify those who had developed pre-diabetes during the study period. Twenty-nine percent of participants developed pre-diabetes, and although the researchers did not offer an intervention, participants were notified of their pre-diabetes incidence. 18 months after notification, researchers gathered biometric measures again for all study participants. They found that both Black and White participants who were informed they had developed pre-diabetes showed glycemic and weight decreases, improved glucose tolerance, improved diet, and increased physical activity levels (Owei et al., 2019). This denotes that the knowledge of actual risk of diabetes could potentially cause a change in health behavior.

Type 2 Diabetes Knowledge and Perceived Personal Susceptibility

The lack of knowledge of type 2 diabetes is associated with personal risk and behavior, especially among college students. For example, in a multicultural sample of college students from three City University of New York schools, Mongiello et al. (2016a) discovered that overall knowledge of diabetes was low, with Blacks and Hispanics having the lowest scores. Most students knew that obesity and inactivity were risk factors for type 2 diabetes, but family history was not a commonly known risk factor among the group, and those that had less knowledge of diabetes were the ones who underestimated their personal risk (Mongiello et al., 2016a).

Khlaifat et al. (2020) explored the knowledge, risk perception, and practice of diabetes prevention behaviors among college students from Universities in Jordan. This study showed that there was very low knowledge of diabetes and risk perception, but the practice of diabetes prevention behaviors was a little higher. This study differs from Mongiello et al. (2016a) because having a family history of diabetes was associated with diabetes knowledge, however diabetes risk perception was influenced by not having a family history and caring for a relative with diabetes. Although diabetes knowledge was low, it was a predictor of diabetes prevention practices (Khlaifat et al., 2020). Similarly, Amankwah-Poku (2019) found that a population of undergraduate students in Ghana had little knowledge of diabetes overall. However, they had more knowledge of treatment than they had about symptoms and complications. Students who had a family history of diabetes, ate healthy, and engaged in physical activity had more general knowledge of diabetes than those who did not (Amankwah-Poku, 2019).

On the contrary, some studies show that although knowledge of type 2 diabetes has increased, personal risk perception is still low (Piccinino et al., 2015), even among those that have actual risks (Heidemann et al, 2019; Mongiello et al., 2016b). Kowall et al. (2017) studied this concept using data from the German KORA FF4 population-based study. They assessed the perceived likelihood of having diabetes among those with undiagnosed diabetes, and perceived personal susceptibility of diabetes among those with pre-diabetes. It was found that 74% of those with undiagnosed diabetes perceived that their likelihood of having diabetes was low, and 72% of those with pre-diabetes perceived that they had no risk. The authors concluded that those with diabetes and prediabetes underestimated their possibility of having or developing diabetes (Kowall et al., 2017).

Perceived Peer Susceptibility and Personal Susceptibility

Despite current personal health behaviors and knowledge of risk factors, studies show that college students tend to underestimate their risk for type 2 diabetes when comparing themselves to their peers (Amuta, Jacobs, et al., 2016; Mongiello et al., 2016b; Reyes-Velazquez & Sealey-Potts, 2015). They also underestimate the role that individual behavior plays in their risk (Amuta et al., 2015). The results of a study conducted by Amuta et al. (2015) showed that among a population of overweight/ obese college students at risk for type 2 diabetes, the only factors that were associated with a higher risk compared to their peers was being female, having a family history, and a higher BMI. Lifestyle behavior was not a significant factor in risk perception, which can decrease the likelihood of participation in behaviors that will reduce the risk of diabetes (Amuta et al., 2015). Mongiello et al. (2016b), assessed personal risk perception in a multiracial college student population that had several diabetes risk factors. Like the Amuta et al. (2015) study, there were several high-risk students that underestimated their risk compared to their peers. The researchers reported that of the students who were at high risk for diabetes, 39% perceived a lesser risk than that of their peers. Those who

correctly perceived their risk were more likely to be female, have a family history, be born in the United States, and be Black (Mongiello et al., 2016b).

Amuta, Jacobs, et al. (2016) in their study assessing the differences in type 2 diabetes risk perception, attitude, and preventive behavior among different genders, showed that only 29% of college student participants had an accurate perception of a higher risk than their peers. Consistent with other research, females were more likely to perceive they were at risk for type 2 diabetes development. Another very similar study reported the unrealistic optimism of college students' perception of their type 2 diabetes susceptibility (Reyes-Velazquez & Sealey-Potts, 2015). Like the previous studies, the perception of being at high risk was associated with family history and being African American and Hispanic. The majority of those that had a low-risk perception reported four days of exercise per week, but only consumed one serving of fruits and vegetable per day (Reyes-Velazquez & Sealey-Potts, 2015). These results are like Amuta, Jacobs, et al. (2016), where males who were less likely to perceive risk reported higher moderate or vigorous physical activity. Yet, females who were more likely to perceive risk, reported higher fruit and vegetable consumption. They are also like the results of Amuta et al. (2015), where lifestyle factors such as unhealthy diet and lack of exercise were not seen as risk factors.

Peer Influence/Peer Support

Peers are influential in driving individual health related behavior. Young adults make health related decisions based on the perceptions and behaviors of their peers or what is socially acceptable. Studies show that societal factors such as peer and family

influence, social support, as well as social and cultural norms determine physical activity and dietary behaviors among young adults (Jakub et al., 2018; Kabir et al., 2018). Amuta et al. (2017) investigated how the advice of peers, family, and health care providers impacted participation in physical activity among a population of overweight/obese college students. It was discovered that the advice from friends was significantly associated with the performance of physical activity, but not the advice of family or health care providers (Amuta et al., 2017). Peer relationships among athletic teammates can also have a great impact on individual behavior. Scott et al. (2019) discovered that these peer relationships had positive and negative influences on health behavior in a study among athletes 15 years and older. The strongest predictors of high levels of exercise and lower levels of unhealthy eating patterns were supportive teammate friendships. The negative influences teammates' disordered eating and perceived pressure from teammates to lose weight or change body shape most strongly predicted higher levels of disordered eating, with stronger negative influences among females (Scott et al., 2019). However, among Black college-aged females 18-30 years old (similar to the sample population in this study) social support was not associated with leisure-time physical activity (Martin, 2018). Therefore, health prevention behaviors may or may not be influenced by peers in the sample population for this study.

Summary and Conclusions

In this literature review I examined several studies that addressed the susceptibility of type 2 diabetes among African American female college students, and the associated factors. I explored the Type 2 diabetes prevalence in the United States
among African Americans and young adults, along with associated risk factors such as family history, diet, physical activity, obesity, MetS, knowledge of type 2 diabetes, selfefficacy, and perception of diabetes susceptibility. The literature showed that diabetes is the seventh leading cause of death in the United States (CDC, 2020a), with rising incidence among the youth and young adult populations (Mayer-Davis et al., 2017). The issue is that diabetes is associated with many severe complications that are more likely to occur in someone with early-onset diabetes, and are more prevalent among African Americans (CDC, 2020b). In this literature review, I also analyzed studies on the modifiable and non-modifiable diabetes risk factors and explored those that were prevalent among African American women and college students, such as food insecurity (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2017), obesity (Hales et al., 2020) and physical inactivity (Armstrong et al., 2018). I also discovered in the literature that college students tend to underestimate their risk for type 2 diabetes (Heidenmann et al., 2019), and that perceived susceptibility of type 2 diabetes does not always associate with self-efficacy and health related behavior (Corliss et al., 2016), regardless of peer influence (Martin, 2018).

In this literature review, I also discussed research studies that have utilized the HBM as the theoretical framework, and addressed the constructs perception of susceptibility, self-efficacy, and cues to action, which are three constructs of the HBM. In this review I discovered the HBM was utilized as the basis for several other similar studies that assessed perception of disease risk to predict behavior (Ard et al., 2020). Although I performed an extensive review, there continues to be a gap in the research that examines the perceived susceptibility of type 2 diabetes among African American female college students, and how their health behaviors are shaped by that perception.

As a result of this gap in the research, in this study I examined the perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes and type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students in relation to their perceived peer susceptibility, family history, actual type 2 diabetes risk, and self-efficacy. In the following chapter, I discuss the research methodology, including the design and rationale, population sample, setting, recruitment strategy and data collection procedures, data analysis, and ethical considerations.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

In this study I examined the perception of personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students in relation to their perceived peer susceptibility, family history, actual Type 2 diabetes risk, and self-efficacy. The disproportionate rates of chronic disease among the African American population (Bancks et al., 2017; Bower et al., 2019; CDC, 2019b, Office of Minority Health , 2019) and the lack of research concerning Type 2 diabetes in African American female college students (Corliss, 2016) justify the need for this study. In this chapter, I discuss the research design and rationale and describe the population sample, selection criteria, and procedures. This chapter also includes a description of the survey instruments, data collection procedures, and methods for data analysis. Finally, I discuss the RQs, threats to validity, and ethical considerations for the protection of the participants.

Research Design and Rationale

The research method and design I used for this study was a quantitative, nonexperimental correlational survey design. I used this type of design because it allowed me to study a sample of a population to quantitatively describe the existing characteristics, attitudes, and opinions that exist within that population (Babbie, 2011; Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Use of a quantitative correlational design helps a researcher to identify a relationship between the predictor (independent) and outcome (dependent) variables (Creswell & Creswell, 2017) that are relevant within the population of interest. I chose this research design because it related to the study purpose and the RQs. The purpose of this study was to identify the association between the predictor variables (perceived peer susceptibility of Type 2 diabetes, family history of diabetes, actual Type 2 diabetes risk, and self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk) and outcome variables (perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health risk behavior). In this study, I addressed the target population's perception of their susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and current health behavior based on several different variables. Numerous researchers have used a quantitative correlational survey research design to address factors related to perceived Type 2 diabetes susceptibility and health behavior among college students (Amuta, Crosslin, et al., 2016; Amuta, Jacobs, et al., 2016; Solomon et al., 2016; Merzah, 2016; Mongiello et al., 2016b; Reyes-Velazquez & Scott et al., 2018; Sealey-Potts, 2015).

To collect data, I administered a cross-sectional survey. This is the best method of collecting data from a sample of a larger population (Babbie, 2011) at one point in time (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). The survey was in the form of a self-administered paper questionnaire. The target population was 100 African American female undergraduate college students ages 18-24 years, which is the average age of undergraduate college students (National Center for Education Statistics, 2018).

Methodology

Population

The target population for this study was 100 African American female undergraduate college students attending a Historically Black College/ University. The population was between the ages of 18-24 years old and had not been previously diagnosed with type 2 diabetes.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

For this study, I utilized a nonprobability, homogenous convenience sample of African American female college students. Convenience samples are commonly used in research studies. Participants in convenience samples are chosen because they are easily accessible and available (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). A homogenous convenience sample is one where participants are selected based on specific sociodemographic characteristics (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Researchers typically use homogenous samples when the target population is a subgroup of a larger population with specific sociodemographic characteristics (Jager et al., 2017). Convenience samples that are homogenous in nature are more likely to represent the target population than a conventional convenience sample (Jager et al., 2017). This convenience sample was homogenous because I focused on three specific sociodemographic characteristics related to ethnicity, gender, and educational status (i.e., African American, female, college student).

In the sample, I included participants who were enrolled in the target university, were 18–24 years of age, and identified as African American/Black and female. Participants had not been told by a physician that they had Type 2 diabetes or prediabetes. I excluded from the sample any participants who identified as an ethnicity other than African American/Black, who were outside of the target age rage, and who had been diagnosed with Type 2 diabetes or prediabetes. I included those participants who identified as multiracial by choosing African American/Black and another ethnicity.

I conducted a power analysis to determine the appropriate sample size for this study. I used G*Power 3.1 (Faul et al., 2009) and the Hierarchical Multiple Regression Sample Size Calculator (Analytics Calculator, n.d.) and entered estimated values for effect size, alpha, and power to conduct the power analysis. The effect size, which is the degree of association between two variables (Ellis, 2010), makes the presence of the statistical significance of a study meaningful. In this study, the effect size (Cohen's f2) was estimated at .15, which according to Cohen (1988), is a medium effect size. In research studies, the desired power levels for statistical tests are typically set at .80 (Cohen, 1988). In this study, power was estimated at .80, which means that there is an 80% chance that a test will find statistical significance when it is present, therefore leaving a 10% chance of creating a Type II error by accepting the null hypothesis when it should be rejected. I set the alpha level at 0.05 which allows a 5% risk of making a Type I error by rejecting the null hypothesis when it is true (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2018). The power analysis estimated the sample size to be at least 85 for both G*Power 3.1 and the Hierarchical Multiple Regression Sample Size Calculator. Therefore, there is an 80.1% chance that the R-squared value will significantly differ from zero with 85 participants. In this study, I recruited 116 participants.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

I collected data for this study through a self-administered paper survey. I sought permission to recruit from the university through the university IRB. Once the IRB

approved the study, I sent out recruitment email messages asking for participation through university professors to the female students in their classes, university campus announcements, Blackboard announcements, and student group emails. The messages stated the purpose of the survey, criteria for participation, and the available times and location to participate (see Appendix A). I also sought assistance from the university marketing department to access university digital marketing platforms to recruit for this study. Participants self-reported demographic information such as age, sex, gender, and race/ethnicity. I gave them a statement of informed consent and had to be read prior to beginning the survey. Consent was implied from those participants that read the consent and proceeded with the survey. Once participants completed the survey, they put them into a folder and left the data collection site. It took a lot of resources such as time and energy to recruit 100 participants and to complete pen and paper surveys. I had to find appropriate space and rely on campus advertisement, emails, and word of mouth to recruit participants. There were times where only 1 or 2 participants showed, and sometimes none, thus extending my data collection period.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

During a literature search, I found no one valid instrument that included an item for each of the variables in this study. The combination of several different items would have made the instrument very long, making it less desirable for students to take, and would have included a lot of unnecessary data. As a result, I compiled two instruments into one survey and used them to gather data for each study variable. The first instrument was the American Diabetes Association Diabetes Risk Test (ADADRT), and the second instrument was one I developed. It was a self-report survey that included demographics.

Published Instrument

The ADA developed the self-screening tool the American Diabetes Association Diabetes Risk Test (ADADRT) in 2019 to identify undiagnosed individuals who may have or are at risk for Type 2 diabetes (see Appendix B). I used this survey to collect data on family history of diabetes, and actual type 2 diabetes risk. Permission to utilize the ADADRT for educational purposes was given under the copyright and usage section in the online article (ADA, 2019). The instrument is licensed under Creative Commons which allows for use, copying and distribution of work that is copyrighted (Creative Commons, n.d.). The ADA adapted the diabetes screening instrument from Bang et al. (2009) and included gestational diabetes as a survey item. I used the form adapted by the NIDDK (n.d.).

Bang et al. (2009) developed the diabetes risk screening tool using the 1999 – 2004 NHANES data. Standard validation measures for the instrument were established using data from three national studies, of which included the 2005-2006 NHANES study, the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities study, and the Cardiovascular Health Study. The data included from the 2005-2006 NHANES were from participants 20 years and older with results from a fasting plasma glucose test. The data included from the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities study involved participants ages 45-64, and data from the Cardiovascular Health Study involved participants ages 65 and older, with increased minority participation (Bang et al., 2009). Bang et al. (2009), established validity of the instrument by testing NHANES data alone, and the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities and Cardiovascular Health Study data combined for sensitivity (79%, 72%), specificity (67%, 62%), positive predictive value (10%, 10%), negative predictive value (99%, 98%), and area under curve values (0.83, 0.74) with a cut-point value of 5 (Bang et al., 2009). These values determine the ability of the instrument to discriminate between those who present with a disease, and those who do not. A test/ instrument with an area under curve (AUC) of 0.7 to 0.8 is an acceptable discriminator, and 0.8 to 0.9 is an excellent discriminator (Mandrekar, 2010).

Several other researchers have established discrimination and validity of the ADADRT in different populations (Asgari et al., 2020; Poltavskiy et al., 2016; Woo et al., 2017). Poltavskiy et al. (2016) did a comparison of the diabetes and pre-diabetes risk tests from the ADA and CDC utilizing the NHANES data from 2009-2010 and 2011-2012. The researchers included participants that were adults 20 years of age and older that have not been previously diagnosed with diabetes or on diabetes medication. Both the ADA and the CDC instruments were found to be valid predictors of diabetes. It was reported that in the population, the ADADRT with a cut point of 5 had significant values for AUC (77%), sensitivity (0.83%), specificity (57%), Positive Predictive Value (PPV) (12%), and Negative Predictive Value (NPV) (98%) (Poltvaskiy et al., 2016). Woo et al. (2017) tested the validity of the ADADRT in an aging Chinese population. The study participants were from the fourth Hong King Cardiovascular Risk Factors Prevalence Study (CRISPS4) 2010-2012. Participants that were included had no diabetes diagnosis from the previous assessment (CRISPS3), and the average age was 58 years (Woo et al., 2016).

2017). Results showed significant values for AUC (0.72), specificity (0.57), sensitivity (0.80), PPV (12%), and NPV (98%) (Woo et al., 2017). A similar study conducted by Asgari et al. (2020), tested the ADADRT for discrimination and validity on the Iranian general population. The population sample was taken from the fourth wave of the WHO STEPwise approach to Surveillance (STEPS 2011) and included participants who were ages 20 years and older, were not previously diagnosed with diabetes, and were not pregnant. The values reported with a cut point of 5 were AUC (73.7%), sensitivity (51.6%), specificity (82.4%), PPV (7.9%), and NPV (98.3%) (Asgari et al., 2020). These studies reported similar values for the validity of the ADART even among different populations.

Researcher-Developed Instrument

The instrument I developed for this study is titled, "Diabetes Risk Perception and Health Behavior Survey for African American Female College Students" (see Appendix C). I developed the survey questions based on the current diabetes literature and other instruments that are used to gather data on the study variables. The existing literature about perception of diabetes risk or susceptibility gathers demographic information based on race/ethnicity, diabetes history, actual type 2 diabetes risk, perception of diabetes risk, factors associated with risk perception (Gallivan et al., 2009; Khan et al., 2022; Walker et al., 2003), and perception of peer risk (Mongiello et al., 2016a).

I created this survey with four subscales, one for each of the 4 variables (perception of peer susceptibility, self-efficacy, personal susceptibility, health behavior) that are being explored in this survey. To establish survey items for predictor variables

such as perception of peer susceptibility and self-efficacy, I considered studies such as Mongiello et al. (2016a), and Walker et al. (2003). Both studies used items that identified optimistic bias (peer and personal risk perception) and personal control (self-efficacy). Mongiello et al. (2016a), studying a racial and ethnically diverse population of college students, identified optimistic bias through comparative judgement statements such as "compared to other people my same age, I am less likely than they are to get diabetes" (p. 82), and identified personal control by a survey item stating, "If I am going to get diabetes, there is not much I can do about it" (p.83). Walker et al. (2003), using similar statements of optimistic bias and personal control, found that optimistic bias and a greater perception of other health risks predicted diabetes risk perception more than the actual risk for diabetes (Walker et al., 2003). Therefore, the survey I developed for this study consists of items such as "I believe that my current health habits will keep me in control of my risk for type 2 diabetes, if I improve my current health habits, I will have better control over my risk for type 2 diabetes", to identify self-efficacy (personal control) of developing type 2 diabetes. The survey also consists of items such as "I have better control over my risk for type 2 diabetes than my peers", and "I am less likely to develop type 2 diabetes than my peers", to identify peer diabetes risk perception.

To establish survey items for outcome variables such as personal risk perception and diabetes type 2 diabetes-related health risk behavior, I considered studies conducted by Gallivan et al (2009), and Khan et al. (2022). Gallivan et al. (2009), determined the factors that predict perception of diabetes risk in a U.S. population sample of adults ages 45 years and older. The researchers, through a survey item that asked, "Do you feel you could be at risk for diabetes?" and "Why do you feel you are at risk for diabetes?" (p. 165) found that the participants' perceived susceptibility was determined by family history, being overweight, and poor dietary habits (Gallivan et al., 2009). Like these findings, Khan et al. (2022), in their study on a population of college students, asked in a survey what is your "perceived future risk of developing diabetes" (p. 1805)? Results showed that diabetes knowledge, BMI, family history, self-rated health, and food label reading were predictors of diabetes risk perception among this population (Khan et al., 2022). As a result of these two studies, in the survey developed for this study, I included items such as "I believe that I am currently at risk for type 2 diabetes, I am concerned that I will develop diabetes while I am in college, I am concerned that I will develop diabetes in my lifetime", to identify risk perception. Also acknowledging that health risk behavior was associated with risk perception in both studies (Gallivan et al., 2009; Khan et al., 2022), several items regarding health behavior are included in the survey.

The specific content included in the survey items for type 2 diabetes-related health risk behavior were based on dietary and physical activity guidelines for Americans (HHS, 2018; HHS & USDA, 2015), and other studies that show the association between health risk behavior, and type 2 diabetes (Chow et al., 2016; Joseph et al., 2016; Larsen et al., 2014), as well as the association between proper health care and type 2 diabetes (Saylor et al., 2018). As a result, the survey I developed for this study includes items such as how often participants eat the recommended servings of fruits, vegetables, whole grains, meat with saturated fats, lean meats, fruit juice and sugar sweetened beverages. Other items address how often participants are performing recommended daily physical activity, and how often they see their health care provider regularly and if blood pressure and blood sugar values are being checked during those visits, all to establish health risks for type 2 diabetes.

The survey was viewed by two content experts to establish content validity and I made revisions according to their recommendations. I piloted the survey with a small portion (10%) of the sample population to collect demographic data, diabetes history, and other study variables such as perceived peer susceptibility to type 2 diabetes, perceived personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes, self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes risk, and related risk behavior, to establish reliability. The pilot data was not included in the final study.

Validity and Reliability. I established validity of the developed instrument through content validity. Content validity occurs when items on a survey instrument measures all aspects of the content that it was intended to measure. Content validity can be assessed and established by two or more subject matter experts in the field of study (Markus & Smith, 2012). Two subject matter experts reviewed the developed instrument and revisions were made based on their recommendation. Once piloted, I established reliability of the instrument through Cronbach's alpha. According to Trobia (2011), "Cronbach's alpha is a statistic that measures internal consistency among a set of survey items" (p. 2). A Cronbach's alpha value of .70 or above denotes an instrument with good internal consistency/ reliability (Trobia et al., 2011).

Operational Definitions

There are several terms in this study that need to be defined. Those terms and their operational definitions as they relate to the study are as follows:

Actual type 2 diabetes risk: participants actual type 2 diabetes risk based on existing risk factors as outlined in the ADA Diabetes Risk Test (ADA, 2019). A score of 5 or above denote an increased level of type 2 diabetes risk, and a score below 5 denote a lower level of risk. The ADA Diabetes Risk Test states that even with a score below 5, the participant could be at risk for having pre-diabetes (ADA, 2019), which is a risk factor diabetes. Therefore, lower scores were considered a lower level of risk. Results were scored as 0= risk score 0 (no risk), 1= risk score one, 2 = risk score two, 3= risk score three, 4 = risk score four, and 5 = risk score five (actual risk) and will be measured as a continuous scale variable.

Family history of diabetes: the presence of diabetes in family members that share the same genetic and environmental factors, used to identify disease susceptibility in individuals (Yoon et al., 2002). This variable was measured by the ADA Diabetes Risk Test survey item #5, "Do you have a mother, father, sister, or brother with diabetes?", and will be scored as Yes (1 point) or No (0 points) (ADA, 2019), and was measured as a dichotomous variable.

Outcome variable: a variable that is influenced by a predictor variable (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). The outcome variables being tested in this study are perceived personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes and type 2 diabetes-related health risk behavior. Their operational definitions are as follows:

Perceived personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes: participant opinion of their risk for type 2 diabetes. This outcome variable will be measured by survey items in the developed survey, Perception of Diabetes Susceptibility Among African American Female College Students, Risk Perception and Health Behavior Survey. The survey items are:

1. I believe that I am currently at risk for type 2 diabetes.

2. I am concerned that I will develop diabetes while I am in college.

3. I am concerned that I will develop diabetes in my lifetime.

4. The survey items will be scored as Strongly Agree (4), Agree (3), Disagree (2), Strongly Disagree (1), and measured as continuous scale variables. Items were calculated into a perception of personal susceptibility score that ranges from 3-12, with higher scores closer to 12 representing low perception of personal susceptibility, and lower scores closer to 3 representing high perception of personal susceptibility.

Perceived peer susceptibility to type 2 diabetes: participant opinion of how likely their peers were to develop diabetes compared to themselves (Skinner et al., 2015). This predictor variable was measured by survey items in the developed survey, Perception of Diabetes Susceptibility Among African American Female College Students, Risk Perception and Health Behavior Survey. The survey items were:

1. I have better control over my risk for type 2 diabetes than my peers.

2. I am less likely to develop type 2 diabetes than my peers.

3. The survey items were scored as Strongly Agree (1), Agree (2), Disagree (3), Strongly Disagree (4), and were measured as a continuous scale variable. They were grouped as the peer-susceptibility subscale. Items were calculated into a total perception of peer-susceptibility score that ranged from 2-8, with higher scores closer to 8 representing high perception of peer-susceptibility, and lower scores closer to 2 representing low perception of peer-susceptibility.

Pre-diabetes: a condition in which a person has high blood sugar but not high enough to be considered type 2 diabetes (CDC, 2020d). It is detected at a Hemoglobin A1C of 5.7 - 6.4%, a fasting blood sugar of 100 - 125mg/dL or a glucose tolerance of 140-199mg/dL (CDC, 2019c).

Predictor variable: used in survey methods to predict specific outcomes that may occur when this variable is present (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). The predictor variables tested in this study were perceived peer susceptibility to type 2 diabetes, family history of diabetes, actual type 2 diabetes risk, and self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes risk. Their operational definitions are as follows:

Self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes risk: feelings of self-control over health habits (Bandura, 2004) that will decrease the risk of type 2 diabetes. This predictor variable will be measured by survey items in the developed survey, Perception of Diabetes Susceptibility Among African American Female College Students, Risk Perception and Health Behavior Survey. The survey items are:

1. I believe that I do not have much control over my type 2 diabetes risk.

2. I believe that my current health habits will keep me in control of my risk for type 2 diabetes.

3. If I improve my current health habits, I will have better control over my risk for type 2 diabetes.

4. Controlling my risk for type 2 diabetes will make me less likely to develop the disease.

The survey items were scored as Strongly Agree (4), Agree (3), Disagree (2), Strongly Disagree (1), and measured as continuous scale variables. Items were calculated into a total self-efficacy score that ranged from 4 - 16, with higher scores closer to 16 representing high self-efficacy, and lower scores closer to 4 representing low selfefficacy.

Type 2 diabetes: a disease that occurs when the body does not make enough insulin or use it well enough to control the levels of sugar (glucose) in the blood, resulting in hyperglycemia (high blood sugar) (NIDDK, 2017).

Type 2 diabetes-related health risk behavior: participant engagement in health risk behaviors that increase the risk of type 2 diabetes (nutrition, physical activity, health care) (ADA, 2017; Siegel et al., 2018). This outcome variable will be measured by survey items in the developed survey, Perception of Diabetes Susceptibility Among African American Female College Students, Risk Perception and Health Behavior Survey. The survey items are:

1. On average, how often do you eat the recommended serving of 2 ½ cups of vegetables each day?

2. On average, how often do you eat the recommended serving of 2 cups of fruits each day?

3. On average, how often does half of your daily grain intake come from whole grains (e.g. brown rice, oats, quinoa)?

4. On average, how often do you eat meat high in saturated fat and sodium (e.g. hotdogs, hamburgers, lunch/deli meat)?

5. On average, how often do you eat lean meat and other sources of protein (e.g. skinless chicken breast, top sirloin, pork loin, salmon, beans, peas, soy products)?

6. How often is the juice you drink 100% fruit juice?

7. On average, how often do you drink sugar sweetened beverages (e.g. soda, juice drinks with added sugars, sweet tea, lemonade)?

8. How often do you eat unhealthy snacks from the vending machine (e.g. cake, cookies, donuts, potato chips, candy)?

9. How often do you eat healthy snacks from the vending machine (e.g. crackers, granola bar, fruit snacks)?

10. How often do you read food labels when making food choices?

11. On a weekly average, how often do you perform at least 150 minutes of moderate physical activity (e.g. 30 minutes of brisk walking/ day) or 75 minutes of vigorous physical activity (e.g. 15 minutes of running or swimming/ day)?

12. How often do you have a yearly visit with your health care provider?

13. When you visit your health care provider for a yearly checkup, how often is your blood sugar checked?

14. When you visit your health care provider for a yearly checkup, how often is your blood pressure checked?

The survey items are scored as Never (1), Sometimes (2), Usually (3), Always (4). There are 14 items each with the lowest score of 1 (Never) highest score of 4 (Always). Items were calculated into a total type 2 diabetes-related health risk behavior score that range from 14 - 70 and were measured as a continuous scale. A score closer to 70 denotes higher participation in healthy behaviors, and a score closer to 14 denotes lower participation in healthy behaviors.

Data Analysis Plan

SPSS 28 was the statistical software used for data analysis. I collected the survey data and input them into SPSS. I performed a data cleaning process in which I reviewed the data for any inconsistencies such as errors, incorrect spelling, incomplete data fields, or coding inconsistencies (Willes, 2018). I removed and corrected data with missing variables, corrected errors from data entry, corrected illegal values, removed duplicate information, and made sure all codes or abbreviations used in the data were standardized (Willes, 2018).

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ1: Is there a relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students?

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students. H_A1 : There is a statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

RQ2: Is there a relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students?

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

 H_A2 : There is a statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

RQ3: Is there a relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students?

 H_03 : There is no statistically significant relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

 H_A 3: There is a statistically significant relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

RQ4: Is there a statistically significant difference in perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes?

 H_0 4: There is no statistically significant difference in perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes.

 H_A 4: There is a statistically significant difference in perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes.

RQ5: Is there a relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students?

 H_05 : There is no statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

 $H_{A}5$: There is a statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

RQ6: Is there a relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students?

 H_06 : There is no statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

 H_A6 : There is a statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

RQ7: Is there a relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students?

 H_07 : There is no statistically significant relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

 H_A 7: There is a statistically significant relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

RQ8: Is there a difference in Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes?

 H_0 8: There is no statistically significant difference in Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes. $H_A 8$: There is a statistically significant difference in Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes.

Data Analysis

The analysis performed was a quantitative analysis. I described the sample population by age, academic classification, race/ ethnicity, and residence. Descriptive statistics was determined by reporting the mean, standard deviation, standard error, frequency, minimum and maximum of the independent and dependent variables. To examine research questions 1-3, I conducted a simple linear regression to test the relationship between perception of peer susceptibility to diabetes and perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes; self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes risk and personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes; actual risk of diabetes and perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes. To examine research question 4, I conducted an independent sample t-test to see if there was a difference in perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes between those with and without a family history of type 2 diabetes. To examine research questions 5-7, I conducted another simple linear regression to test for a relationship between perception of peer susceptibility and type 2 diabetesrelated health behavior; self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes risk and type 2diabetes-related health behavior; actual type 2 diabetes risk and type 2 diabetes-related health behavior. To examine research question 8, I conducted another independent sample t-test see if there was a difference in type 2 diabetes-related health behavior between those with and without a family history of type 2 diabetes.

To conduct a simple linear regression, the following regression equation is used to determine a relationship between the independent and dependent variable: y = a + b(X); where Y = dependent variable, a = the intercept (constant), b = slope, x = independent variable (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon Guerrero, 2018). To conduct an independent sample t-test, the following equation is used to determine differences in the mean of two groups when equal variances are assumed:

$$t = \frac{\bar{x}_1 - \bar{x}_2}{s_p \sqrt{\frac{1}{n_1} + \frac{1}{n_2}}}$$

where x_1 = mean of sample 1 (no family history), x_2 = mean of sample 2 (family history), n_1 = size of sample 1, n_2 = size of sample 2, s_p = pooled standard deviation (Kent State University, 2022).

To perform the simple linear regression the data needed to have met several assumptions. The first assumption was that the dependent (outcome) variable must be a continuous variable (Laerd Statistics, 2015a). In RQs 1-3 the dependent variable (perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes) which had an ordinal measurement (Strongly Disagree, Disagree, Agree, Strongly Agree), was converted to a continuous scale by assigning numbers 1-4 to each level in the Likert scale (1 = Strongly Disagree, 2 = Disagree, 3 = Agree, 4 = Strongly Agree). In RQs 5-7, the dependent variable (type 2 diabetes-related health risk behavior) also had an ordinal measurement (Never, Sometimes, Usually, Always), and was converted to a continuous scale measurement by assigning numbers to each level in the Likert scale (1 = Never, 2 = Disagree, 3 = Agree, 4 = Always). Therefore, assumption one was met.

The second assumption was that the independent (predictor) variable was also continuous (Laerd Statistics, 2015a). The independent variable in RQs 1 and 5 (perception of peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes) had an ordinal measurement (Never, Sometimes, Usually, Always), and was converted to a continuous scale measurement by assigning numbers to each level in the Likert scale (1 = Never, 2 = Disagree, 3 = Agree, 4 =Always). Likewise, the independent variable in RQs 2 and 6 (self-efficacy in controlling type 2 diabetes risk) had an ordinal measurement (Never, Sometimes, Usually, Always), and was converted to a continuous scale measurement by assigning numbers to each level in the Likert scale (1 = Never, 2 = Disagree, 3 = Agree, 4 =Always). The independent variable in RQs 3 and 7 (actual type 2 diabetes risk) was on a continuous scale (0 = risk score 0 (no risk), 1 = risk score one, 2 = risk score two, 3 = riskscore three, 4 = risk score four, and 5 = risk score five (actual risk). Therefore, the second assumption was met.

Next, I ran the simple linear regression in SPSS and used the output to test for assumptions 3-7 (there is a linear relationship, independence of observations, no significant outliers, homoscedasticity, normal distribution of residuals (Laerd Statistics, 2015a).

I reported the results of the simple linear regression using an alpha level (*p* value) set at 0.05, which determined if perception of peer susceptibility, self-efficacy or actual risk had a statistically significant relationship with perception of personal susceptibility (outcome variable 1) or diabetes-related health behavior (outcome variable 2). Then I reported the Pearson's multiple correlation coefficient (R) to determine the strength of the

relationship between the outcome and predictor variables. The multiple correlation coefficient of determination (\mathbb{R}^2 and Adjusted \mathbb{R}^2) was reported by stating the amount of variance in the outcome variable that was explained by the predictor variables. The regression coefficient B was then reported by stating the amount of increase that occurred in the dependent (outcome) variable with each 1-point increase in the independent (predictor) variable. The associated 95% confidence interval and *p* value were also reported to determine statistical significance of the relationship.

To perform the independent sample t-test for RQ's 4 and 8, several assumptions needed to be met. The first assumption was that there was one continuous dependent variable (Laerd Statistics, 2015b). In RQ4 and 8, the dependent variable (perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes) had an ordinal measurement (Never, Sometimes, Usually, Always), and was converted to a continuous scale measurement by assigning numbers to each level in the Likert scale (1 = Never, 2 = Disagree, 3 = Agree, 4 = Always). Therefore, assumption one was met. The second assumption was that there was one dichotomous independent variable (Laerd Statistics, 2015b). In RQs 4 and 8, the independent variable (family history of type 2 diabetes), was dichotomous (Yes, No). Therefore, assumption two was met. Then I conducted the explore procedure to test for assumptions 3-6 (independence of observations, no significant outliers in the 2 independent groups, the dependent variable is normally distributed for each group of the independent variable, there is homogeneity of variance) (Laerd Statistics, 2015b).

Then I reported the results of the independent sample t-test using descriptive statistics to identify the number of participants who had a family history of type 2

diabetes and those who did not have a family history of type 2 diabetes. Also, I reported the mean score and standard deviation for both perceived personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes, and type 2 diabetes-related health behavior for both groups. Since there was homogeneity of variances tested with the Levene's test for equality of variances, I reported the t statistic and the standard deviation under the equal variances assumed row from the independent samples t-test output box. The next results I reported were the mean difference in the scores for each group, the 95% confidence interval, the statistical significance of the mean difference using an alpha level (*p* value) set at 0.05, and the strength of the relationship using Cohen's d (Laerd Statistics, 2015b).

Threats to Validity

In research, the internal validity of a study allows for a researcher to make firm inferences about an existing relationship between variables (Leighton, 2012a), and the external validity allows for generalization of the study results to the larger population, and not unique to the sample population (Leighton, 2012b).

Threats to internal validity exist when there are multiple reasons for the relationship that exists between variables (Leighton, 2012a). One of the threats that could have existed in this study was the threat of self-selection. This occurs when participants are in a group based on their interest or due to life circumstances. In this study, the relationship between variables such as perception of peer Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health risk behavior could have been impacted by the housing environment of the student. For instance, students living at home with guardians or in their own apartment off campus may not have an idea of the type 2 diabetes risk of their

peers because they may not see their peers' health behavior habits outside of class periods. Thus, their health habits may not be influenced by that perception. To account for this threat, I included a survey item that addressed the participants housing. Another example of a threat to internal validity exists in the relationship between self-efficacy and perception of personal risk of type 2 diabetes. A previous type 2 diabetes or pre-diabetes diagnosis or taking diabetes medication could influence self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes and perception of personal susceptibility, thereby threatening the influence of self-efficacy and other predictive variables on perception of personal susceptibility. To eliminate this threat, participants who had been diagnosed with type 2 diabetes or were taking diabetes medication were excluded from the study.

Threats to external validity occur when there is a statistical interaction between variables that cause a change in the effect of the predictor variable across different levels of the outcome variable (Leighton, 2012b). One threat in this study was within participant selection. To have the ability to generalize the results of the study to the larger population of which the sample is a part of participants should be recruited unbiasedly (Leighton, 2012b). In this study, the threat to external validity through participant selection could have been raised if participants were only recruited from the discipline in which I teach as those students are easily accessible. However, to eliminate this threat I recruited participants from all different disciplines within the university.

Ethical Procedures

In this study I utilized human subjects for research, and it was carried out in an ethical manner. I recruited study participants from an HBCU. I obtained permission to access the study participants from the institutions IRB (see Appendix D). I also obtained permission to conduct the study from the Walden University IRB (approval no. 12-15-21-0298663). I submitted the HBCU and Walden University human subjects IRB forms along with supporting documents such as a description of the research study and methodology, the plan to protect human subjects, the letter/ announcement of invitation, the informed consent to participate document, and the survey.

I recruited study participants for the pilot and final study through an online invitation to participate, campus digital advertisements, and through announcements from university professors, instructors and advisors to their students and student groups. Through these messages, students were informed of days, times, and locations where they could visit to complete the survey. I asked permission of colleagues to set up a data collection area near their classes. With this recruitment process there were ethical concerns about informed consent and coercion. These concerns were addressed by providing detailed information about the study in the invitation to participate, including the study purpose and information about the researcher, why the researcher was conducting the study, the qualifications for participation, and that the survey required no personal identifying information (Rudestam, 2014). During data collection, I gave participants an informed consent document that consisted of information about the study, a statement of their right to decline participation without the fear of harm, retaliation, penalty, punishment, or any impact to grades in any course were included. This addressed the ethical concern of coercion. The informed consent also consisted of the number of questions and the length of time it should take them to complete the survey and specified

what the participant may gain from participating in the study, if there will be any risks associated with their participation, and if so to what magnitude (Rudestam, 2014). Additional information was included regarding how the information will be used, who they can contact for questions or concerns, the contact information for the researcher, and how all documents will be kept confidential (Rudestam, 2014). To participate in the survey, participants read the informed consent, and continued to complete the survey if they chose to. They kept the consent form for their records.

Data was collected through a survey instrument. The survey was confidential and did not require any personal identifying information to be recorded. The completed surveys are being kept completely confidential in my home office in a locked cabinet of which I only have access. Documents will be shredded after 5 years.

I recruited participants at the institution where I am a faculty member. To address any ethical considerations with coercion and conflict of interest, I did not administer the survey in my own classes. Students that were in my classes and wanted to participate were able to do so by their own decision based on advertisement. There were no rewards or incentives offered to the students for their participation.

Summary

This chapter presented an overview of the research design and methodology for this study. The research study design is a quantitative, non-experimental, correlational survey design that will attempt to describe the attitudes and opinions of the sample population. A non-probability homogenous convenience sample of African American college student females was the sample I recruited from an HBCU. Participants completed a cross-sectional survey that consisted of the ADA Diabetes Risk Test, and the Diabetes Risk Perception and Health Behavior Survey for African American Female College Students, that I developed. The ADA Diabetes Risk Test was used so that I could collect data on the predictor variables; type 2 diabetes family history and actual risk. Using the instrument I developed, I was able to collect data on both predictor (perception of peer type 2 diabetes susceptibility, self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes) and outcome variables (perception of personal type 2 diabetes susceptibility, type 2 diabetesrelated health risk behavior). The relationship of these variables was considered in eight hypotheses. To test these hypotheses, I input and analyzed data through SPSS 28 using a simple linear regression test, and an independent sample t-test. I addressed threats to internal validity of the research study by specific survey items, and elimination of participants with pre-existing diagnoses of either diabetes or pre-diabetes. Threats to external validity was also addressed by unbiased recruitment and selection of participants from the sample population. I gained access to the participants through the institutions IRB. Recruitment of the participants involved campus announcements, professor emails to students, and digital marketing flyers. Lastly, I identified ethical considerations such as informed consent, coercion, and conflict of interest. In the next chapter I present the results of the study through data analyses.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to examine the perception of personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students in relation to their perceived peer susceptibility, family history, actual Type 2 diabetes risk, and self-efficacy. The eight RQs and hypotheses explored in this study were:

RQ1: Is there a relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students?

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

 H_A1 : There is a statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

RQ2: Is there a relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students?

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

 H_A 2: There is a statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

RQ3: Is there a relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students?

 H_03 : There is no statistically significant relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

 H_A 3: There is a statistically significant relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

RQ4: Is there a statistically significant difference in perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes?

 H_0 4: There is no statistically significant difference in perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes. H_A 4: There is a statistically significant difference in perceived personal

susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes.

RQ5: Is there a relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students?

 H_05 : There is no statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

 $H_{A}5$: There is a statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

RQ6: Is there a relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students?

 H_06 : There is no statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

 H_A6 : There is a statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

RQ7: Is there a relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students?

 H_07 : There is no statistically significant relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

 H_A 7: There is a statistically significant relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

RQ8: Is there a difference in Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes?

 H_0 8: There is no statistically significant difference in Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes.

 $H_A 8$: There is a statistically significant difference in Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes.

In this chapter I will discuss the results of the pilot study, describe the data collection process and results, and provide descriptive characteristics of both the pilot sample and the final study sample. I will also explore the statistical analyses and findings from the simple linear regression and the independent sample t-test to answer the eight RQs and hypotheses. First, the pilot study process and results will be discussed. Next, the data collection process for the larger study will be presented along with the description of

the study population and its representation of the larger population. Finally, the results of the simple linear regression and independent sample t-test will be presented.

Pilot Study

The purpose of the pilot study was to establish internal consistency (reliability) of the survey instrument that I developed. I recruited the sample (see the invitation letter in Appendix E). Participants completed the survey, which consisted of questions requesting feedback about the content, formatting, length, and level of difficulty of the survey (see Appendix F). There was also space for participants to write in suggestions. There were no responses that suggested any changes needed to be made to the survey. During the process of pilot data collection, there was nothing to indicate that any changes were needed. Also, the survey took no more than about 10 minutes for completion, whereas the consent form and survey stated that it would take 20 minutes. I decided not to change the 20-minute time frame because I surmised that there might be some participants in the larger study who might take longer.

All participants in the pilot sample were African American female college students with one participant identifying as African American and Hispanic. Thirteen individuals completed the pilot survey; two of the 13 were ineligible to participate and were not included in the data set. One of the participants had been previously diagnosed with type 2 diabetes, and the other participant was above the targeted age range. The mean age of the 11 participants in the sample was 21 years; 54% were undergraduate seniors, and 62% lived on campus.
Pilot Study Results

To establish the reliability of the instrument, I used Cronbach's alpha, which measures internal consistency of the survey questions (Trobia et al., 2011). The survey instrument consisted of 30-items, seven of which were questions about demographics and were not included in the test for reliability. Therefore, I included 23 items in the reliability test. The instrument had high reliability ($\alpha = .88$). A Cronbach's alpha value of .70 or above denotes an instrument with good internal consistency/reliability (Trobia et al., 2011). The results are presented in Table 1.

Table 1

Pilot Survey Reliability

Cronbach's	Cronbach's	No. of items
alpha	alpha based on	
	standardized	
	items	
.880	.894	23

In addition, I tested each subscale for internal consistency. The perception of peer susceptibility to type 2 diabetes subscale consisted of 2 items ($\alpha = .66$); the self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes subscale consisted of 4 items ($\alpha = .37$); the perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes subscale consisted of 3 items ($\alpha = .85$); the type 2 diabetes-related health behavior subscale consisted of 14 items ($\alpha = .81$). Based on the Cronbach's alpha values, the subscales perception of personal susceptibility and health behavior had high reliability. The subscale perception of peer susceptibility had moderate reliability, while self-efficacy had little to no reliability (See Table 2).

Table 2

Subscale	Cronbach's Alpha	Cronbach's Alpha Based on Standardized Items	# of items
Perception of Peer Susceptibility	.667	.681	2
Self-Efficacy	.370	.441	4
Perception of Personal Susceptibility	.855	.858	3
Health Behavior	.813	.822	14

Pilot Survey Reliability of Subscales

Data Collection

For the final study, I began data collection on March 24, 2022. Data collection was done in person by pen and paper survey. To recruit participants, I sent out a flier through the campus announcements, and an email to university professors, student group advisors and student group members requesting that they share the flier with the female students in their classes and student groups. I set up data collection sites in convenient locations such as academic buildings and the student center. Participants attended one of the various data collection locations and times listed on the flier. Other students were recruited at the data collection sites by the researcher asking if they would like to participate. Data collection ended on April 27, 2022, as the sample size was reached. The data collection process took 5 weeks, and there was a total of 116 completed surveys (See Figure 2). There were 104 surveys that I was able to include in the final study. 12 of the surveys were excluded due to missing demographic information, an incomplete diabetes risk test, and participants who did not meet the inclusion criteria. Data was entered into an excel spreadsheet and downloaded into SPSS 28, coded, and went through data cleaning. Also, I reverse coded survey items so that negative questions were transformed into positive questions, and there was consistency with the scores. A high score transformed into a corresponding low score for consistency.

Figure 2





Descriptive Characteristics of Sample

The sample was a non-probability, homogenous convenience sample of African American female college students at one university located in the southeast. The demographic variables that I explored in the study were age, academic classification (freshman, sophomore, junior, senior), ethnicity (Hispanic or Latino/a/x; Not Hispanic or Latino/a/x), race (American Indian/ American Native, Asian, Black/African American, Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, White, Other), current residence (campus/residence hall, home with parents/ guardians/ relative, off campus apartment, do not have permanent housing), diagnosed with pre-diabetes (yes, no), and told you were at risk for type 2 diabetes or prediabetes (yes, no). The minimum and maximum ages were 18, and 24, respectively. The mean age of the sample was 19 years, which represented 30.8% of the sample population (See Figure 3).

Figure 3

Sample Population Age



Most of the sample were Freshmen and made up 35.6%, 24% were sophomores, 23.1% were juniors, and 17.3% were seniors (See Figure 4).

Figure 4

Sample Population Academic Classification



Only 4% of the sample identified as Hispanic/Latino/a/x, and 96% identified as non-Hispanic/Latino/a/x. One hundred percent of the sample identified as Black/ African American. Participants that reported more than one race were also American Indian/ American Native (2.9%), Hawaiian/ Pacific Islander (1%), White (1.9%), Other (1%) (See Table 3).

Table 3

Ethnicity				
Race/ Ethnicity	Frequency	Percentage (%)		
Hispanic	4	3.8		
Not Hispanic	96	92.3		
	Race			
	Frequency	Percentage (%)		
Black/ African American	104	100		
American Indian	3	2.9		
Hawaiian/ Pacific Islander	1	1		
White	2	1.9		
Other	1	1		

Sample Population Race and Ethnicity

Almost 84% of the population lived in campus residence halls/ student housing, 8.7% lived at home, and about 8% lived in an off-campus apartment. There were no participants without permanent housing (See Table 4).

Table 4

Sample Population Residence

	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Campus Residence Hall	87	83.7
Home with parents	9	8.7
Off campus apartment	8	7.7

Almost 5% of the sample had been previously diagnosed with pre-diabetes by their health care profession, while 95.2% had not been previously diagnosed. 10.6% were told by their health care professional that they were at risk for type 2 diabetes or pre-diabetes, and 89.4% have not ever been told they were at risk (see Table 5).

Table 5

Sample Population Diabetes History

Have you ever been diagnosed with pre- diabetes by a healthcare professional?	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Yes	5	4.8
No	99	99.2
Has a healthcare professional ever told you that you were at risk for type 2 diabetes or pre-diabetes?	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Yes	11	10.6
No	93	89.4

The average age of undergraduate college students is 18-24 (National Center for Education Statistics, 2018). This sample was representative of undergraduate college students with a participant age range of 18 to 24 years of age.

Results

The results of the study were determined by conducting quantitative data analyses. The first analysis consisted of descriptive statistics to characterize the sample according to the independent and dependent variables. The second analysis was a simple linear regression to determine the statistically significant relationship between variables (self-efficacy and perception of personal susceptibility; perception of peer susceptibility and perception of personal susceptibility; actual diabetes risk and perception of personal susceptibility; self-efficacy and type 2 diabetes-related health behavior; perception of peer susceptibility and type 2 diabetes-related health behavior; actual type 2 diabetes risk and type 2 diabetes-related health risk behavior). The independent sample t-test was the third analysis to determine the statistically significant difference between variables (perception of personal susceptibility of type 2 diabetes and those with and without a family history of type 2 diabetes, type 2 diabetes-related health behavior and those with and without a family history of type 2 diabetes).

Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics were determined by calculating the mean, standard deviation, standard error, frequency, minimum and maximum of the independent (family history of type 2 diabetes, actual type 2 diabetes risk, perception of peer-susceptibility to type 2 diabetes, self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes risk) and dependent variables (perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes, type 2 diabetes-related health behavior). They results are presented in Table 6 and Table 7.

Table 6

	Mean	Minimum	Maximum	Standard Deviation	Standard Error
Self-Efficacy	12.79	10.00	16.00	1.33	.237
Peer Susceptibility	5.11	2.00	8.00	1.07	.237
Personal Susceptibility	5.60	3.00	11.00	2.01	.237
Health Behavior	37.03	20.00	48.00	5.17	.251
Actual Type 2 Diabetes Risk	1.61	0	5.00	1.092	.107

Descriptive Statistics for Independent and Dependent Variables

Table 7

Descriptive Statistics for Family History

	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Yes	30	28.8
No	74	71.2

Self-Efficacy of Controlling Type 2 Diabetes Risk

To measure the variable self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk, I used four items from the survey instrument (see Appendix C). The participants responses were either strongly disagree, disagree, agree, and strongly agree.

For the first item, "I believe that I do not have much control over developing diabetes", many of the participants (51%) disagreed that they did not have much control over their type 2 diabetes risk, 26% strongly disagreed, but 23.1% agreed. The second

item, "I believe that my current health habits will keep me in control of my risk for type 2 diabetes", most of the participants agreed that their current health habits will keep them in control of their risk for type 2 diabetes, 14.4% strongly agreed, 26% and 1.9% disagreed and strongly disagreed. For the third item, "if I improve my health habits, I will have better control over type 2 diabetes risk", 67 (64.4%) participants strongly agreed that improving their health habits will give them better control over their type 2 diabetes risk, 36 (34.6%) agreed, 1 (1%) disagreed, but no one strongly disagreed. There were 58.7% and 34.6% that agreed and strongly agreed to the fourth item, "controlling my risk for type 2 diabetes will make me less likely to develop the disease" (see Table 8).

Table 8

I believe that I do not have much control over developing diabetes.	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Strongly Agree	0	0
Agree	24	23.1
Disagree	53	51
Strongly Disagree	27	26
I believe that my current health habits will keep me in control of my risk for type 2 diabetes.	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Strongly Agree	15	14.4
Agree	60	57.7
Disagree	27	26
Strongly Disagree	2	1.9
If I improve my current health habits, I will have better control over my risk for type 2 diabetes.	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Strongly Agree	67	64.4
Agree	36	34.6
Disagree	1	1
Strongly Disagree	0	0
Controlling my risk for type 2 diabetes will make me less likely to develop the disease.	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Strongly Agree	36	34.6
Agree	61	58.7
Disagree	7	6.7
Strongly Disagree	0	0

Self-Efficacy for Controlling Type 2 Diabetes Risk

Perception of Peer Susceptibility to Type 2 Diabetes

The variable perception of peer susceptibility to type 2 diabetes was measured by 2 survey items from the Diabetes Risk Perception and Health Behavior Survey for African American Female College Students. The participants responses were either strongly disagree, disagree, agree, and strongly agree. For the first item "I have better control over my risk for type 2 diabetes than my peers", 61 (58.5%) participants stated they either agree (51.9%) or strongly agree (6.6%), while 43 (41.4%) of the participants stated that they either disagree (40.4%) or strongly disagree (1%) that they have better control over their type 2 diabetes risk than their peers. The second item was "I am less likely to develop type 2 diabetes than my peers". Fifty participants (48.1%) stated that they either agree (45.2%) or strongly agree (2.9%), and 54 participants (51.9%) stated that they either disagree (48.1%) or strongly disagree (3.8%) that they were less likely to develop type 2 diabetes than their peers. (See Table 9)

Table 9

I have better control over my risk for type 2 diabetes than my peers.	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Strongly Agree	7	6.7
Agree	54	51.9
Disagree	42	40.4
Strongly Disagree	1	1
I am less likely to develop type 2 diabetes than my peers.	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Strongly Agree	3	2.9
Strongly Agree	3 47	2.9 45.2
Strongly Agree Agree Disagree	3 47 50	2.9 45.2 48.1

Perception of Peer Susceptibility to Type 2 Diabetes

Perception of Personal Susceptibility to Type 2 Diabetes

To measure the variable perception of personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes, I used 3 items from the survey instrument. The participants responses were either strongly disagree, disagree, agree, and strongly agree. In response to the first item "I believe that I am currently at risk for type 2 diabetes", almost half of the participants (47.1%) responded strongly disagree, 37.5% responded disagree, 11.5% responded agree, and 3.8% responded strongly agree. In response to the second item "I am concerned that I will develop diabetes while I am in college", half of the participants responded strongly disagree (50%), 37.5% responded disagree, 11.5% responded agree, and 1% responded strongly agree. In response to the third item "I am concerned that I will develop diabetes while I am in college", half of the participants responded strongly disagree, 50%), 37.5% responded disagree, 21.2% responded agree, and 1% responded strongly agree. In my lifetime", 38.5% responded disagree, 21.2% responded strongly disagree, 34.6 responded agree, and 5.8% responded strongly agree (see Table 10).

Table 10

I believe that I am currently at risk for type 2 diabetes.	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Strongly Agree	4	3.8
Agree	12	11.5
Disagree	39	37.5
Strongly Disagree	49	47.1
I am concerned that I will develop diabetes while I am in college.	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Strongly Agree	1	1
Agree	12	11.5
Disagree	39	37.5
Strongly Disagree	52	50
I am concerned that I will develop diabetes in my lifetime.	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Strongly Agree	6	5.8
Agree	36	34.6
Disagree	40	38.5
Strongly Disagree	22	21.2

Perception of Personal Susceptibility to Type 2 Diabetes

Type 2 Diabetes-Related Health Behavior

To measure the variable Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior, I used 14 survey items from the survey instrument. The first 10 items were concerning diet, one item was about physical activity, and the last three items were about health care visits. The participants responses were never, sometimes, usually, always. In the health care item, participants also responded N/A if they did not have a health care provider. The first item

asked, "on average, how often do you eat at least 2 ¹/₂ cups of vegetable each day?". More than half (55.8%) sometimes eats at least 2 $\frac{1}{2}$ cups of vegetables each day, 16.3% never does, 24% usually does, and 3.8% always eats the recommended number of vegetables each day. The second item asked, "how often do you eat at least 2 cups of fruit each day?". Forty-seven percent of the participants sometimes eats at least 2 cups of fruit each day, 31.7% usually does, 8.7% always does, and 12.5% never does. The third item asked, "how often does half of your daily grain intake come from whole grains?". Almost half of the participants responded sometimes (49%), 29.8% responded usually, 7.7% responded always, and 13.5% responded that their daily grain intake is never from whole grains. The fourth item asked, "on average, how often do you eat meat high in saturated fat and sodium?". Most of the participants (48.1%) stated that they usually eat meat high in saturated fat and sodium, 28.8% stated sometimes, 7.7% stated never, while 15.4% stated that they always eat meat high in saturated fat and sodium. The fifth item asked, "how often do you eat lean meat and other sources of protein?", and 43.3% of participants responded usually. An equal number of participants responded sometimes (26.9%) and always (26.9%), while 2.9% stated that they never eat lean meat and other sources of protein. "How often is the juice you drink 100% fruit juice?" was the next item. Nearly half (49%) of the participants stated sometimes, 26.9% stated usually, 19.2 stated always, and 4.8% stated that they never drink 100% fruit juice.

Participants responded to the next item "on average, how often do you drink sugar sweetened beverages?" sometimes (47.1%), usually (26.9%), always (22.1%), and never (3.8%). In response to the item "how often do you eat unhealthy snacks from the vending

machine?", participants sometimes (40.4%) ate unhealthy snacks, 32.7% usually ate unhealthy snacks, 17.3% always ate unhealthy snacks, while 9.6% never ate unhealthy snack from the vending machine. The next item asked, "how often do you eat healthy snack from the vending machine?". Participants responded sometimes (49%), usually (27.9%), always (4.8%), and never (18.3%). The last question about diet, "how often do you read food labels when making food choices?", 40 participants (38.5%) sometimes read food labels, 19 (18.3%) usually read them, 11 (10.6%) always read them, while 34 (32.7%) never read food labels.

The one physical activity item asked, "on a weekly average, how often do you perform at least 150 minutes of moderate physical activity?", 39.4% of participants usually performed the recommended amount of physical activity each week, 26.9% sometimes performed, 27.9% always performed, while 5.8% never performed at least 150 minutes of moderate physical activity per week.

The next item was "how often do you have a yearly visit with your health care provider?". Almost half (46.2%) of the participants always have a yearly visit with their health care provider, 25% usually have a visit, 19.2% sometimes have a visit, 1.9% never have a visit, while 7.7% did not have a health care provider. Participant responses for the next item, "when you visit your healthcare provider for a yearly checkup, how often is your blood sugar checked?" were always (32.7%), usually (17.3%), sometimes (24%), never (14.4%), and 11.5% who did not respond. The final item in the survey was "when you visit your healthcare provider for a yearly checkup, how often is your blood pressure checked?". There were 64.4% that always have their blood pressure checked, 14.4%

usually have it checked, 8.7% sometimes have it checked, 1% never have it checked, and 11.5% did not respond.

Family History of Type 2 Diabetes

The variable family history of type 2 diabetes was measured using one survey item from the "American Diabetes Association Diabetes Risk Test", "do you have a mother, father, sister, or brother with diabetes?". The responses were yes or no. Most of the sample (71.2%) did not have a family history of type 2 diabetes, while 28.8% did have a family history of type 2 diabetes (see figure 5).

Figure 5

Family History of Type 2 Diabetes



Actual Type 2 Diabetes Risk

The variable family history of type 2 diabetes was measured using the "American Diabetes Association Diabetes Risk Test". Responses from the 7 items were totaled into a diabetes risk score. Most of the sample had risk scores of 1 (35.6%), 2 (26%), and 3 (20.2%). 1.9% had a risk score of 4, 1% of the sample had a risk score of 5, and 15.4% had a risk score of 0 (see Figure 6).

Actual Type 2 Diabetes Risk



Assumptions

There were several assumptions that the data had to meet to use the simple linear regression and the independent sample t-test to answer the RQs.

Research Question 1 Assumptions

A simple linear regression was used to test the assumptions of the data. Linearity was established through visual inspection of a scatterplot of perceived peer susceptibility to type 2 diabetes and perceived personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes (see Figure 7). There was independence of residuals as assessed by a Durbin-Watson statistic of 1.986. There were no outliers observed, and there was homoscedasticity as assessed by visual inspection of a plot of standardized predicted values. This was confirmed by a Levene's Test for Equality of Variance's, which was not statistically significant (p > 0.05), indicating that equal variances are assumed as (See Table 11). Residuals were normally distributed by visual inspection of a normal probability plot, (see Figure 8).



Scatterplot of Personal Susceptibility by Peer Susceptibility

Table 11

RQ1 Levene's Test for Equality of Variances

		Levene Statistic	df1	df2	Sig.
Personal Susceptibility	Based on Mean	1.440	5	97	.217

Tests the null hypothesis that the error variance of the dependent variable is equal across groups

a. Dependent variable: Personal Susceptibilityb. Design: Intercept + Peer Susceptibility



RQ.1 Normal Probability Plot of Regression Standardized Residual

Research Question 2 Assumptions

A simple linear regression was used to test the assumptions of the data. Linearity was established through visual inspection of a scatterplot of self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes as shown in Figure 9. There was independence of residuals as assessed by a Durbin-Watson statistic of 1.904. There were no outliers observed, and there was homoscedasticity as assessed by visual inspection of a plot of standardized predicted values and confirmed by a Levene's Test for Equality of Variance's, which was not statistically significant (p > 0.05), indicating that equal variances are assumed (See Table 12). Residuals were normally distributed by visual inspection of a normal probability plot (see Figure 10).

Scatterplot of Personal Susceptibility by Self-Efficacy



Table 12

RQ.2 Levene's Test for Equality of Variances

		Levene Statistic	df1	df2	Sig.
Personal Susceptibility	Based on Mean	1.416	6	97	.216

Tests the null hypothesis that the error variance of the dependent variable is equal across groups

a. Dependent variable: Personal Susceptibility b. Design: Intercept + Self-Efficacy



RQ.2 Normal Probability Plot of Regression Standardized Residual

Research Question 3 Assumptions

A simple linear regression was run to test the assumptions of the data and answer the research question. Linearity was established through visual inspection of a scatterplot of actual type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes (see Figure 11). There was independence of residuals as assessed by a Durbin-Watson statistic of 1.905. There were no outliers observed, and there was homoscedasticity as assessed by visual inspection of a plot of standardized predicted values. This was confirmed by a Levene's Test for Equality of Variance's, which was not statistically significant (p >0.05), indicating that equal variances are assumed (see Table 13). Residuals were normally distributed by visual inspection of a normal probability plot (see Figure 12).

Note. Independent variable: Self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes risk

Scatterplot of Personal Susceptibility by Actual Type 2 Diabetes Risk



Table 13

RQ.3 Levene's Test for Equality of Variances

		Levene Statistic	df1	df2	Sig.
Personal	Based on	1.611	4	98	.178
Susceptibility	Mean				

Tests the null hypothesis that the error variance of the dependent variable is equal across groups

a. Dependent variable: Personal Susceptibility
b. Design: Intercept + Actual Risk

0.6

0.4

0.2



RQ.3 Normal Probability Plot of Regression Standardized Residuals

Note. Independent variable: Actual Type 2 Diabetes Risk

Research Question 4 Assumptions

An explore procedure and independent t-test was run to test the assumptions. There was independence of observation as there was no relationship between the participants in each group. There were no outliers in the data as assessed by the inspection of a boxplot (see Figure 13). The perceived personal susceptibility scores for those with a family history of type 2 diabetes was normally distributed as assessed by a Shapiro-Wilks test (p > 0.05) (see Table 14). The scores for those without a family history of type 2 diabetes were not normally distributed (p < 0.05) (see Table 14). I decided to proceed with the simple linear regression as non-normality does not affect the

^{0.0 •} 0.0 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.8 1.0 **Observed Cumulative Probability**

type I error rate greatly (Laerd, 2015b). There was homogeneity of variance as assessed by Levene's Test for equality of variances (p < 0.05) (see Table 15).

Figure 13





Table 14

RQ.4 Shapiro-Wilk Test for Normality

	Family ^ь History	Statistic	df	Sig.
Personal Susceptibility ^a	No	.924	74	< .001
Susceptionity	Yes	.934	30	.064

Note. a. Dependent variable – perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes, b. Independent variable – family history of type 2 diabetes

Table 15

		F	Sig.	t	df
Personal	Equal	.023	.879	-1.058	102
Susceptibility	Variances				
	Assumed				

RQ.4 Levene's Test for Equality of Variances

Note. Tests the null hypothesis that the error variance of the dependent variable is equal across groups, Dependent variable: Perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes, b. Design: Intercept + Family History of type 2 diabetes

Research Question 5 Assumptions

A simple linear regression was run to test the assumptions of the data. Linearity was established through visual inspection of a scatterplot of perceived peer susceptibility to type 2 diabetes and type 2 diabetes-related health behavior (see Figure 14). There was independence of residuals as assessed by a Durbin-Watson statistic of 1.962. No outliers were observed, and there was homoscedasticity as assessed by visual inspection of a plot of standardized predicted values. This was confirmed by using a Levene's Test for Equality of Variance's, which was not statistically significant (p > 0.05), indicating that equal variances are assumed (see Table 16). Residuals were normally distributed by visual inspection of a normal probability plot (see Figure 15).

Scatterplot of Perceived Peer Susceptibility by Health Behavior



Table 16

RQ.5 Levene's Test for Equality of Variances

		Levene Statistic	df1	df2	Sig.
Health	Based on	1.626	5	97	.160
Behavior	Mean				

Tests the null hypothesis that the error variance of the dependent variable is equal across groups a. Dependent variable: Health Behavior b. Design: Intercept + Peer Susceptibility

RQ.5 Normal Probability Plot of Regression Standardized Residuals



Note. Dependent variable: health behavior, independent variable: perceived peer susceptibility

Research Question 6 Assumptions

A simple linear regression was run to test the assumptions of the data. Linearity was established through visual inspection of a scatterplot of self-efficacy and type 2 diabetes-related health behavior (see Figure 16). There was independence of residuals as assessed by a Durbin-Watson statistic of 1.894. There were no outliers observed and there was homoscedasticity as assessed by visual inspection of a plot of standardized predicted values. This was confirmed by Levene's Test for Equality of Variance's, which was not statistically significant (p > 0.05), indicating that equal variances are assumed (see Table 17). Residuals were normally distributed by visual inspection of a normal probability plot (see Figure 17).

Scatterplot of Self-Efficacy by Health Behavior



Table 17

RQ.6 Levene's Test for Equality of Variances

		Levene Statistic	df1	df2	Sig.
Health Behavior	Based on Mean	.949	6	97	.464

Note. Tests the null hypothesis that the error variance of the dependent variable is equal across groups, Dependent variable: Health Behavior, Independent variable: Self Efficacy



RQ.6 Normal Probability Plot of Regression Standardized Residuals

Note. Dependent variable: health behavior, Independent variable: self-efficacy

Research Question 7 Assumptions

A simple linear regression was run to test the assumptions of the data. Linearity was established through visual inspection of a scatterplot of actual type 2 diabetes risk and type 2 diabetes-related health behavior (see Figure 18). There was independence of residuals as assessed by a Durbin-Watson statistic of 1.947. There were no outliers observed. There was homoscedasticity as assessed by visual inspection of a plot of standardized predicted values and was confirmed by using a Levene's Test for Equality of Variance's, which was not statistically significant (p > 0.05), indicating that equal variances are assumed (see Table 18). Residuals were normally distributed by visual inspection of a normal probability plot (see Figure 19).

Scatterplot of Actual Type 2 Diabetes Risk by Health Behavior



Table 18

RQ.7 Levene's Test for Equality of Variances

		Levene Statistic	df1	df2	Sig.
Health	Based on	553	4	98	697
Behavior	Mean		•	20	.0,7

Note. Tests the null hypothesis that the error variance of the dependent variable is equal across groups, Dependent variable: Health Behavior, Independent variable: Actual Type 2 Diabetes Risk





Note: Dependent variable: health behavior, Independent variable; actual type 2 diabetes risk

Research Question 8 Assumptions

An explore procedure and independent t-test was run to test the assumptions. There was independence of observation as there was no relationship between the participants in each group. There was one outlier in the data as assessed by the inspection of a boxplot (see Figure 20). I made the decision to keep the outlier in the data set. The health behavior scores for those with (p > 0.05) and without (p > 0.05) a family history of type 2 diabetes was normally distributed as assessed by a Shapiro-Wilks test (see Table 19). There was homogeneity of variance as assessed by Levene's Test for equality of variances (p < 0.05) (see Table 20).



RQ. 8 Boxplot Check for Outliers

Note. One outlier in the dataset, entry #88

Table 19

RO.8 Shapiro-Wilk T	st for Normality
---------------------	------------------

	Family ^b History	Statistic	df	Sig.
Health Behavior ^a	No	.986	74	.591
	Yes	.980	30	.819

Note. a. Dependent variable –type 2 diabetes-related health behavior, b. Independent variable – family history of type 2 diabetes

Table 20

RQ.8 Levene's Test for Equality of Variances

		F	Sig.	t	df
Personal	Equal	.009	.923	.177	102
Susceptibility	Variances				
	Assumed				

Note. a. Dependent variable – perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes b. Independent variable – family history of type 2 diabetes

Statistical Analysis and Findings

Quantitative data analysis was used to answer each of the 8 research questions. The results of the simple linear regression, I reported using an alpha level (p value) set at 0.05. I reported the Pearson's multiple correlation coefficient (R) to determine the strength of the relationship between the outcome and predictor variables. The multiple correlation coefficient of determination (R^2 and Adjusted R^2), I reported by stating the amount of variance in the outcome variable that was explained by the predictor variables. Then, I reported the regression coefficient B by stating the amount of increase that occurred in the dependent (outcome) variable with each 1-point increase in the independent (predictor) variable. Also, I reported the associated 95% confidence interval and p value to determine statistical significance of the relationship.

The results of the independent sample t-test, I reported using descriptive statistics to identify the number of participants who had a family history of type 2 diabetes and those who did not have a family history of type 2 diabetes. Also reported was the mean score and standard deviation. The t-statistic and the standard deviation under the equal variances assumed row, I reported from the independent samples t-test output box. Next, I reported the mean difference in the scores for each group, the 95% confidence interval, the statistical significance of the mean difference using an alpha level (*p* value) set at 0.05, and the strength of the relationship using Cohen's d.

Research Question 1

I performed a simple linear regression to answer RQ1, which was, Is there a relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and perceived

personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students? The corresponding hypotheses were as follows:

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

 H_A1 : There is a statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to type 2 diabetes and perceived personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

The results of the simple linear regression show that there is a statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to type 2 diabetes and perceived personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes, F(1,102) = 20.667, p < .001, with perceived peer susceptibility accounting for 16% of the variation in perceived personal susceptibility with adjusted R² = 0.160, which is a large effect size. For every 1 unit increase in the perception of peer susceptibility score, there is a 0.769 (95% CI, -1.105 to -0.434) decrease in the perception of personal susceptibility score and is statistically significant (p < .001). The null hypothesis was rejected, and the alternative hypothesis was retained.

Research Question 2

I performed a simple linear regression to answer RQ2, which was, Is there a relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students? The corresponding hypotheses were as follows:

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

 H_A 2: There is a statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

The results of the simple linear regression show that there is a statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes and perceived personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes, F(1,102) = 7.437, p < 0.05, with self-efficacy accounting for 5.9% of the variation in perceived personal susceptibility with adjusted $R^2 = 0.05$, which is a small effect size. For every 1 unit increase in the self-efficacy score, there is a 0.395 (95% CI, -0.683 to -0.108) decrease in the perception of personal susceptibility score and is statistically significant (p < .001). The null hypothesis was rejected, and the alternative hypothesis was retained.

Research Question 3

I performed a simple linear regression to answer RQ3, which was, Is there a relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students? The corresponding hypotheses were as follows:

 H_03 : There is no statistically significant relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among African American female college students.

 H_A 3: There is a statistically significant relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes among

African American female college students.

The results of the simple linear regression show that there was a statistically significant relationship between actual type 2 diabetes risk and perceived personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes, F(1,102) = 11.790, p < .001, actual type 2 diabetes risk accounted for 9.5% of the variation in perceived personal susceptibility with adjusted $R^2 = 0.095$, which is a small effect size. For every 1 unit increase in the actual type 2 diabetes risk score, there is a 0.593 (95% CI, 0.250 to 0.935) increase in the perception of personal susceptibility score and is statistically significant (p < .001). The null hypothesis was rejected, and the alternative hypothesis was retained.

Research Question 4

I ran an independent samples t-test to answer RQ4, which was, Is there a statistically significant difference in perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes? The corresponding hypotheses were as follows:

 H_0 4: There is no statistically significant difference in perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes.

 H_A 4: There is a statistically significant difference in perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes.
The results of the independent samples t-test showed that there were 74 participants with no family history of type 2 diabetes, and there were 30 with a family history. Data are mean \pm standard deviation, unless otherwise stated. The mean personal susceptibility score for those without a family history of type 2 diabetes (5.4 ± 1.9) was lower than those with a family history (5.9 ± 2.0), a difference of 0.46 but not statistically significant (95% CI, -1.3 to 0.40), t(-1.058) = 102, p = 0.879, d = -0.23 a small effect size . The null hypothesis was retained.

Research Question 5

I performed a simple linear regression to answer RQ5, which was, Is there a relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students? The corresponding hypotheses were as follows:

 H_05 : There is no statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

 $H_{A}5$: There is a statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

The results of the simple linear regression show that there is no statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to type 2 diabetes and type 2 diabetes-related health behavior, F(1,102) = 0.642, p > .05. Perceived peer susceptibility did not account for any of the variation in health behavior with $R^2 = 0.006$

and adjusted $R^2 = -0.003$ which is insignificant. For every 1 unit increase in the perception of peer susceptibility score, there was a 0.416 (95% CI, -0.613 to 1.446) increase in the health behavior score but was not statistically significant (p > 0.05). The null hypothesis was retained, and the alternative hypothesis was rejected.

Research Question 6

I performed a simple linear regression to answer RQ6, which was, Is there a relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students? The corresponding hypotheses were as follows:

 H_06 : There is no statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

 H_A6 : There is a statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

The results of the simple linear regression show that there is a statistically significant relationship between self-efficacy and type 2 diabetes-related health behavior, F(1,102) = 5.461, p < 0.05. Self-efficacy accounted for 4.2% of the variation in health behavior, with adjusted $R^2 = 0.042$, which is a small effect size. For every 1 unit increase in the self-efficacy score, there is a 0.959 (95% CI, -1.105 to -0.434) increase in the type 2 diabetes-related health behavior score and is statistically significant (p < 0.05). The null hypothesis was rejected, and the alternative hypothesis was retained.

Research Question 7

I performed a simple linear regression test to answer RQ7, which was, Is there a relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students? The corresponding hypotheses were as follows:

 H_07 : There is no statistically significant relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

 H_A 7: There is a statistically significant relationship between actual Type 2 diabetes risk and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students.

The results of the simple linear regression show that there is no statistically significant relationship between perceived peer susceptibility to type 2 diabetes and type 2 diabetes-related health behavior, F(1,102) = 0.635, p > 0.05. Actual type 2 diabetes risk did not account for any of the variation in health behavior with $R^2 = 0.006$ and adjusted $R^2 = -0.004$ which is insignificant. For every 1 unit increase in the actual type 2 diabetes risk score, there was a 0.406 (95% CI, -1.418 to 0.605) decrease in the health behavior score but was not statistically significant (p > 0.05). The null hypothesis was retained, and the alternative hypothesis was rejected.

Research Question 8

I ran an independent samples t-test to answer RQ8, which was, Is there a difference in Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes? The corresponding hypotheses were as follows:

 H_0 8: There is no statistically significant difference in Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes.

 H_A 8: There is a statistically significant difference in Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior between African American female college students with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes.

The results of the independent samples t-test showed that there were 74 participants without a family history of type 2 diabetes, and there were 30 participants with a family history of type 2 diabetes. Data are mean \pm standard deviation, unless otherwise stated. The mean health behavior score for those without a family history of type 2 diabetes (35.28 ± 15.6) was 0.217 points higher than those with a family history (35.06 ± 5.7) . The mean difference was not statistically significant (95% CI, -2.21 to 2.65), t(0.177) = 102, p = 0.860, d = 0.038, which is a very small effect size. The null hypothesis was retained.

Summary

In this chapter I presented the results of the study based on quantitative analysis. I discussed the results of the pilot study, which showed that the survey instrument developed for this study had high reliability. Perception of personal susceptibility and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior were the subscales in the instrument with high reliability.

The sample population consisted of participants with an age range of 18-24. Most of the sample was 19 years of age and were freshmen. One hundred percent of the population identified as African American, with about 5% reporting one other race. The descriptive statistics for the independent and dependent variables were reported. Thirty (28.8%) of the participants had a family history of type 2 diabetes, while 74 (71.2%) did not. Mean scores for the independent and dependent variables showed that most of the sample population had moderate self-efficacy for controlling type 2 diabetes (12.79 out of 10.00-16.00 score range), moderate perception of peer susceptibility to type 2 diabetes (5.11 out of 2.00-8.00 score rage), low perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes (5.60 out of 3.00-11.00 score range), moderate health behavior (37.03 out of 20.00-48.00 score range), and little to no actual risk for type 2 diabetes (1.61 out of 0.00-5.00 score range). A simple linear regression and an independent sample t-test was used to answer the research questions. The results showed that as participants perceived their peers were at risk for type 2 diabetes, there was a decrease in the perception of personal susceptibility. This was a statistically significant relationship. Self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes risk, and perception of personal susceptibility had a statistically significant relationship, as self-efficacy increased, personal susceptibility decreased.

Actual type 2 diabetes risk and perception of personal susceptibility had a statistically significant relationship. As actual type 2 diabetes increased, so did perception of personal susceptibility. The results also showed a difference in the mean perception of personal susceptibility score as the score for those without a family history of type 2 diabetes were lower than those with a family history, although the difference was not statistically significant. There was no statistically significant relationship found between perception of peer susceptibility and health behavior, nor actual type 2 diabetes risk and health behavior, although when perception of peer susceptibility and increased, so did health behavior, but when actual type 2 diabetes risk increased, health behavior decreased.

The relationship between self-efficacy and health behavior was statistically significant, and as self-efficacy increased, so did health behavior. The results showed that there was a difference in the mean health behavior score, which was higher in those without a family history of type 2 diabetes, than those without a family history, but it was not statistically significant. In the next chapter I will present the findings from the results and discuss how they relate to the current literature, and to the constructs presented in the HBM. Implications for social change and recommendations for further study will also be addressed.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative cross-sectional, correlational study was to examine the perception of personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetesrelated health behavior among African American female college students in relation to their perceived peer susceptibility, family history, actual Type 2 diabetes risk, and selfefficacy. I administered a self-report survey to a non-probability homogenous convenience sample of African American female college students attending an HBCU. This study was conducted to address the gap in knowledge concerning Type 2 diabetes in college students, particularly African American female college students. This information is lacking in the literature despite rising rates of type 2 diabetes in youth, particularly African American youth (CDC, 2019b). In reviewing the literature, I found few studies of diabetes in African American female college students exclusively (Corliss et al., 2016), although this group is impacted by the increasing trends of Type 2 diabetes rates among the youth population, as well as the high rates of Type 2 diabetes and associated risk factors among African American adult women (Bancks et al., 2017; Bower et al., 2019; Office of Minority Health, 2019).

For data collection, I combined the research instrument that I developed and the American Diabetes Association Diabetes Risk Test instrument that the ADA (2019) developed into one survey. Pilot testing for the Diabetes Risk Perception and Health Behavior Survey for African American Female College Students established reliability with a Cronbach's alpha test for internal consistency. The results showed that the instrument had high reliability ($\alpha = 0.880$), and personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes ($\alpha = 0.855$) and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior ($\alpha = 0.813$) had high reliability.

In conducting this study, I sought to identify the factors associated with perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among African American female college students. Using the HBM as a theoretical framework, I wanted to understand the factors that were associated with this population's perceived risk for Type 2 diabetes and their health behavior. The results of this study may inform the creation of Type 2 diabetes intervention programs for African American female college students.

The dependent variables explored in this study were perceived personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes-related health behavior. The independent variables were perceived peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes, self-efficacy of controlling Type 2 diabetes risk, actual Type 2 diabetes risk, and family history. I used descriptive statistics to identify the characteristics of the sample population, a linear regression to answer RQs 1-3 and 4-7, and an independent t-test to answer RQs 4 and 8.

The overall results of this study included the mean scores for the independent and dependent variables. The sample had moderate self-efficacy for controlling Type 2 diabetes with a mean score of 12.79 (10.00 -16.00 score range), moderate perception of peer susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes with a mean score of 5.11 (2.00-8.00 score rage), low perception of personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes with a mean score of 5.60 (3.00-11.00 score range), moderate health behavior with a mean score of 37.03 (20.00-48.00 score range), and little to no actual risk for Type 2 diabetes with a mean score of

1.61 (0.00-5.00 score range). The results also answered the RQs by identifying which independent variables had a significant relationship to each of the dependent variables and indicating whether there was any difference among those with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes. The findings showed that perceived peer susceptibility and self-efficacy had an inverse relationship with personal susceptibility. Actual Type 2 diabetes risk had a positive relationship with perceived personal risk. Self-efficacy was the only variable that had a statistically significant relationship with health behavior, and it was positive. There were also no significant differences in perceived personal susceptibility and health behavior between those with and without a family history of Type 2 diabetes.

Interpretation of the Findings

The findings of this study extend the existing body of knowledge but also address a gap in the literature on current research on diabetes perception in the African American female college student population. The results of this study are similar to existing studies but conflict with other studies that have looked at similar relationships between perceived personal susceptibility and factors such as self-efficacy. The results of this study also challenge the premise of the HBM in that personal susceptibility to a health threat can lead to action against that threat.

Peer Susceptibility and Personal Susceptibility

The results of the simple linear regression showed that perception of peer susceptibility of Type 2 diabetes and perception of personal susceptibility to Type 2 diabetes had a statistically significant inverse relationship, whereas participants who perceived their peers were at risk for Type 2 diabetes had a decreased perception of personal susceptibility. These findings are similar to those of Amuta, Jacobs, et al. (2016) and Mongiello et al. (2016b), who found that college students, even those who have personal risk factors for the disease, who perceive that their peers are at risk for Type 2 diabetes underestimate their personal risk. However, other studies did find those who were female, Black (Amuta. Jacobs, et al., 2016; Mongiello et al., 2016b), and had a family history (Mongiello et al., 2016b) of diabetes had a more accurate perception of their diabetes risk. This conflicts with the findings of my study as the sample of Black female college students did not accurately perceive their diabetes risk, even those with a family history of type 2 diabetes. The relationship between perceived peer susceptibility of Type 2 diabetes and perceived personal susceptibility should be further explored.

Self- Efficacy and Personal Susceptibility

The results of the simple linear regression showed that self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes and perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes had a statistically significant inverse relationship. As self-efficacy increased, perception of personal susceptibility decreased. This implies that a lower personal risk perception could be caused by the perception of control one has over their risk, thereby impacting health behavior. This was shown in a study of South African men and women ages 20-29 as researchers looked at the mediating effects of self-efficacy on the relationship between perceived susceptibility to chronic disease and health behavior (Tshuma et al., 2017). They found that perceived susceptibility had a significant relationship with health behavior only when associated with self-efficacy (Tshuma et al., 2017). The findings of

my study extend the body of knowledge on the relationship between self-efficacy and diabetes susceptibility. Other studies that explore self-efficacy and diabetes typically look solely at the role of self-efficacy on health behavior (Corliss et al., 2016; Moise et al., 2017), without considering the perception of risk. The relationship between self-efficacy and personal susceptibility to diabetes can imply healthier behaviors. More studies are needed to better understand how self-efficacy impacts personal susceptibility, and the impact on health behavior. The findings from these studies can provide evidence that self-efficacy and personal susceptibility can be targets for diabetes interventions that seek to improve health behavior.

Actual Type 2 Diabetes Risk and Personal Susceptibility

The results of the linear regression identified a statistically significant positive relationship between actual type 2 diabetes risk and perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes. As the level of risk increased, so did personal susceptibility, meaning participants who had higher levels of actual type 2 diabetes risk had a higher perception of personal risk. These findings contradict studies such as those by Joiner et al., 2022, Heidemann (2019) and Yang et al. (2018), where those with an actual risk for type 2 diabetes underestimated their own risk. Similarly, Spears et al. (2018) researched the association between diabetes knowledge and risk perception among a sample of majority African American females of middle class and found no significance between actual risk and risk perception. The results of these studies could differ from mine due to the differences in the populations that were studied. Joiner et al. (2022) and Yang (2018) used data from national surveys on U.S. adults, and Heideman (2019) used data from a

national study on German adults. My study was specific to African American female college students attending an HBCU, so the smaller sample size differed greatly from these studies as well. Spears et al. (2018) used a population of African American women in their study, it differed in that it was a snowball sample of middle class African American women. The sample I used was a convenience sample. Different populations may have different knowledge of and experiences with diabetes that cause differences in opinions about risk perception. For example, a study on a population of college students from West Virginia University showed that factors such as knowledge, family history of diabetes, self-rated good health, and reading food labels were significant predictors of future diabetes risk (Khan et al., 2022). The study highlighted that those with extremely high or extremely high-risk perception had higher diabetes knowledge (Khan et al, 2022). Even though Yang et al. (2018) had a sample of adults of different race/ethnicity, they did find that Blacks and Hispanics reported a higher type 2 diabetes perception than other races, which does relate to my study as the African American female college student sample did properly perceive their risk in relation to their actual risk. On the contrary, another study by Ledford et al. (2019), showed that among a sample of type 2 diabetes patients, White Americans perceived a longer disease course than Black Americans and Asians, showing that these groups have underestimated their risk of potential comorbidities and complications due to diabetes. Although my study contradicted the research presented here, and were similar to others, there is still a lack of research that identifies the relationship between the actual diabetes risk and risk perception among African American female college students (Sealey-Potts & Reyes-Velazquez, 2014).

More studies are needed to identify if knowledge of actual risk leads to higher risk perception in the African American college student population. This is important as a high-risk perception can increase healthier behavior, as shown in the Khan et al. (2022) study.

Family History and Personal Susceptibility

The independent samples t-test showed that the mean score of perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes was higher for those with a family history of type 2 diabetes, but the difference in scores was not statistically significant. Although significance was not established, the results relate to other studies with populations similar to mine. Studies such as that of Amuta, Crosslin, et al. (2016) and Reyes-Velazquez & Sealy-Potts (2015), found that being female and having a family history of type 2 diabetes was associated with an increased type 2 diabetes threat appraisal (Amuta, Crosslin, et al., 2016) and higher perception of risk (Reyes-Velazquez & Sealey-Potts, 2015), even among a population of overweight/ obese college students (Amuta, Jacobs, et al., 2016). Trends of the influence of family history on risk perception have been shown in more recent studies, such as those of Skøt et al. (2018) and Khan et al. (2022), which found that students with a family history of type 2 diabetes were more likely to have a high perception of risk, and family history was one of the predictors of perceived future diabetes risk (Khan, 2022). Family history was also a factor in risk perception among an African American adult population ages 18-79 (Seaborn et al., 2016). Although these studies show that family history increases risk perception, it does not always transfer into meaningful protective behaviors against type 2 diabetes. This was also explored in this

study by looking at the relationship between family history and health behavior. Future studies should research potential mediators that may exist between family history, risk perception, and health behavior.

Peer Susceptibility and Health Behavior

The simple linear regression test revealed that as the perception of peer susceptibility score increased, so did the score for health behavior, meaning that participants who perceived their peers were at risk had healthier type 2 diabetes risk behaviors. Although this was not a statistically significant finding, it is related to studies like Amuta et al. (2017), and Scott et al. (2019) where peer influences were found to be strong predictors of health behavior. Studies by Cha et al. (2016) and Sogari et al. (2018), were also similar in that the researchers found that emerging adults/college students believed that friends with similar diet and exercise goals, and who offered support motivated them to have healthy habits. However, a study conducted by Martin (2018) does not support the results of my study as social support was not found to be a predictor of physical activity, which is a type 2 diabetes-related health behavior. There is a need for additional studies that explore the relationship between perception of peer susceptibility to type 2 diabetes and health behavior among African American female college students (Sogari et al., 2018).

Self-Efficacy and Health Behavior

Self-efficacy was the only variable in my study that was associated with type 2 diabetes-related health behavior. I used a simple linear regression to test the relationship between self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes and health behavior, and it showed a

statistically significant positive relationship between the two variables. As the selfefficacy score increased, so did the health behavior score, meaning that participants that had a high self-efficacy had healthier type 2 diabetes-related health behaviors. Similar studies that focused on self-efficacy and diabetes are those of Mirzaei-Alavijeh et al. (2019), and Corliss et al. (2016) which have found self-efficacy to be a factor in diabetes prevention behaviors such as healthy eating and physical activity, even among African American female college students (Corliss et al., 2016). More recent studies are needed to fully assess the relationship between self-efficacy and health behavior to better understand how African American female college students' perception of control over diabetes contributes to their health behavior (Tshuma et al., 2017). This is important to study as it could provide evidence for interventions to target individual self-efficacy to improve diabetes-related health behavior.

Actual Type 2 Diabetes Risk and Health Behavior

The results of the simple linear regression showed an inverse relationship between actual type 2 diabetes risk and type 2 diabetes-related health behavior. As participants actual risk level increased, the health behavior score decreased, meaning that those with higher levels of actual type 2 diabetes risk had less healthy behaviors. This was not a statistically significant finding. These findings are consistent with another study by Corliss et al. (2016) that did not find significance between risk knowledge, physical activity, and diet. However, Santos et al. (2017), found a similar result of poor health behavior among an at-risk population of Latino college students. The results of these studies may indicate that those with unhealthy behavior have increased risk for diabetes

as a result. However, another study showed that the knowledge of actual risk of diabetes could potentially cause a change in health behavior (Owei et al., 2019). Owei et al. (2019), found that participants who were informed they developed pre-diabetes (actual type 2 diabetes risk) over the course of the study period, made improvements in their diet and increased their physical activity. However, a conflicting study found that there was no significant effect on the adoption of type 2 diabetes preventive behaviors among African Americans (Seaborn et al., 2016). The variation in the results of these studies could be because of the differences in the type of study design. Owei et al. (2019) used a longitudinal design where participants were able to see their risk develop over time. This could be an indicator for future studies and health programming. The association between these variables should be further studied to establish significance between actual type 2 diabetes risk and health behavior of African American female college students. Results of further studies are important to understand if those who are at risk for type 2 diabetes will change their behavior if they were aware of their risk. If this is the case, prevention programs can be tailored to make sure this population is tested for risk factors and educated on how those risk factors lead to diabetes onset.

Family History and Health Behavior

The results of the independent samples-test showed that the mean type 2 diabetesrelated health behavior score was higher in those without a family history of type 2 diabetes than those without a family history, but the difference was not significant. These results are different than studies that show family history is a predictor of healthy behavior, such as those of Amuta et al. (2017), and Ard et al. (2020). One study showed

that college students with more family members with type 2 diabetes, especially firstdegree relatives and relatives with severe diabetes had increased physical activity and vegetable intake (Amuta et al., 2017). The other study found that family history influenced health behaviors such as weight management, cardiovascular activities, and a healthy diet among African American women 18 and older (Ard et al., 2020). There are other studies similar to mine that also found that family history does not cause healthier behavior among college students (Seaborn, 2016; Amuta & Barry, 2015). Knowledge of type 2 diabetes family history did not increase the likelihood of college students engaging in protective health behaviors (Seaborn, 2016), and although an association was found between family history of type 2 diabetes and being conscious of calorie intake in college students, it did not transfer into healthy behavior such as vegetable intake (Amuta & Barry, 2015). Studies that attempt to understand why college students, particularly African American females with a family history, do not have better preventive health behaviors should be explored. This will enhance the current literature by helping us to understand existing barriers to preventive health behavior among this population.

Health Belief Model

The purpose of the HBM was to identify factors that predicted participation in preventive behavior (Becker et al., 1974). The premise of the HBM suggests that an individual is more likely to act against a health threat if they perceive they are at risk (Hochbaum, 1958; Rosenstock, 1974; Skinner et al., 2015). This was the major premise for my study as well. I wanted to know what factors such as self-efficacy was associated with African American female college students' perception of their diabetes susceptibility. I also wanted to know which of those factors were associated with their health behavior. Therefore, I explored the HBM constructs perceived personal susceptibility, self-efficacy, and cues to action in my study. Although self-efficacy was not a part of the original theory, the idea was that for an individual to act against a threat, they must believe they are capable of taking action (Rosenstock et al.,1988). I wanted to know if this was the case in this population. The cues to action that were considered were perception of peer susceptibility, family history, and actual type 2 diabetes risk.

Perceived Susceptibility

Many authors have used the HBM as a theoretical framework for studies that focus on the factors associated with perceived susceptibility. Many have found that perceived susceptibility might play an important role in the use of preventive health services, or practices (Paige et al., 2018), especially among females (Amuta, Jacobs et al., 2016; Luquis & Kessinger, 2019). My study contradicts these research articles as I found low personal risk perception and moderate health behavior among the African American female college student population. The difference could be that other factors such as knowledge and family history could've impacted these results. Only 30% of the sample had a family history and type 2 diabetes knowledge was not explored, although, family history and health behavior did not have a statistically significant association in this study. Other studies show that family history positively influences a college students' level of diabetes knowledge (Khlaifat et al., 2020), but those with lower knowledge of diabetes underestimate their diabetes risk (Mongiello et al., 2016a; Merzeh, 2016). This is shown in this study's population as there was a low rate of family history of diabetes. This could indicate that there was little diabetes knowledge among the study participants, negatively affecting personal susceptibility, and in turn negatively impacting preventive health behaviors such as seeking out medical care. Other studies are needed to identify if an increase in diabetes knowledge could increase personal susceptibility and potentially impact health behavior.

Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy is the perception of control that someone has over a disease (Skinner et al., 2015). Those that have a sense of control are more likely to change their behavior and engage in preventive health actions (Skubisz, 2014). In my study I found that those with high self-efficacy had better health behavior, and this was a significant finding. Corliss et al. (2016) had the same conclusion on a similar population, when they found that self-efficacy was significantly associated with the perception that healthy eating and physical activity helped with type 2 diabetes prevention. These trends have been found in other populations as well. In a study conducted by Mirzaei-Alavijeh et al. (2019) on a population of Iranian men and women, they found that self-efficacy was one of the most significant factors responsible for the variation in health behaviors such as physical activity. There are other studies where self-efficacy was not shown to be a significant factor in type 2 diabetes-related health behavior. A study conducted by Antwi et al. (2020) showed that among a sample of college students, only about 30% of the participants reported low self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes, but physical inactivity was one of the main risk factors presented in the sample (61.4%). The conflicts in these studies could be due to factors such as sample characteristics, actual diabetes

risk, family history, and other barriers to participation in healthy behavior. Although there are conflicting studies, self-efficacy is still an important factor to consider when predicting type 2 diabetes-related health behavior, especially among African American college students (Corliss et al., 2016).

Cues to Action

According to the HBM, cues to action are those factors such as personal illness, illness of family or friend, or media campaigns that bring awareness and motivates people to make changes in their behavior (Rosenstock, 1974; Skinner et al., 2015). The cues to action explored in this study were perception of peer susceptibility to type 2 diabetes, family history of type 2 diabetes and actual type 2 diabetes risk. The results of this study did show that as perception of peer susceptibility increased, so did healthy behavior, however, this was not a significant finding. Related to this, Amuta et al. (2017) used the HBM as a theoretical framework and concluded that peer influence was a powerful cue to action towards physical activity. Regarding family history, another study using the HBM as a framework has shown the positive association between family history and health behavior (Ard et al., 2020). In other studies, although the HBM was not the theoretical basis, they have shown that family history is not associated with the practice of healthy behavior (Amuta et al., 2016; Seaborn et al., 2016), especially among women (Beckles et al., 2019). The results of my study also found that family history had no significant association with healthy behavior, which is contrary to the HBM. Other cues to action such as actual type 2 diabetes risk were also not significantly associated with healthy behavior in my study. Other authors like Antwi et al. (2020), who used the HBM theoretical framework for their study, also disproved the theory as the results did not find an association with physical activity among college students with an actual type 2 diabetes risk.

The conflicts among these studies could be due to researchers overlooking how the six constructs of the HBM are relative to one another and how that relationship may impact health behavior. For instance, Jones et al. (2015) considered three different models of variable ordering using the HBM constructs. Parallel mediation was the first model in which all the constructs predict health behavior without having an impact on one another (Jones et al., 2015). This is the model that was used in my study as it looked at the impact that each construct had on the dependent variables. The second model, serial mediation, the constructs act as a chain of influence on each other, and that causal chain predicts health behavior. The third model, moderated mediation implies that there is one HBM construct that moderates the influence that the other constructs have on health behavior (Jones et al., 2015). Despite the conflicting results regarding the constructs of the HBM and their association to preventive health behaviors, it is still a valid theory which should be further explored in the context of type 2 diabetes among the African American female college student population. The HBM can help researchers to understand the factors that may predict changes in health behavior among this population. It can help to identify those constructs that need to be reinforced in this population, and each of those constructs can be a target area for intervention. Researchers can also use the HBM to further explore other factors such as the relationship between the construct variables and how those relationships contribute to predicting health behavior.

Limitations of the Study

Several limitations were noted after conducting the study and could affect the ability to generalize the results for the entire African American female college student

population. Such limitations are those regarding the type of sample, sample size and characteristics of the sample. The population was a non-probability homogenous, convenience sample of African American female college students from one HBCU. There were 104 participants in the sample, and although it met the recommendations of the sample size from the power analysis, it was still a rather low sample size compared to similar studies such as those of Mongiello et al. (2016a) who used a sample of 1,579 college students, Reyes-Velazquez & Sealey-Potts (2015) who studied a sample of 660 college students, and Corliss et al. (2016), who studied a sample of 128 college students. The sample consisted of students ages 18-24, however about 30% of the sample was 19 years of age, and 35.6% were Freshman. The majority (about 84%) of the sample population lived on campus.

There were also limitations regarding family history. The question regarding family history of type 2 diabetes on the ADADRT was limited to immediate family members. This was a study limitation as Kral et al. (2018) found that family history is not a significant risk factor for African Americans unless there are 3 or more family members with diabetes. Participants may have had other family members outside of their immediate family that could have been diagnosed with diabetes but were unable to report them due to the limitation of the questionnaire. The self-report of family history of type 2 diabetes is also a limitation as statistics show out of all diabetes cases in U.S. adults ages 18 and older, 23% are undiagnosed. Specifically, among African Americans, 4.7% of the population has undiagnosed diabetes (CDC, 2021). As a result, there were an unequal number of participants in each family history group. There were a small number of participants that reported a family history (30), and the majority (74) of the sample reported no family history. Participants could very well have family members with undiagnosed diabetes, therefore could be unaware of their actual family history. This could have impacted the reliability of the study.

Recommendations

The results of this study showed that there are several factors such as perceived peer susceptibility, self-efficacy, and actual type 2 diabetes risk that are associated with perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes. However, family history was the only variable that was not significantly associated with personal susceptibility among the African American female college student population. Recent studies that have researched the impact of family history on type 2 diabetes-related behavior is conflicting but have not focused on this population specifically. Further study is recommended to identify if the impact of family history of type 2 diabetes on personal susceptibility transfers into more protective health behaviors in this population. Further study using a larger sample size of African American female college students that have a family history of type 2 diabetes, recruited across several colleges/ universities might yield results that show family history as a significant factor of personal risk perception. This type of study could make a significant contribution to the literature to determine what influences diabetes risk perception in this population.

There was also a lack in the research literature concerning personal risk perception among this population, especially in more current research. As the rates of type 2 diabetes among African American youth are rising (CDC, 2019b), and the African American adult female population suffer type 2 diabetes at higher rates than Whites (HHS, Office of Minority Health, 2019), African American female college students at higher risk. Therefore, it is recommended that factors that determine personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes be further explored in a larger sample of this population, and across several different colleges/ universities. Exploring personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes among this population is recommended because the HBM suggests that personal susceptibility will cause a change in health behavior (Skinner, 2015). Therefore, identifying those factors that enhance personal susceptibility could provide insight into the development of type 2 diabetes prevention programming.

Since self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes risk was the only variable associated with type 2 diabetes-related health behavior in this study, it is recommended that factors that determine protective behaviors against type 2 diabetes risk be further explored in this population. Further investigation is needed on the relationship between perception of personal susceptibility to type 2 diabetes and health behavior. Although this was not addressed in this study, it has been investigated in previous studies (Murillo et al., 2019; Owei et al., 2019), but was not specific to African American female college student population. Another recommendation, as it was not seen in the existing literature, is to study the actual rates of type 2 diabetes in the college student population by screening for type 2 diabetes using hemoglobin A1C testing, and to follow-up with the students after 6 months to identify any changes in health behavior. Lastly, since this was a quantitative study, participants completed a pre-existing survey to identify perception and were not able to explain why they answered the way they did. A qualitative design would be more appropriate to understand how the participants process and understand their risk. This provides the opportunity to elaborate on feelings of susceptibility and discuss why lifestyle choices are made. For example, a participant can discuss why although they may have a high type 2 diabetes risk level, why they do not eat healthier foods or participate in physical activity. They can provide reasons for why they believe their peers are more susceptible to type 2 diabetes than they are, and what they feel are the reasons for their self-efficacy of controlling type 2 diabetes. The results of a qualitative study can provide recommendations to help identify effective strategies and solutions for type 2 diabetes risk in the African American female college student population.

Implications

The results of this study may impact social change by informing intervention programs tailored to address the factors associated with type 2 diabetes risk perception and type 2 diabetes-related health behavior among the population of interest. This study can guide the development of health education programming that emphasizes individual and peer diabetes susceptibility, as well as modifiable, and non-modifiable risk factors of type 2 diabetes (Gruss et al., 2019) that are relevant to the African American female college student. It can promote awareness of type 2 diabetes risk factors and increase perceived type 2 diabetes susceptibility leading to early type 2 diabetes screening and early detection (Antwi et al., 2020; Paige et al., 2018). Thereby, decreasing the risk of diabetes onset or diabetes-related complications later in life (ADA, n.d.-a). The results of this study can also promote a cultural and social shift in type 2 diabetes-related knowledge, behavior, and self-efficacy in African American females who attend HBCU's. They can enhance their confidence in their ability to control their type 2 diabetes risk (San Diego & Merz, 2020). This study can inform HBCU's on the rising rates of type 2 diabetes in African American youth and young adults (CDC, 2019b), and stress the importance of type 2 diabetes prevention. HBCU's are in a unique position to create culturally specific opportunities for chronic disease education, awareness, and screening among African American female college students (Jones et al., 2019). They are also able to create environments that promote healthy eating and physical activity on campus. These opportunities can also enhance this population's self-efficacy in advocating for proper type 2 diabetes screening by their health care provider (Saylor et al., 2018). These considerations can increase knowledge, healthy behavior, and confidence of African American female college students, which in turn can improve health outcomes, thereby mobilizing social change.

Conclusion

Type 2 diabetes is a chronic condition that is the fifth leading cause of death among African American women ages 20-44 (CDC, 2019a). The rise of type 2 diabetes in youth, specifically ages 10-19 years have been shown in minority populations, as African American youth had the second-highest prevalence (CDC, 2019b). College students are known to engage in many risky health behaviors as unhealthy eating patterns, and biological factors such as overweight/obesity put them at risk for type 2 diabetes. This is especially true of those of the traditional college age/ emerging adulthood, that period in life that marks important lifestyle changes and health habits (Arnett, 2000) sustained after college, and into full adulthood. As a result, African American females of college student age (18-24) are at high risk as they fall into each one of these groups and are a critical population to explore regarding susceptibility to type 2 diabetes.

College and university health programs are at an advantage for identifying at risk students, and for developing strategies to assist students with accessing the necessary education and tools needed to become aware of their harmful health behaviors, the associated risks, and the strategies needed to make healthy behavior changes toward a healthy lifestyle (Jones et al., 2019). These changes can in turn alter the rising rates of type 2 diabetes in African American communities, especially among the youth and emerging adult population (CDC, 2019b). This will help to create a future that consists of individuals who are knowledgeable and aware of their risks and who engage in behaviors that are conducive to decreasing their disease risk.

References

Ahmad, F. B., & Anderson, R. N. (2021). The leading causes of death in the US for 2020. Journal of the American Medical Association, 325(18), 1829-1830. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.5469

Amankwah-Poku, M. (2019). A cross-sectional study of knowledge and awareness of type 2 diabetes mellitus in a student population in Ghana: Do demographics and lifestyle make a difference. *Health Psychology and Behavioral Medicine*, 7(1), 234-252. https://doi.org/10.1080/21642850.2019.1637261

American College Health Association. (2020, Spring). American College Health Association-National College Health Assessment III: Undergraduate student reference group executive summary.

https://www.acha.org/documents/ncha/NCHA-

III Spring 2020 Undergraduate Reference Group Executive Summary.pdf

American Diabetes Association. (n.d.-a). *Diabetes symptoms*.

https://www.diabetes.org/diabetes/type-2/symptoms

American Diabetes Association. (n.d.-b). Learn the genetics of diabetes.

https://www.diabetes.org/diabetes/genetics-diabetes

American Diabetes Association. (2017). Prevention or delay of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care, 40*(1), S44–S47. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/dc17-S008</u>

American Diabetes Association. (2019). Good to know: Diabetes risk test. *Clinical Diabetes*, *37*(3), 291. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/CD19-0036</u>

American Heart Association. (2015a). Understand your risk for diabetes.

https://www.heart.org/en/health-topics/diabetes/understand-your-risk-for-diabetes

American Heart Association. (2015b). Why diabetes matters.

https://www.heart.org/en/health-topics/diabetes/why-diabetes-matters

American Psychological Association. (2020). Racial and ethnic identity.

https://apastyle.apa.org/style-grammar-guidelines/bias-free-language/racialethnic-minorities

- Amuta, A. O., & Barry, A. E. (2015). Type 2 diabetes family history and engagement in protective nutrition behaviors: A cross-sectional study of college students.
 American Journal of Health Studies, 30(3), 135-145.
 https://doi.org/10.47779/ajhs.2015.180
- Amuta, A. O., Barry, A. E., & McKyer, E. L. J. (2015). Risk perceptions for developing type 2 diabetes among overweight and obese adolescents with and without a family history of type 2 diabetes. *American Journal of Health Behavior, 39*(6), 786-793. https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.39.6.6
- Amuta, A. O., Crosslin, K., Goodman, J., & Barry, A. E. (2016). Impact of type 2 diabetes threat appraisal on physical activity and nutrition behaviors among overweight and obese college students. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 40(4), 396-404. <u>https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.40.4.1</u>

Amuta, A. O., Jacobs, W., Barry, A. E., Popoola, O. A., & Crosslin, K. (2016). Gender differences in type 2 diabetes risk perception, attitude, and protective health behaviors: A study of overweight and obese college students. *American Journal of Health Education*, 47(5), 315-323.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19325037.2016.1203836

- Amuta, A. O., Mkuu, R., Jacobs, W., & Barry, A. E. (2017). Number and severity of type
 2 diabetes among family members are associated with nutrition and physical activity behaviors. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *5*, Article 157.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2017.00157
- Analytics Calculators. (n.d.). *Hierarchical multiple regression sample size calculator*. <u>https://www.analyticscalculators.com/calculator.aspx?id=16</u>
- Andes, L. J., Cheng, Y. J., Rolka, D. B., Gregg, E. W., & Imperatore, G. (2020).
 Prevalence of prediabetes among adolescents and young adults in the United
 States, 2005-2016. *The Journal of the American Medical Association Pediatrics*, 174(2), Article e194498. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2019.4498</u>
- Antwi, J., Lavin, R., Sullivan, S., & Bellavia, M. (2020). Perception of and risk factors for type 2 diabetes among students attending an upstate New York college: A pilot study. *Diabetology & Metabolic Syndrome, 12*, Article 25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13098-020-00535-1
- Ard, D., Tettey, N.-S., & Feresu, S. (2020). The influence of family history of type 2 diabetes mellitus on positive health behavior changes among African Americans. *International Journal of Chronic Diseases, 2020*, Article 8016542.
 https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/8016542
- Armstrong, S., Wong, C. A., Perrin, E., Page, S., Sibley, L., & Skinner, A. (2018).Association of physical activity with income, race/ethnicity, and sex among adolescents and young adults in the United States: Findings from the National

Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2007-2016. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 172(8), 732-740. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.1273</u>

- Arnett, J. J. (2000). Emerging adulthood: A theory of development from the late teens through the twenties. *American Psychologist*, 55(5), 469-480. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066X.55.5.469</u>
- Asgari, S., Lotfaliany, M., Fahimfar, N., Hadaegh, F., Azizi, F., & Khalili, D. (2020). The external validity and performance of the no-laboratory American Diabetes
 Association screening tool for identifying undiagnosed type 2 diabetes among the Iranian population. *Primary Care Diabetes, 14*(6), 672-677.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcd.2020.04.001
- Asiedu, G.B., Hayes, S.N., Williams, K.P., Bondaryk, M.R., Halyard, M.Y., Parker, M.W., Balls-Berry, J.E., Pinn, V.W., & Breitkopf, C.R. (2017). Prevalent health concerns among African-American women belonging to a national volunteer service organization (The links, incorporated). *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 4(1), 19-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-015-0195-7</u>
- Babbie, E. R. (2011). *The practice of social research* (13th ed.). Wadsworth Cengage Learning.
- Bacon, K.L., Stuvers, S.O., Cozier, Y.C., Palmer, J.R., Rosenberg, L., & Ruiz-Narváez,
 E.A. (2017). Perceived racism and incident diabetes in the black women's health
 study. *Diabetologia*, 60, 2221-2225. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-017-4400-6
- Bancks, M. P., Kershaw, K., Carson, A. P., Gordon-Larsen, P., Schreiner, P. J., & Carnethon, M. R. (2017). Association of modifiable risk factors in young

adulthood with racial disparity in incident type 2 diabetes during middle adulthood. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, *318*(24), 2457–2465. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.19546</u>

- Bandura, A. (2004). Health promotion by social cognitive means. *Health Education & Behavior*, *31*(2), 143-164. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198104263660</u>
- Bang, H., Edwards, A.M., Bomback, A.S., Ballantyne, C.M., Brillon, D., Callahan, M.A., Teutsch, S.M., Mushlin, A.I., & Kern, L.M. (2009). Development and validation of a patient self-assessment score for diabetes risk. *Annuals of Internal Medicine*, *151*(11), 775-783. doi:10.1059/0003-4819-151-11-200912010-00005
- Becker, M.H., Drachman, R.H., & Kirscht, J.P. (1974). A new approach to explaining sick-role behavior in low-income populations. *American Journal of Public Health*, 64(3), 205-216.
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1775416/pdf/amjph00803-

<u>0007.pdf</u>

- Beckles, G.L., Bullard, K.M., Saydah, S., Imperatore, G., Loustalot, F., & Correa, A. (2019). Life course socioeconomic position, allostatic load, and incidence of type 2 diabetes among African American adults: The Jackson heart study, 2000-04 to 2012. *Ethnicity & Disease, 29*(1), 39-46. <u>https://doi.org/10.18865/ed.29.1.39</u>
- Bhupathiraju, S.N., & Hu, F.B. (2016). Epidemiology of obesity and diabetes and their cardiovascular complications. *Circulation Research*, 118(11), 1723-1735. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.306825</u>

Bower, J.K., Butler, B.N., Bose-Brill, S., Kue, J., & Wassel, C.L. (2019). Racial/ethnic

difference in diabetes screening and hyperglycemia among US women after gestational diabetes. *Preventing Chronic Disease, 16,* 1-16. https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd16.190144

Bruening, M., van Woerden, I., Todd, M., & Laska, M.N. (2018). Hungry to learn: The prevalence and effects of food insecurity on health behaviors and outcomes over time among a diverse sample of university freshman. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 15(9), 1-10.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-018-0647-7

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020a). *Deaths and mortality. National Center for Health Statistics.* <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/deaths.htm</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019b). Diabetes in youth.

https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/library/reports/reportcard/diabetes-in-youth-

<u>2017.html</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019c). Diabetes tests.

https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/basics/getting-tested.html

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019a). Leading causes of death-femalesnon-Hispanic Black-United States, 2017.

https://www.cdc.gov/women/lcod/2017/nonhispanic-black/index.htm

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020b). National diabetes statistics report: Estimates of diabetes and its burden in the U.S.

https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pdfs/data/statistics/national-diabetes-statistics-

report.pdf

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020c). *Defining adult overweight and obesity*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/adult/defining.html</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020d). *Prediabetes Your chance to prevent type 2 diabetes*. https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/basics/prediabetes.html

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021). *Prevalence of both diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/data/statistics-</u> <u>report/diagnosed-undiagnosed-diabetes.html</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (n.d.). United States Diabetes Surveillance System. <u>https://gis.cdc.gov/grasp/diabetes/DiabetesAtlas.html#</u>

Cha, E., Paul, S., Braxter, B.J., Umpierrez, G., & Faulkner, M.S. (2018). Dietary behaviors and glucose metabolism in young adults at risk for type 2 diabetes. *The Diabetes Educator*, 44(2), 158-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0145721718756057</u>

- Choi, J., Choi, J-Y., Lee, S-S., Lee, K-M., Shin, A., Oh, J., Park, J., Song, M., Yang, J.J., Lee, J-K., & Kang, D. (2019). Association between family history of diabetes and clusters of adherence to healthy behaviors: cross sectional results from the health examined-gem (HEXA-G) study. *British Medical Journal Open, 9*(e025477), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025477
- Chow, L., Odegaard, A.O., Bosch, T.A., Bantle, A.E., Wang, Q., Hughes, J., Carnethon, M., Ingram, K.H., Durant, N., Lewis, C.E., Ryder, J., Shay, C.M., Kelly, A.S., & Schreiner, P.J. (2016). Twenty year fitness trends in young adults and incidence of prediabetes and diabetes: the CARDIA study. *Diabetologia, 59*, 1659-1665. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-016-3969-5

- Clements, J.M., West, B., Yaker, Z., Lauinger, B., McCullers, D., Haubert, J., Tahboub, M.A., & Everett, G.J. (2019). Disparities in diabetes-related multiple chronic conditions and mortality: The influence of race. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice, 159*(107984), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2019.107984</u>
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203771587</u>
- Coleman-Jensen, A., Rabbitt, M.P., Gregory, C.A., & Singh, A. (2017). Household Food Security in the United States in 2016, ERR-237. United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.

https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/84973/err-237.pdf?v=4734.7

- Cooper, G., Sharma, M., Bennett, R., Mawson, A.R., Buxbaum, S.G., & Sung, J.H.
 (2016). Using the social cognitive theory to predict preventive health screening behaviors among type 2 diabetics. *American Journal of Health Studies, 31*(2), 92-102. <u>https://doi.org/10.47779/ajhs.2016.140</u>
- Creative Commons. (n.d.). Attribution-noncommercial-noderivs 3.0 unported. http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0
- Creswell, J.W., & Creswell, D.J. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (5th ed.). Sage Publications.

Divers, J., Mayer-Davis, E.J., Lawrence, J.M., Isom, S., Dabelea, D., Dolan, L.,
Imperatore, G., Marcovina, S., Pettitt, D.J., Pihoker, C., Hamman, R.F., Saydah,
S., & Wagenknecht, L.E. (2020). Trends in incidence of type 1 and type 2
diabetes among youths – Selected counties and Indian reservations, United States,
2002-2015. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 69(6), 161-165.

http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6906a3

- Divney, A.A., Murillo, R., Rodriguez, F., Mirzayi, C.A., Tsui, E.K., & Echeverria, S.E. (2019). Diabetes prevalence by leisure-transportation-, and occupation-based physical activity among racially/ethnically diverse U.S. adults. *Diabetes Care*, 42(7), 1241-1247. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/dc18-2432</u>
- do Vale Moreira, N.C., Hussain, A., Bhowmik, B., Mdala, I., Siddiquee, T., Fernandes,
 V.O., Júnior, R.M.M., & Meyer, H.E. (2020). Prevalence of metabolic syndrome
 by different definitions, and its association with type 2 diabetes, pre-diabetes, and
 cardiovascular disease risk in Brazil. *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews, 14*(5), 1217-1224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2020.05.043
- Dormire, S.L. (2016). Life stress, race, and abnormal glucose metabolism in postmenopausal women. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 64(9), e46e47. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/jgs.14330</u>
- Effoe, V. S., Carnethon, M. R., Echouffo-Tcheugui, J. B., Chen, H., Joseph, J. J., Norwood, A. F., & Bertoni, A.G. (n.d.). The American Heart Association ideal cardiovascular health and incident type 2 diabetes mellitus among Blacks: The Jackson heart study. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 6(6), e005008. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.116.005008
- Ellis, P.D. (2010). *The essential guide to effect sizes: Statistical power, meta-analysis, and the interpretation of research results*. Cambridge University Press.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses

using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(4), 1149-1160. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149</u>

- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Leon-Guerrero, A. (2018). *Social statistics for a diverse society* (8th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Gallivan, J., Brown, C., Greenberg, R., & Clark, C.M. (2009). Predictors of perceived risk of the development of diabetes. *Diabetes Spectrum*, 22(3), 163-169. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/diaspect.22.3.163</u>
- Gebreab, S.Y., Hickson, D.A., Sims, M., Wyatt, S.B., Davis, S.K., Correa, A., & Diez-Roux, A. (2017). Neighborhood social and physical environments and type 2 diabetes mellitus in African Americans: The Jackson heart study. *Health & Place*, 43, 128-137. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2016.12.001</u>
- Glanz, K., Rimer, B.K., & Viswanath, K. (2015). Health Behavior: Theory, Research, and Practice (5th ed.). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Glauber, H., Vollmer, W.M., & Nichols, G.A. (2018). A simple model for predicting two-year risk of diabetes development in individuals with prediabetes. *The Permanente Journal, 22*, 17-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.7812/TPP/17-050</u>
- Granillo, L., Goh, K.R., Cuevas, A., Khader, T., Khalid, U., Vidal, M., Aragon, L., Bartell, S., & Bic, Z. (2015). Diabetes risk assessment of the UC Irvine campus population. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*, 10(6), 442-447. https://doi.org/10.1177/1559827615603700
- Gross, S.M., Gary, T.L., Browne, D.C., & LaVeist, T.A. (2005). Gender differences in body image and health perceptions among graduating seniors from a historically

Black college. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 97(12), 1608-1619. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2640720/pdf/jnma00868-</u>0016.pdf

- Gruss, S.M., Nhim, K., Gregg, E., Bell, M., Luman, E., & Albright, A. (2019). Public health approaches to type 2 diabetes prevention: the national diabetes prevention program and beyond. *Current Diabetes Reports, 19*(78), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-019-1200-z
- Hales, C.M., Carroll, M.D., Fryar, C.D., Ogden, C.L. (2020). Prevalence of obesity and severe obesity among adults: United States, 2017-2018. NCHS Data Brief. No. 360. National Center for Health Statistics.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db360-h.pdf

- Hardy, D.S., Stallings, D.T., Garvin, J.T., Xu, H., & Racette, S.B. (2017). Best anthropometric discriminators of incident type 2 diabetes among white and black adults: A longitudinal ARIC study. *PLOS One*, *12*(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0168282
- Haw, J.S., Shah, M., Turbow, S., Egeolu, M., & Umpierrez, G. (2021). Diabetes complications in racial and ethnic minority populations in the USA. *Current Diabetes Reports*, 21(2), 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-020-01369-x</u>

Healthy People 2020. (2014). *Disparities*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. <u>https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/about/foundation-health-</u> <u>measures/Disparities#6</u>.

- Heidemann, C., Paprott, R., Stühmann, L.M., Baumert, J., Mühlenbruch, K., Hansen, S., Schiborn, C., Zahn, D., Gellert, P., & Scheidt-Nave, C. (2019). Perceived diabetes risk and related determinants in individuals with high actual diabetes risk: results from a nationwide population-based survey. *British Medical Journal Open Diabetes Research & Care, 7*(e000680), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjdrc-2019-000680</u>
- Hochbaum, G.M. (1958). Public participation in medical screening programs: A sociopsychological study. U.S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare. <u>https://play.google.com/books/reader?id=7O44ljhQkrsC&pg=GBS.PP2&hl=en</u>

Hsiao, L., Ward, R., & Bolin, P. (2015). Cardiovascular health of North Carolina undergraduates. North Carolina Medical Journal, 76(5), 286-292. <u>https://doi.org/10.18043/ncm.76.5.286</u>

International Diabetes Federation. (2020). *Diabetes Complications*. <u>https://www.idf.org/aboutdiabetes/complications.html</u>

Jager, J., Putnick, D.L., & Bornstein, M.H. (2017). More than just convenient: The scientific merits of homogenous convenience samples. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 82(2), 13-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mono.12296</u>

Jakub, K.E., Turk, M.T., Fapohunda, A., & Zoucha, R. (2018). Cultural belief, perceptions, and practices of young adult offspring of African immigrants regarding healthy eating and activity. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 29(6), 548-554. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659618761532</u>

- Joiner, K.L., Adams, M.P., Lee, K.A., Piatt, G., & Davis, M.A. (2022). Perceived risk for diabetes among U.S. adults with undiagnosed prediabetes. *Preventive Medicine*, 160(107089), 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2022.107089</u>
- Jones, C.L., Jensen, J.D., Scherr, C.L., Brown, N.R., Christy, K., & Weaver, J. (2015).
 The health belief model as an explanatory framework in communication research:
 Exploring parallel, serial, and moderated mediation. *Health Communication*, 30(6), 566-576. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2013.873363</u>
- Jones, C.G., Lee, T.C., & López, I.A. (2019). Perceived susceptibility and prevention attitudes of African-American college students' toward type 2 diabetes. *Florida Public Health Review*, 11(8), 57-64.

https://digitalcommons.unf.edu/fphr/vol11/iss1/8

Joseph, J.J., Echouffo-Tchegui, J.B., Golden, S.H., Chen, H., Jenny, N.S., Carnethon, M.R., Jacobs Jr., D., Burke, G.L., Vaidya, D., Ouyang, P., & Bertoni, A.G. (2016). Physical activity, sedentary behaviors and the incidence of type 2 diabetes mellitus: The multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis (MESA). *British Medical Journal Open Diabetes Research & Care, 4*(1), 1-12.

https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjdrc-2015-000185

Kabir, A., Miah, S., & Islam, A. (2018). Factors influencing eating behavior and dietary intake among resident students in a public university in Bangledesh: A qualitative study. *PLOS One, 13*(6), e0198801. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198801</u>

Kent State University. (2022). SPSS tutorials: Independent samples t-test.

https://libguides.library.kent.edu/spss/independentttest

- Khan, R.K., Mirsa, R., Shawley-Brzoska, S., & Wen, S. (2022). Predictors of diabetes risk perception among college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 1803-1809. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2020.1825222</u>
- Khlaifat, A.M., Al-Hadid, L.A., Dabbout, R.S., & Shoqirat, N. (2020). Cross-sectional survey on the diabetes knowledge, risk perceptions and practices among university students in south Jordan. *Journal of Diabetes & Metabolic Disorders,* 19(2), 849-858. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40200-020-00571-8
- Knol, L.L., Robb, C.A., McKinley, E.M., & Wood, M. (2017). Food insecurity, self-rated health, and obesity among college students. *American Journal of Health Education, 48*(4), 248-255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19325037.2017.1316689</u>
- Kowall, B., Rathmann, W., Stang, A., Bongaerts, B., Kuss, O., Herder, C., Roden, M.,
 Quante, A., Holle, R., Huth, C., Peters, A., & Meisinger, C. (2017). Perceived risk
 of diabetes seriously underestimates actual diabetes risk: The Kora FF4 study. *PLOS One*, 12(1), e0171152. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0171152
- Kral, B.G., Becker, D.M., Yanek, L.R., Vaidya, D., Mathias, R.A., Becker, L.C., & Kalyani, R.R. (2019). The relationship of family history and risk of type 2 diabetes differs by ancestry. *Diabetes & Metabolism, 45*, 261-267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DIABET.2018.05.004</u>

Kulick, E.R., Moon, Y.P., Cheung, K., Willey, J.Z., Sacco, R.L., & Elkind, M.S.V. (2016). Racial-ethnic disparities in the association between risk factors and diabetes: The northern Manhattan study. *Preventive Medicine*, *83*, 31-36. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.11.023

- Laerd Statistics. (2015a). Simple linear regression using SPSS statistics. *Statistical Tutorials and Software Guides*. <u>https://statistics.laerd.com/premium/spss/lr/linear-</u> regression-in-spss.php
- Laerd Statistics. (2015b). Independent samples t-test using SPSS statistics. *Statistical Tutorials and Software Guides*.

https://statistics.laerd.com/premium/spss/istt/independent-t-test-in-spss.php

- Larsen, B.A., Martin, L., & Strong, D.R. (2014). Sedentary behavior and prevalent diabetes in non-Latino Whites, non-Latino Blacks and Latinos: Findings from the national health interview survey. *Journal of Public Health*, 37(4), 634-640. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdu103</u>
- Luquis. R.R., & Kensinger, W. (2019). Applying the health belief model to assess prevention services among young adults. *International Journal of Health Promotion and Education*, 57(1), 37-47.

https://doi.org/10.1-80/14635240.2018.1549958

Ledford, C.J.W., Seehusen, D.A., & Crawford, P.F. (2019). Geographic and race/ethnicity differences in patient perceptions of diabetes. *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health, 10*, 1-5. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F2150132719845819

Lee, J., Sa, J., Chaput, J-P., Heimdal, J., Nelson, B., Cho, B-Y., & Kwon, E. (2021). Sex differences in weight perception and weight gain among Black college students in the USA. Osong Public Health and Research Perspectives, 12(2), 96-104. https://doi.org/10.24171/j.phrp.2021.12.2.07 Leighton, J.P. (2012a). Internal validity. In N.J. Salkind (Ed.). *Encyclopedia of research design* (pp. 1-6). Sage Publications, Inc.

https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412961288

Leighton, J.P. (2012b). External validity. In N.J. Salkind (Ed.). *Encyclopedia of research design* (pp. 1-6). Sage Publications, Inc.

https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412961288

- Leong, A., Porneala, B., Dupuis, J., Florez, J.C., & Meigs, J.B. (2016). Type 2 diabetes genetic predisposition, obesity, and all-cause mortality risk in the U.S.: A multiethnic analysis. *Diabetes Care, 39*, 539-546. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/dc15-2080</u>
- Ley, S. H., Pan, A., Li, Y., Manson, J. E., Willett, W. C., Sun, Q., & Hu, F. B. (2016).
 Changes in overall diet quality and subsequent type 2 diabetes risk: Three U.S. prospective cohorts. *Diabetes Care, 39*(11), 2011–2018.

https://doi.org/10.2337/dc16-0574

- Luo, J., Hendryx, M., Laddu, D., Phillips, L.S., Chlebowski, R., LeBlanc, E.S., Allison, D.B., Nelson, D.A., Li, Y., Rosal, M.C., Stefanick, M.L., & Manson, J.E. (2019).
 Racial and ethnic differences in anthropometric measures as risk factors for diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 42(1), 126-133. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/dc18-1413</u>
- Malone, J.I., & Hansen, B.C. (2019). Does obesity cause type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM)? Or is it the opposite? *Pediatric Diabetes, 20*, 5-9. https://doi.org/10.1111/pedi.12787

Mandrekar, J.N. (2010). Receiver operating characteristic curve in diagnostic test

assessment. Journal of Thoracic Oncology, 5(9), 1315-1316.

https://www.jto.org/article/S1556-0864(15)30604-3/pdf

Markus, K. A., & Smith, K. M. (2012). Content validity. In K. J. Salkind (Ed.), Sage research methods (pp. 1-8). Sage Publications.

https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412961288

- Marott, S.C.W., Nordestgaard, B.G., Tybjaerg-Hansen, A., & Benn, M. (2016).
 Components of the metabolic syndrome and risk of type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism, 101*(8), 3212-3221.
 https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2015-3777
- Martin, J. (2018). Social support and leisure time physical activity in young Black women. *College Student Journal*, *52*(1), 139-149.
- Mayer-Davis, E. J., Lawrence, J. M., Dabelea, D., Divers, J., Isom, S., Dolan, L.,
 Imperatore, G., Linder, B., Marcovina, S., Pettitt, D. J., Pihoker, C., Saydah, S., &
 Wagenknecht, L. (2017). Incidence trends of type 1 and type 2 diabetes among
 youths, 2002–2012. *New England Journal of Medicine, 376*(15), 1419–1429.
 https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1610187
- Menke, A., Casagrande, S., & Geiss, L. (2015). Prevalence of and trends in diabetes among adults in the United States, 1988-2012. *Journal of the American Medical Association, 314*(10), 1021-1029. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.10029</u>
- Merzah, M.A. (2016). Perceived susceptibility of type 2 diabetes among youth. *Kerbala Journal of Medicine*, 9(2), 2498-2504.

Micha, R., Peñalvo, J. L., Cudhea, F., Imamura, F., Rehm, C. D., & Mozaffarian, D.

(2017). Association between dietary factors and mortality from heart disease, stroke, and type 2 diabetes in the United States. *Journal of the American Medical Association, 317*(9), 912–924. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.0947</u>

- Mirzaei-Alavijeh, M., Jouybari, T.A., Jalilian, F., & Motlagh, M.E. (2019). Using intervention mapping approach to finding socio-cognitive determinants of diabetes preventive behaviors. *Journal of Preventive Medicine and Hygiene*, 60(3), E237-E242. <u>https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2019.60.3.1159</u>
- Moise, R.K., Conserve, D.F., Elewonibi, B., Francis, L.A., & BeLue, R. (2017). Diabetes knowledge, management, and prevention among Haitian immigrants in Philadelphia. *The Diabetes Educator*, 43(40), 341-347.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0145721717715418
- Mongiello, L.L., Freudenberg, N., & Jones, H. (2016a). Diabetes risk factor knowledge varies among multiracial college students. *Journal of Immigrant Minority Health*, 18, 971-978. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-015-0250-9</u>
- Mongiello, L., Freudenberg, N., Jones, H., & Spark, A. (2016b). Many college students underestimate diabetes risk. *Journal of Allied Health*, 45(2), 81-86. <u>https://www.proquest.com/docview/1799372991/fulltextPDF/B55B368D49D4C5</u> <u>EPQ/1?accountid=14872</u>
- Montgomery, G., Erblich, J., DiLorenzo, T., & Borbjerg, D.H. (2003). Family and friends with disease: Their impact on perceived risk. *Preventive Medicine*, 37(3), 242-249. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0091-7435(03)00120-8
- Moore, J.X., Chaudhary, N., & Akinyemiju, T. (2017). Metabolic syndrome prevalence

by race/ethnicity and sex in the United States, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-2012. *Preventing Chronic Disease, 14*(E24), 1-16. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5888/pcd14.160287</u>

- Murillo, R., Reesor, L.M., Scott, C.W., & Hernandez, D.C. (2017). Food insecurity and pre-diabetes in adults: Race/ethnic and sex differences. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 41(4), 428-436. <u>https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.41.4.7</u>
- Mutie, P.M., Drake, I., Ericson, U., Teleka, S., Schulz, C., Stocks, T., & Sonestedt, E. (2020). Different domains of self-reported physical activity and risk of type 2 diabetes in a population-based Swedish cohort: the Malmö diet and cancer study. *BMC Public Health, 20*(261), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-8344-2</u>
- National Center for Education Statistics. (n.d.). *Historically Black colleges and universities*. <u>https://nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.asp?id=667</u>
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2018). The condition of education.

https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2018/2018144.pdf

National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive Kidney Diseases (n.d.). *Diabetes Risk Test*. <u>https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-information/diabetes/overview/risk-factors-</u> <u>type-2-diabetes/diabetes-risk-test</u>

National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive Kidney Diseases. (2016). *Risk factors for type 2 diabetes*. <u>https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-</u>

information/diabetes/overview/risk-factors-type-2-diabetes

National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive Kidney Diseases. (2017). Type 2 diabetes.

https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-information/diabetes/overview/what-is-

diabetes/type-2-diabetes

- Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. (2020). *Disparities. Healthy People* 2020. <u>https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/about/foundation-health-</u> measures/Disparities#6
- O'Brien, M.J., Moran, M. R., Tang, J.W., Vargas, M.C., Talen, M., Zimmermann, L.J., Ackermann, R.T., & Kandula, N.R. (2016). Patient perceptions about prediabetes and preferences for diabetes prevention. *Diabetes Educator*, 42(6), 667-677. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145721716666678
- Olfert, M.D., Dent, A., & Wattick, R.A. (2018). Metabolic syndrome prevalence in students attending West Virginia University. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 7(487), 1-8. http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/jcm7120487
- Owei, I., Umekwe, N., Ceesay, F., & Dagogo-Jack, S. (2019). Awareness of prediabetes status and subsequent health behavior, body weight, and blood glucose levels. *Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 32(1), 20-27. https://doi.org/10.3122/jabfm.2019.01.180242
- Paige, S., Bonnar, K.K., Black, D.R., & Coster D.C. (2018). Risk factor knowledge, perceived threat, and protective health behaviors: Implications for type 2 diabetes control in rural communities. *The Diabetes Educator*, 44(1), 63-71. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145721717747228
- Payne-Sturges, D.C., Tjaden, A., Caldeira, K.M., Vincent, K.B., & Arria, A.M. (2018). Student hunger on campus: Food insecurity among college students and implication for academic institutions. *American Journal of Health Promotion*,

32(2), 349-354. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117117719620

- Piccinino, L., Griffey, S., Gallivan, J., Lotenberg, L.D., & Tuncer, D. (2015). Recent trends in diabetes knowledge, perceptions, and behaviors: Implications for national diabetes education. *Health Education and Behavior*, 42(5), 687-696. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198115577373</u>
- Piccolo, R.S., Subramanian, S.V., Pearce, N., Florez, J.C., & McKinlay, J.B. (2016).
 Relative contributions of socioeconomic, local environmental, psychosocial, lifestyle/behavioral, biophysiological and ancestral factors to racial/ethnic disparities in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care, 39*, 1208-1217.

https://doi.org/10.2337/dc15-2255

- Poltavskiy, E., Kim, D.J., & Bang, H. (2016). Comparison of screening scores for diabetes and prediabetes. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 118, 146-153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2016.06.022</u>
- Ravitch, S.M., & Carl, N.M. (2016). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological.* Sage Publications, Inc.
- Reyes-Velazquez, W., & Sealey-Potts, C. (2015). Unrealistic optimism, sex, and risk perception of type 2 diabetes onset: Implications for education programs. *Diabetes Spectrum*, 28(1), 5-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/diaspect.28.1.5</u>

Rohani, H., Bidkhori, M., Eslami, A.A., Sadeghi, E., & Sadeghi, A. (2018).
Psychological factors of healthful diet promotion among diabetics: An application of health action process approach. *Electronic Physician*, 10(4), 6647-6654.
<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.19082/6647</u>

Rosenstock, I.M. (1974). Historical origins of the health belief model. *Health Education Monographs*, 2(4), 328-335. <u>file:///C:/Users/Khaliah%20Wilson/Downloads/HealthEducBehav-1974-</u>

Rosenstock-328-35%20(3).pdf

Rosenstock, I.M., Strecher, V.J., & Becker, M.H. (1988). Social learning theory and the health belief model. *Health Education Quarterly*, 15(2), 175-183. <u>https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/67783/10.1177_1090198</u> <u>18801500203.pdf;sequence=2</u>

- Rudestam, K.E., & Newton, R.R. (2014). *Surviving your dissertation* (4th ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Sa, J., Heimdal, J., Sbrocco, T., Seo, D-C., & Nelson, B. (2016). Overweight and physical inactivity among African American students at a historically Black University. *Journal of the National Medical Association, 108*(1), 77-85. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jnma.2015.12.010

San Diego, E.R.N. & Merz, E.L. (2020). Diabetes knowledge, fatalism and type 2 diabetes-preventive behavior in an ethnically diverse sample of college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 70(2), 385-394. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2020.1751175

Saylor, J.L., Calamaro, C.J., Hardie, T., & Selekman, J. (2018). Are college students told by health care providers about their risk factors for developing diabetes? *Journal* of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners, 30(7), 398-405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/JXX.000000000000051</u>

- Seaborn, C., Suther, S., Lee, T., Kiros, G.E., Becker, A., Campbell, E., & Collins-Robinson, J. (2016). Utilizing genomics through family health history with the theory of planned behavior: Prediction of type 2 diabetes risk factors and preventive behavior in an African American population in Florida. *Public Health Genomics*, 19(2), 69-80. https://doi.org/10.1159/000443471
- Sealey-Potts, C., & Reyes-Velazquez, W. (2014). Perceived and actual risks of college students for developing type 2 diabetes. *Austin Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism*, 1(2), 1-5. <u>https://austinpublishinggroup.com/nutrition-</u> <u>metabolism/fulltext/ajnm-v1-id1008.php</u>
- Seear, K.H., Lelievre, M.P., Atkinson, D.N., & Marley, J.V. (2019). It's important to make changes. Insights about motivators and enablers of healthy lifestyle modification from young aboriginal men in western Australia. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(6), 1063. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16061063
- Serdar, C.C., Cihan, M., Yücel, D., & Serdar, M.A. (2021). Sample size, power and effect size revisited: Simplified and practical approaches in pre-clinical, clinical and laboratory studies. *Biochemica Medica*, 31(1), 1-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.11613/BM.2021.010502</u>
- Scott, C.L., Haycraft, E., & Plateau, C.R. (2019). Teammate influences and relationship quality are associated with eating an exercise psychopathology in athletes. *Appetite*, 143(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2019.104404</u>

Shah, P., Shamoon, F., Bikkina, M., Kohl III, H.W. (2017). Medical cost of type 2

diabetes attributable to physical inactivity in the United States in 2012. *Diabetes* & *Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews, 11*(1), 13-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2016.06.020</u>

Shin, C., Soltero, E., Mama, S., Sunseri, C., & Lee, R.E. (2017). Association of discrimination and stress with cardiometabolic risk factors in ethnic minority women. *Clinical Nursing Research*, 26(6), 694-712. https://doi.org/10.1177/1054773816669448

- Siegel, K.R., Bullard, K.M., Imperatore, G., Ali, M.K., Albright, A., Mercado, C.I., Li, R., & Gregg, E.W. (2018). Prevalence of major behavioral risk factors for type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 41(5), 1032–1039. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc17-1775
- Simonds, V.W., Omidpanah, A., & Buchwald, D. (2017). Diabetes prevention among American Indians: The role of self-efficacy, risk perception, numeracy and cultural identity. *BMC Public Health*, 17(763), 1-11.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4766-x

- Skinner, C.S., Trio, J., & Champion, V.L. (2015). The health belief model. In K. Glanz,B.K. Rimer, & K. Viswanath (Eds.), Health behavior and health education:Theory, research and practice (5th ed., pp. 45-62). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Skøt, L., Nielsen, J.B., & Leppin, A. (2018). Who perceives a higher personal risk of developing type 2 diabetes? A cross-sectional study on associations between personality traits, health-related behaviours and perceptions of susceptibility among university students in Denmark. *Biomed Central Public Health, 18*(972), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5884-9

Skubisz, C. (2014). Risk perception attitude framework. In T.L. Thompson (Ed.),

Encyclopedia of health communication (pp. 1-3). Sage Publications, Inc.

http://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781483346427.n466

- Sogari, G., Velez-Argumendo, C., Gómez, M.I., & Mora, C. (2018). College students and eating habits: A study using an ecological model for healthy behavior. *Nutrients*, 10(12), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10121823</u>
- Solomon, C.M., López, I.A., Dutton, M.T., & Crowther, V.B. (2016). The cognitive mediating process of diabetes among African-American college students. *Florida Public Health Review*, 13(11), 82-90.

https://digitalcommons.unf.edu/fphr/vol13/iss1/11

- Spears, E.C., Guidry, J.J., Harvey, I.S. (2018). Measuring type 2 diabetes mellitus knowledge and perceptions of risk in middle-class African Americans. *Health Education Research*, 33(1), 55-63. <u>https://doi.org//10.1093/her/cyx073</u>
- The InterAct Consortium. (2013). The link between family history and risk of type 2 diabetes is not explained by anthropometric, lifestyle or genetic risk factors: the EPIC-InterAct study. *Diabetologia*, *56*, 60-69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-012-2715-x</u>
- Trobia, A. (2011). Cronbach's Alpha. In P.J. Lavrakas (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Survey Research Methods* (pp. 1-3). Sage Publications, Inc.

https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412963947

Tshuma, N., Muloongo, K., Nkwei, E.S., Alaba, O.A., Meera, M.S., Mokgobi, M.G., & Nyasulu, P.S. (2017). The mediating role of self-efficacy in the relationship between premotivation cognitions and engagement in multiple health behaviors: a theory based cross-sectional study among township residents in South Africa. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare*, *10*, 29-39.

https://doi.org/10.2147/JMDH.S112841

United States Department of Health and Human Services. (n.d.). *Facts and Statistics*. *Physical Activity*. <u>https://www.hhs.gov/fitness/resource-center/facts-and-</u> <u>statistics/index.html#footnote-5</u>

United States Department of Health and Human Services. (2018). *Physical activity* guidelines for Americans (2nd ed.). <u>https://health.gov/sites/default/files/2019-</u> 09/Physical Activity Guidelines 2nd edition.pdf

United States Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Minority Health. (2019). *Diabetes and African Americans*.

https://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/omh/browse.aspx?lvl=4&lvlid=18

United States Department of Health and Human Services & United States Department of Agriculture. (2015). 2015-2020 Dietary Guidelines for America (8th ed.). <u>https://www.dietaryguidelines.gov/sites/default/files/2019-05/2015-</u> 2020 Dietary Guidelines.pdf.

van der Velde, J. H. P. M., Schaper, N. C., Stehouwer, C. D. A., van der Kallen, C. J. H., Sep, S. J. S., Schram, M. T., Henry, R. M. A., Dagnilie, P. C., Eussen, S. J. P. M., van Dongen, M. C. J. M., Savelberg, H. C. M., & Koster, A. (2018). Which is more important for cardiometabolic health: sedentary time, higher intensity physical activity or cardiorespiratory fitness? The Maastricht study. *Diabetologia*, (61), 2561-2569. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-018-4719-7

- van Zon, S.K.R, Sneider, H., Bültmann, U., & Reijneveld, S.A. (2017). The interaction of socioeconomic position and type 2 diabetes mellitus family history: A crosssectional analysis of the lifelines cohort and biobank study. *British Medical Journal Open*, 7(4), 1-10. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-015275</u>
- Walker, E.A., Mertz, C.K., Kalten, M.R., & Flynn, J. (2003). Risk perception for developing diabetes: Comparative risk judgement of physicians. *Diabetes Care*, 26(9), 2543-2548. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.26.9.2543</u>
- Wesley, Y. (Ed). (2009). Black Women's Health: Challenges and Opportunities. Nova Science Publishers, Incorporated.
- Willes, K.L. (2018). Data Cleaning. In M. Allen (Ed.), *The SAGE Encyclopedia of communication research methods* (pp. 1-4). Sage Publications Inc. https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781483381411
- Williams, D.R. (2002). Racial/ethnic variations in women's health: The social embeddedness of health. *American Journal of Public Health*, 92(4), 588-597. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.92.4.588</u>
- Williams, R.A., Rose, A.M., Bruno, R.S., Hanks, A.S., Kennel, J.A., McDonald, J.D., Labyk, A.N., & Gunther, C. (2019). Examination of the relationship of diet quality with cardiometabolic risk factors in apparently healthy college students. *Journal of Education and Health Promotion*, 8(148), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.4103/jehp.jehp_12_19

Williams, W.M., Yore, M.M., & Whitt-Glover, M.C. (2018). Estimating physical activity

trends among blacks in the United States through examination of four national surveys. *AIMS Public Health*, *5*(2), 144-157. https://doi.org/10.3934/publichealth.2018.2.144

Woo, Y.C., Lee, C.H., Fong, C.H.Y., Tso, A.W.K., Cheung, B.M.Y., & Lam, K.S.L. (2017). Validation of the diabetes screening tools proposed by the American Diabetes Association in an aging Chinese population. *PLoS One, 12*(9), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0184840

- Yan, F., Cha, E., Lee, E. T., Mayberry, R. M., Wang, W., & Umpierrez, G. (2016). A self-assessment tool for screening young adults at risk of type 2 diabetes using strong heart family study data. *The Diabetes Educator*, 42(5), 607–617. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0145721716658709</u>
- Yang, K., Baniak, L.M., Imes, C.C., Choi, J., & Chasens, E.R. (2018). Perceived versus actual risk of type 2 diabetes by race and ethnicity. *The Diabetes Educator*, 44(3), 269-277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0145721718770983</u>
- Yokota, N., Miyakoshi, T., Sato, Y., Nakasone, Y., Yamashita, K., Imai, T., Hirabayashi,
 K., Koike, H., Yamauchi, K., & Aizawa, T. (2017). Predictive models for
 conversion of prediabetes to diabetes. *Journal of Diabetes and Its Complications,*31(8), 1266-1271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2017.01.005</u>
- Yoon, C., Jacobs, D. R., Jr, Duprez, D. A., Neumark-Sztainer, D., Steffen, L. M., & Mason, S. M. (2019). Problematic eating behaviors and attitudes predict longterm incident metabolic syndrome and diabetes: The coronary artery risk development in young adults study. *The International Journal of Eating*

Disorders, 52(3), 304–308. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.23020

Yoon, P.W., Scheuner, M.T., Peterson-Oehlke, K.L., Gwinn, M., Faucett, A., & Khoury, M.J. (2002). Can family history be used as a tool for public health and preventive medicine? *Genetics in Medicine*, 4(4), 304-310.

https://doi.org/10.1097/00125817-200207000-00009

- Zamora-Kapoor, A., Fyfe-Johnson, A., Omidpanah, A., Buchwald, A., & Sinclair, K. (2018). Risk factors for pre-diabetes and diabetes in adolescence and their variability by race and ethnicity. *Preventive Medicine*, 115, 47-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2018.08.015</u>
- Zein, A.E., Shelnutt, K.P., Colby, S., Vilaro, M.J., Zhou, W., Greene, G., Olfert, M.D., Riggsbee, K., Morrell, J.S., & Mathews, A.E. (2019). Prevalence and correlates of food insecurity among U.S. college students: A multi-institutional study. *BMC Public Health, 19*(660), <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-6943-6</u>
- Zhu, Y., Sidell, M.A., Arterburn, D., Daley, M.F., Desai, J., Fitzpatrick, S.L., Horberg, M.A., Koebnick, C., McCormick, E., Oshiro, C., Young, D., & Ferrara, A. (2019).
 Racial/ethnic disparities in the prevalence of diabetes and prediabetes by BMI:
 Patient outcomes research to advance learning (PORTAL) multisite cohort of adults in the U.S. *Diabetes Care, 42*(12), 2211-2219.

https://doi.org/10.2337/dc19-0532

Zimmet, P., George, K., Alberti, M.M., & Ríos, M.S. (2005). A new international diabetes federation (IDF) worldwide definition of the metabolic syndrome: The rationale and the results. *Revista Española de Cardiología*, 58(12), 1371-1376. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1885-5857(06)60742-1

Appendix A: Final Study Invitation to Participate

Type 2 Diabetes study seeks African American/ Black Female undergraduate students ages 18-24 to participate in a survey

There is a new study called "*Perceived Diabetes Susceptibility Among African American Female College Students*" that could prove insight into the type 2 diabetes risk of young African American females. For this study, you are invited to share your thoughts on your type 2 diabetes susceptibility and your current health habits. This survey is part of the doctoral study for Khaliah Wilson, a Ph.D. student at Walden University.

Participation Procedures:

- Read the consent form to participate
- Complete a 15-20-minute paper survey
- To protect your privacy, you will not be asked to put your name on the survey or consent form

Volunteers must meet these requirements:

- African American/ Black Female
- Undergraduate college student at [University name redacted]
- 18 24 years old

Surveys are being administered on the following dates, times, and locations:

Date

Time

Location

If other dates/times are needed, contact: Khaliah Wilson at [telephone address redacted] OR [email address redacted] Appendix B: American Diabetes Association Diabetes Risk Test

The ADA developed a self-screening tool in 2019 to identify undiagnosed individuals who may have or are at risk for Type 2 diabetes.

Are You at Risk for Type 2 Diabetes? **Diabetes Risk Test** One in four Americans with diabetes is undiagnosed. Could you be one of the 8 million Americans who has diabetes and doesn't know it? Take the test and learn more about your risk for getting type 2 diabetes. How old are you? Write your score a. Less than 40 years (0 points) in the box. b. 40-49 years (1 point) j. Height c. 50-59 years (2 points) Ibs. kilos bs. kilos bs. kilos d. 60 years or older (3 points) 4'10" 119-142 54.0-64.4 143-190 64.9-86.2 191+ 86.6+ Are you a man or a woman? 4'11 124-147 56.2-66.7 148-197 67.1-89.3 198+ 89.8+ a. Man (1 point) 5'0' 128-152 58.1-68.9 153-203 69.4-92.1 204+ 92.5+ b. Woman (0 points) 5'1' 132-157 59.9-71.2 158-210 71.7-95.3 95.7+ 211+ Are you a woman who has ever 5'2' 136-163 61.7-73.9 164-217 74.4 98.4 218+ 98.9+ been diagnosed with gestational 102.1+ 5'3" 141-168 64.0-76.2 169-224 76.7-101.6 225+ diabetes or given birth to a baby 5'4' 145-173 65.8-78.5 174-231 78.9-104.8 232+ 105.24 weighing 9 pounds or more? 5'5" 150-179 68.0-81.2 180-239 81.6-108.4 240+ 108.9a. Yes (1 point) 5'6' 155-185 70.3-83.9 186-246 84.4-111.6 247+ 112.0+ b. No (0 points) 5'7' 159-190 72.1-86.2 191-254 86.6-115.2 255+ 115.7+ Do you have a mother, father, 5'8' 89.4-118.4 164-196 74.4-88.9 262+ 118.8+ 197-261 sister, or brother with diabetes? 5'9' 169-202 767-91.6 203-269 921-1220 270+ 122.54 a. Yes (1 point) 5'10" 174-208 78.9-94.3 209-277 94.8-125.6 278+ 126.1+ b. No (0 points) 5'11' 179-214 81.2-97.1 215-285 97.5-129.3 286+ 129.7+ Have you ever been diagnosed 184-220 83.5-99.8 100.2-132.9 6'0" 221-293 294+ 133.44 with high blood pressure? 6'1' 189-226 85.7-102.5 227-301 103.0-136.5 302+ 137.0+ a. Yes (1 point) 6'2' 194-232 88.0-105.2 233-310 105.7-140.6 311+ 141.1+ b. No (0 points) 6'3" 200-239 90.7-108.4 240-318 108.9-144.2 319+ 144.7+ Are you physically active? 6'4" 205-245 93.0-111.1 246-327 111.6-148.3 328+ 148.8+ a. Yes (0 points) (2 P b. No (1 point) You weigh less than the amount in the left column What is your weight status? (see chart at right) (0 points) Add up Your Score

The higher your score, the higher your risk.

- If you scored 5 or more: You are at increased risk for having type 2 diabetes. Talk to your health care provider about simple blood tests to check for diabetes or prediabetes. Early diagnosis and treatment can prevent or delay heart attack, stroke, blindness, kidney disease, and other health problems.
- If you scored below 5: Even if your score was below 5, you may be at increased risk for having prediabetes—blood sugar levels that are higher than normal but not high enough to be called diabetes. The good news for people with prediabetes is that you can lower your risk for type 2 diabetes. Talk to your health care team about getting tested, particularly if you are over 45, overweight, or have a family member with diabetes. Find out about the small steps you can take to prevent or delay type 2 diabetes and live a long and healthy life.

Type 2 diabetes is more common in African Americans and people with African ancestry, Hispanics and Latinos, American Indians, Alaska Natives, Asian Americans, Native Hawaiians, and Pacific Islanders. The National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK) has special information for these groups.

The National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases 1-800-860-8747 • TTY: 1-866-569-1162



Adapted from the American Diabetes Association's Diabetes Risk Test.

www.niddk.nih.gov

Appendix C: Survey Instrument

Diabetes Risk Perception and Health Behavior Survey for African American Female College Students

Purpose: This survey will be used to gather information about your perception (opinion) of your personal risk and your peers' risk for developing type 2 diabetes, as well as your current health behaviors.

Key Terms Defined:

Type 2 diabetes - a disease that occurs when the body does not make enough insulin or use it well enough to control the levels of sugar (glucose) in the blood, resulting in hyperglycemia (high blood sugar).

Pre-diabetes - a condition in which a person has high blood sugar

(hyperglycemia) but not high enough to be considered type 2 diabetes. It is a risk factor for type 2 diabetes.

Peer – persons of the same age group and demographics (African American/ Black female college students 18-24 years old).

Risk – how likely someone is to develop type 2 diabetes.

Demographic Information

1. What is your age in years? _____

For each of the following questions, fill in the circle that best describes you.

- 2. What is your academic classification?
- O Freshman
- **O** Sophomore
- O Junior
- O Senior
- 3. What is your race/ ethnicity?

Ethnicity: Check One

- O Hispanic or Latino/a/Latinx
- **O**Not Hispanic or Latino/a/Latinx

Race: Check all that apply

- O American Indian or Alaska Native
- O Asian
- O Black or African American
- O Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander
- **O** White
- O Other
- 4. Where is your current residence?
- Campus residence hall/ Student housing
- O Home with parent/s, guardian/s, or relative/s

Diabetes History

For each of the following questions, circle either Yes or No.

- 5. Have you ever been diagnosed with type 2 diabetes by a healthcare professional? Yes No
- 6. Have you ever been diagnosed with pre-diabetes by a healthcare professional? Yes No
- 7. Has a healthcare professional ever told you that you were at risk for type 2 diabetes or pre-diabetes?
 - Yes No

Perception of Risk

For each of the following statements, circle the answer that describes your opinion the most.

8. I believe that I do not have much control over developing diabetes.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

9. I believe that my current health habits will keep me in control of my risk for type 2 diabetes.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

10. If I improve my current health habits, I will have better control over my risk for type 2 diabetes.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

11. Controlling my risk for type 2 diabetes will make me less likely to develop the disease.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

12. I have better control over my risk for type 2 diabetes than my peers.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

13. I am less likely to develop type 2 diabetes than my peers.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

14. I believe that I am currently at risk for type 2 diabetes.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

15. I am concerned that I will develop diabetes while I am in college.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

16. I am concerned that I will develop diabetes in my lifetime.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

Health Behaviors

For each of the following questions, circle the answer that describes your health behaviors most.

17. On average, how often do you eat at least 2 ½ cups of vegetables each day?

Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always
1	2	3	4

18. On average, how often do you eat at least 2 cups of fruits each day?

Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always
1	2	3	4

19. On average, how often does half of your daily grain intake come from whole grains (e.g. brown rice, oats, quinoa)?

Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always
1	2	3	4

20. On average, how often do you eat meat high in saturated fat and sodium (e.g. hotdogs, hamburgers, lunch/deli meat)?

	Never	Sometimes 2	Usually 3	Always 4		
21.	1. On average, how often do you eat lean meat and other sources of protein (e.g. skinless chicken breast, top sirloin, pork loin, salmon, beans, peas, soy products)?					
	Never 1	Sometimes 2	Usually 3	Always 4		
22.	How often is the	he juice you drink 100	% fruit juice?			
	Never 1	Sometimes 2	Usually 3	Always 4		
23.	On average, he drinks with ad-	ow often do you drink ded sugars, sweet tea,	sugar sweetened bever lemonade)?	ages (e.g. soda, juice		
	Never 1	Sometimes 2	Usually 3	Always 4		
24.	4. How often do you eat unhealthy snacks from the vending machine (e.g. cake, cookies, donuts, potato chips, candy)?					
	Never 1	Sometimes 2	Usually 3	Always 4		
25.	5. How often do you eat healthy snacks from the vending machine (e.g. crackers, granola bar, fruit snacks)?					
	Never 1	Sometimes 2	Usually 3	Always 4		
26.	How often do	you read food labels w	hen making food choid	ces?		
	Never 1	Sometimes 2	Usually 3	Always 4		

27. On a weekly average, how often do you perform at least 150 minutes of moderate physical activity (e.g. 30 minutes of brisk walking/ day) or 75 minutes of vigorous physical activity (e.g. 15 minutes of running or swimming/ day)?

Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always
1	2	3	4

28. How often do you have a yearly visit with your healthcare provider? If you do not have a healthcare provider circle N/A for Not Applicable.

Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always	N/A
1	2	3	4	0

If you answered N/A to question #28 you do not need to answer questions #29 and #30.

29. When you visit your healthcare provider for a yearly checkup, how often is your blood sugar checked?

Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always
1	2	3	4

30. When you visit your healthcare provider for a yearly checkup, how often is your blood pressure checked?

Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always
1	2	3	4

Appendix D: Pilot Invitation to Participate

Type 2 Diabetes study seeks African American/ Black Female undergraduate students ages 18-24 to volunteer for a pilot survey

There is a new study called "*Perceived Diabetes Susceptibility Among African American Female College Students*" that could prove insight into the type 2 diabetes risk of young African American females. Volunteers are needed to participate in piloting (testing) the survey that will be used in this study and to provide feedback about their experience.

This pilot survey is part of the doctoral study for Khaliah Wilson, a Ph.D. student at Walden University. The results of this pilot will be used to establish the reliability or appropriateness of the survey for the larger study.

Participation Procedures:

- Read the consent form to participate
- Complete a 15-20-minute paper survey
- To protect your privacy, you will not be asked to put your name on the survey or consent form
- At the conclusion of the survey, complete a 10- minute feedback questionnaire about the survey experience

Volunteers must meet these requirements:

- African American/ Black Female
- Undergraduate college student at Norfolk State University
- 18 24 years old

Pilot surveys are being administered on the following dates, times, and locations:

Date

Time

Location

If other dates/times are needed, contact: Khaliah Wilson at [email address redacted] OR [telephone address redacted]

Appendix E: Pilot Survey

Diabetes Risk Perception and Health Behavior Survey for African American Female College Students Pilot Survey

Purpose: This survey will be used to gather information about your perception (opinion) of your personal risk and your peers' risk for developing type 2 diabetes, as well as your current health behaviors.

Key Terms Defined:

Type 2 diabetes - a disease that occurs when the body does not make enough insulin or use it well enough to control the levels of sugar (glucose) in the blood, resulting in hyperglycemia (high blood sugar).

Pre-diabetes - a condition in which a person has high blood sugar

(hyperglycemia) but not high enough to be considered type 2 diabetes. It is a risk factor for type 2 diabetes.

Peer - persons of the same age group and demographics (African American/ Black female college students 18-24 years old).

Risk – how likely someone is to develop type 2 diabetes.

Demographic Information

1. What is your age in years?

For each of the following questions, fill in the circle that best describes you.

- 2. What is your academic classification?
- **O** Freshman
- **O** Sophomore
- O Junior
- **O** Senior
- 3. What is your race/ ethnicity?

Ethnicity: Check One

- Hispanic or Latino/a/Latinx
- 8 Hispanic of Latino, a Latino/a/Latinx

Race: Check all that apply

- O American Indian or Alaska Native
- **O** Asian
- O Black or African American
- Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander
- **O** White
- **O** Other
- 4. Where is your current residence?
- Campus residence hall/ Student housing



Off campus apartment

O Do not have permanent housing

Diabetes History

For each of the following questions, circle either Yes or No.

- Have you ever been diagnosed with type 2 diabetes by a healthcare professional? Yes No
- 6. Have you ever been diagnosed with pre-diabetes by a healthcare professional? Yes No
- 7. Has a healthcare professional ever told you that you were at risk for type 2 diabetes or pre-diabetes?

Yes No

Perception of Risk

For each of the following statements, circle the answer that describes your opinion the most.

8. I believe that I do not have much control over developing diabetes.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

9. I believe that my current health habits will keep me in control of my risk for type 2 diabetes.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

10. If I improve my current health habits, I will have better control over my risk for type 2 diabetes.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

11. Controlling my risk for type 2 diabetes will make me less likely to develop the disease.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

12. I have better control over my risk for type 2 diabetes than my peers.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

13. I am less likely to develop type 2 diabetes than my peers.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

14. I believe that I am currently at risk for type 2 diabetes.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

15. I am concerned that I will develop diabetes while I am in college.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

16. I am concerned that I will develop diabetes in my lifetime.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4

Health Behaviors

For each of the following questions, circle the answer that describes your health behaviors most.

17. On average, how often do you eat at least 2 ½ cups of vegetables each day?

Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always
1	2	3	4
18. On average	e, how often do you e	eat at least 2 cups of	fruits each day?

Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always
1	2	3	4

19. On average, how often does half of your daily grain intake come from whole grains (e.g. brown rice, oats, quinoa)?

Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always
1	2	3	4

20. On average, how often do you eat meat high in saturated fat and sodium (e.g. hotdogs, hamburgers, lunch/deli meat)?

	Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always 4
21.	On average, he skinless chicke	ow often do you eat lea en breast, top sirloin, p	an meat and other sour ork loin, salmon, bean	ces of protein (e.g. s, peas, soy products)?
	Never 1	Sometimes 2	Usually 3	Always 4
22.	How often is t	he juice you drink 100	% fruit juice?	
	Never 1	Sometimes 2	Usually 3	Always 4
23.	On average, he drinks with ad	ow often do you drink ded sugars, sweet tea,	sugar sweetened bever lemonade)?	rages (e.g. soda, juice
	Never 1	Sometimes 2	Usually 3	Always 4
24.	How often do cookies, donut	you eat unhealthy snac ts, potato chips, candy)	cks from the vending n ?	nachine (e.g. cake,
	Never 1	Sometimes 2	Usually 3	Always 4
25.	How often do granola bar, fr	you eat healthy snacks uit snacks)?	from the vending mac	hine (e.g. crackers,
	Never 1	Sometimes 2	Usually 3	Always 4
26.	26. How often do you read food labels when making food choices?			

NeverSometimesUsuallyAlways1234

27. On a weekly average, how often do you perform at least 150 minutes of moderate physical activity (e.g. 30 minutes of brisk walking/ day) or 75 minutes of vigorous physical activity (e.g. 15 minutes of running or swimming/ day)?

Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always
110101	Sometimes	Obdully	11111495

1

2

28. How often do you have a yearly visit with your healthcare provider? If you do not have a healthcare provider circle N/A for Not Applicable.

3

Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always	N/A
1	2	3	4	0

If you answered N/A to question #28 you do not need to answer questions #29 and #30.

29. When you visit your healthcare provider for a yearly checkup, how often is your blood sugar checked?

Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always
1	2	3	4

30. When you visit your healthcare provider for a yearly checkup, how often is your blood pressure checked?

Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always
1	2	3	4

Diabetes Risk Perception and Health Behavior Survey for African American Female College Students Pilot Study Feedback

Purpose: In this section you will provide feedback about your experience with completing the survey. We value your opinion and will take into consideration your feedback to improve the survey for the larger study.

For each of the following questions, circle the answer that best describes your opinion of the survey, and please provide feedback if appropriate.

- 1. Were any of the survey questions unclear?
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

If yes, please list the number to the question/s that were unclear and state the reason.

- 2. Were any of the survey response options not appropriate or relevant?
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

4

If yes, please list the number to the question/s where the response options were not appropriate or relevant and state the reason.

- 3. Were any of the words on the survey unfamiliar and need further explanation?
 - a. Yes
 - b. No
 - If yes, please state the words.
- 4. Are the instructions for completing each section of the survey clear?
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

If no, please specify which instructions were not clear.

- 5. Did it take you longer than 20 minutes to complete the survey?
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

If yes, how long did it take you, and do you think that is too long?

- 6. Is the survey well designed and easy to use?
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

If no, please state the reason and provide suggestions to improve the design.

7. Please provide any additional feedback and/or recommendations that would improve this survey for the final study.

Thank you for your time and valuable feedback.